
School District of Manawa
Board of Education Meeting Agenda
September 19, 2022

Google Meet joining information
Video call link: https://meet.google.com/iek-xvvc-vcn

Or dial: (US) +1 612-440-1406 PIN: 852 636 650#

1. Call to Order – President Reierson – 7:00 p.m. – MES Boardroom, 800 Beech Street
Hybrid Meeting Format (In-person Meeting for Board of Education at MES Board Room,
800 Beech Street & Virtual Components)

2. Pledge of Allegiance
3. Roll Call
4. Verify Publication of Meeting
5. District Showcase: None this month.
6. Presentations:

a. Summer School 2022 Report - Mrs. Johnson and Ms. Eck
7. Announcements:

a. Contributions to the District
b. Other Contributions

8. Consent Agenda
a. Approve Minutes of August 15, August 18, August 24, and September 9, 2022

Board Meetings
b. Treasurer’s Report: Approve Expenditures & Receipts
c. Donations:

i. Zoetis, on August 10, 2022 for $98.60 - Manawa FFA Chapter
ii. Manawa Lions Club on August 22, 2022 for $400.00 ($200.00 for

elementary, $200.00 for LWHS/MS) - Urgent Needs Fund
iii. Solarus on August 18, 2022 for $2,200.00 - Partners in Education
iv. Sacred Heart Catholic Church donated school supplies: tissues, a huge box

of glue sticks, 10 packs of loose leaf paper, 12-15 folders and about 1/2
dozen notebooks.

v. Manawa Lions Club donated school supplies from “Stuff the Bus”:
Backpacks, 1/2 dozen water bottles, tissues, packs of pens and markers,
mechanical pencils with refills, earbuds, calculators and notebooks.

d. Acknowledge resignation of special education paraprofessional
9. Any Item Removed from Consent Agenda

a.
b.

1

https://meet.google.com/iek-xvvc-vcn


10. Public Comments (Register to Speak Prior to Start of Meeting / Guidelines Listed Below
Agenda)

11. Correspondence: None
12. District Administrator’s Report:

a. Student Council Representative - Molli Riske
b. Legislative Update
c. Monthly Enrollment Update - None due to Third Friday in September Count
d. Curriculum Update
e. Wisconsin Joint Education Convention - January 18-20, 2023 in Milwaukee
f. NEOLA Policy or Administrative Guidelines Technical Changes

i. All Compliance Officer references have been changed from Dan
Wolfgram to Abe El Manssouri.

13. School Operations Reports:
a. ES Principal / Special Education Director: Highlights - Included in Board Packet
b. MS / HS Principal: Highlights - Included in Board Packet

14. Business Related Reports:
a. Highlights - Included in Board Packet
b. Kobussen Transportation Report

15. Director’s Reports:
a. District Reading Specialist: Highlights - Included in Board Packet
b. Technology Director: Highlights - Included in Board Packet

16. Board Comments:
a.
b.

17. Committee Reports:
a. Curriculum Committee (Hollman)

i. Review Summer School 2022 Report as Presented
ii. Consider Approval of Articulated English Classes as Presented

iii. Consider Endorsement of the Special Olympics Young Athletes Program
as Presented

iv. Discuss and Recommend Applicable 2022-23 School Year Key
Performance Indicators

b. Finance Committee (Jepson)
i. Consider Endorsement of 2022-23 Fundraisers

ii. Consider Endorsement of the 2022-23 Salary and Stipend Guide
iii. Occupational Therapist Services for 2022-23 School Year
iv. Business Mileage Reimbursement Rate Increase
v. Monthly Financial Summary

vi. Estimated Equalized Valuation for SDM Municipalities
vii. Discussion and/or Endorsement of Financially Related KPIs

2



c. Buildings & Grounds (Griffin)
i. Review Room Capacity per Fire Egress Code

ii. Review MS/HS Exterior Message Board Quotes
iii. Review MES Playground Inspection Report by Jodi L. Traas, Certified

Playground Inspector of Aegis Corporation
iv. Consider Endorsement of MES Playground Improvement Plan Phase I

a. Removal of damaged/unsafe equipment
b. Excavation pricing
c. Wood chip price
d. Other

v. Consider Endorsement of Picnic Tables
1. 1 ADA Hex Table per building
2. 4 Standard Hex Tables per building

vi. Review and Endorse Hoffman Post-referendum Projects
1. Site Lighting for MS/HS West Parking Lot (Northland Electric) -

On order
2. Auto Operator on Atrium Door (Mr. McGregor is actively working

on this project with Tri City Glass and Door but no schedule has
been set to complete the work.)

3. Ag Animal Room Exhaust (Push button on/off versus HVAC
Programming - Trane)

4. Green Space Re-seed (Mr. Casey of Casey Landscaping indicates
Sept. is prime time to get this work completed.)

vii. Discuss School Security Improvement or Enhancement
viii. Fisher Track is providing two signs for care of the rubberized surfacing

ix. Discuss covering over rubberized track where athletes walk or the
lawnmower drives

x. No Buildings & Grounds Monthly Budget Summary
xi. Finalize Review of Key Performance Indicators

d. Policy and Human Resources (Reierson)
i. Review of Policies and Administrative Guidelines

1. PO 2416 - Student Privacy and Parental Access to Information and
AG 2416 - Procedures for Inspection of Surveys Administered or
Distributed to Students

2. PO 9130 - Public Requests Suggestions or Complaints and AG
9130A - Procedures for Inspection of Instructional Materials

ii. Discussion of Wolf Pack Express
iii. Review PO5136 - Personal Communication Devices
iv. Review Fundraising Policies and Administrative Guideline

1. PO5830 Student Fundraising
2. PO6605 and AG6605 Crowdfunding
3. PO9700.01 Advertising and Commercial Activities

v. Discuss and Recommend Applicable 2022-23 School Year Key
Performance Indicators

3



vi. Plan and Schedule Support Staff Job Satisfaction Committee for the
2022-23 School Year - KPI IV. Engagement & Satisfaction

18. Unfinished Business: None
19. New Business:

a. Review Room Capacity per Fire Egress Code
i. New room signs at both buildings with the room capacity noted will be

ordered by the end of Semester 1.
b. Consider Approval of National FFA Convention Overnight Field Trip as

Presented
c. Discuss Action Steps in MES Playground Inspection Report as Presented
d. Consider Approval to Immediately Remove the Parallel Bars and Bench from the

Playground, to Immediately Rectify the Head-Entrapment Areas and the Sharp
Edges of Hardware Which Pose a Potential Safety Risk.

e. Consider Approval to Purchase Ten (10) Picnic Tables (5 per building) with a
Total Cost Not to Exceed $15,000

f. Consider Approval to Complete Agriculture Animal Room Exhaust Switch as
Presented

g. Consider Acceptance of the Summer School 2022 Report as Presented (See
attachment 06a.)

h. Consider Approval of Articulated English Classes as Presented
i. Consider Approval of the Special Olympics Young Athletes Program as Presented
j. Consider Approval of the 2022-23 Salary and Stipend Guide as Presented
k. Discuss a Citizen Concern Regarding “Furries” as Presented
l. Discuss Response Protocols Regarding the Threat of School Violence as

Presented
i. What went well?

ii. What are the opportunities for improvement?
20. Next Meeting Dates:

a. October 4, 2022 Policy & Human Resources Committee Meeting – 5:00 p.m. –
MES Board Room (NEOLA Update)

b. October 6, 2022 WASB Regional Meeting - 6:00 p.m. - Bridgewood Resort 1000
Cameron Way Neenah

c. October 10, 2022 Policy and Human Resources Meeting with Support Staff –
3:30 p.m. – MES Board Room

d. October 10, 2022 Finance Committee Meeting - 5:00 p.m. - MES Board Room
e. October 17, 2022 Regular Board of Education Meeting – 7:00 p.m. – MES Board

Room
f. October 24, 2022 Annual Meeting - 7:00 p.m. - TBD
g. Consider setting a Board/Administration work session to prioritize

projects/purchases.
21. Adjourn

4



PLEASE NOTE: Any person with a qualifying disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or
material to be in accessible format, please contact the District Administrator to request reasonable accommodation. The meeting
room is wheelchair accessible.

Upon request to the District Administrator, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make reasonable
accommodation including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled person to be able to
attend this meeting.

0167.3 - PUBLIC COMMENT AT BOARD MEETINGS

The Board recognizes the value of public comment on educational issues and the importance of allowing
members of the public to express themselves on District matters.

Agenda Item

Any person or group who would like to have an item put on the agenda shall submit their request to the
District Administrator no later than ten (10) days prior to the meeting and include:

A. name and address of the participant;
B. group affiliation, if and when appropriate;
C. topic to be addressed.

Such requests shall be subject to the recommendation of the District Administrator and the approval of
Board President.

Public Comment Section of the Meeting

To permit fair and orderly public expression, the Board may provide a period for public comment at any
regular or special meeting of the Board and publish rules to govern such comment in Board meetings.

The presiding officer of each Board meeting at which public comment is permitted shall administer the rules
of the Board for its conduct.

The presiding officer shall be guided by the following rules:

A. Public comment shall be permitted as indicated on the order of business, at the discretion of the
presiding officer, and for individuals who live or work within the District and parents/guardians of
students enrolled in the District.

B. Attendees must register their intention to participate in the public portion of the meeting upon their
arrival at the meeting.

C. Participants must be recognized by the presiding officer and will be requested to preface their
comments by an announcement of their name; address; and group affiliation, if and when
appropriate.

D. Each statement made by a participant shall be limited to three (3) minutes duration.
E. No participant may speak more than once on the same topic unless all others who wish to speak on

that topic have been heard.
F. Participants shall direct all comments to the Board and not to staff or other participants.
G. Participants shall address only topics within the legitimate jurisdiction of the Board.
H. All statements shall be directed to the presiding officer; no person may address or question Board

members individually.
I. The presiding officer may:

1. interrupt, warn, or terminate a participant's statement when the statement is too lengthy,
personally directed, abusive, obscene, or irrelevant;

5



2. request any individual to leave the meeting when that person does not observe reasonable
decorum;

3. request the assistance of law enforcement officers in the removal of a disorderly person
when that person's conduct interferes with the orderly progress of the meeting;

4. call for a recess or an adjournment to another time when the lack of public decorum so
interferes with the orderly conduct of the meeting as to warrant such action.

5. waive these rules with the approval of the Board when necessary for the protection of
privacy or the administration of the Board's business.

J. The portion of the meeting during which the comment of the public is invited shall be limited to
fifteen (15) minutes unless extended by a vote of the Board.

K. Recording, filming, or photographing the Board’s open meetings is permitted. Recording, filming, or
photographing the Board’s closed session is only permitted pursuant to Bylaw 0167.2 – Closed
Session. The person operating the equipment should contact the District Administrator prior to the
Board meeting to review possible placement of the equipment, and must agree to abide by the
following conditions:

1. No obstructions are created between the Board and the audience.
2. No interviews are conducted in the meeting room while the Board is in session.
3. No commentary, adjustment of equipment, or positioning of operators is made that would

distract either the Board or members of the audience or otherwise disrupt the meeting
while the Board is in session.

© Neola 2020

6



Sep 7, 2022

To: Dr. Melanie Oppor, Manawa Board of Education

Fr: Michelle Johnson and Mary Eck

Date: 9/7/2022

Re: 2022 Summer School Report

Dear Members of the Manawa School Board,

Summer Adventures 2022 came to a close at the end of August.  Registration took place  online April 3rd through

April 14th.  To prepare for the summer school courses, Michelle Johnson and Mary Eck outlined courses,

surveyed teachers who were interested in teaching, and mapped out rooms where courses would take place.

Different from previous years, families were able to schedule through Skyward or through a paper version. In

partnership with the Sturm Memorial Library, an returning Oceans of Opportunities reading program invited

students to engage with books about ocean friends and earn badges, books, and drawing entries. Additionally, an

interactive mad scientist Fire and Ice presentation open to elementary summer school students, families, and

community members where dry ice, balloons, mysterious magic bubbles, and several other experiments

delighted our audience.  Continued from last year, students were offered free breakfast and lunch throughout

the duration of Summer School Adventures.

To best meet the needs of our students, various courses in enrichment, remediation, and in building social skills

were offered such as:

● Introduction to 4K and Camp Kindergarten

● Remedial courses in reading, writing and mathematics (grades 1- 5)

● Enrichment courses including cooking, science, computers, outdoor adventures, dancing, tumbling,

fitness

● Zoo Adventures- (10 additional participants)

● Expanded Creative Music Course- ( grew from 6 participants to 29 participants)

● Skills courses and camps: volleyball, basketball, hunter safety, and marching skills

School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



● Swimming Lessons

● Outdoor Adventures (fishing, hiking, and outdoor exploration)

This year, we were also able to hold in person, Driver’s Education, Agriculture, Hunter’s Safety, Weightlifting,

Band and Rodeo Camps,  and our musical production of Hansel and Gretel,   The musical provided students K-12

opportunities for speaking, singing in a group, solos, lighting, set, prop, and make up design. It was a huge hit

with our participants and audience members! Additionally, throughout the summer, agricultural experiences

were offered by instructor Ms. Cordes such as working and caring for animals and gaining real life experiences in

the community.

We can’t thank the teachers, substitutes, support staff, and community partnerships for the dedication in

providing  and creating  valuable instruction.   Also included is a financial capsule.  It outlines the projected FTEs

and expenses we incurred.  This year’s summer school was successful, and it was joyous being able to see the

student’s faces.

We hope to reestablish a plan to provide broader offerings of coursework and the ability to make them accessible

to all the students of our district next summer. Additionally, a future goal is to explore the possibilities of adding

more high school credit courses for our secondary learners.

Thank you to the Board of Education and the Administration for your support.

School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



Student Enrollment and Total Minutes:

Total Resident Minutes: 1335449

Total Students Enrolled: 408

Total FTE: 27

Total Expenses:

School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



Minutes of August 15, 2022 School District of Manawa Board of Education Meeting

1. Meeting called to order @ 7:05
2. Pledge of allegiance
3. Roll Call: Reierson, Griffin, Jepson, Hollman, Riske, Fietzer - Krueger virtual
4. Publication of meeting - Oppor Verified
5. District Showcase
6. Presentations
7. Announcements
8. Consent Agenda

a. Approve Minutes of July 18, 2022 and July 26, 2022 Board Meetings
b. Treasurer’s Report: Approve Expenditures & Receipts
c. Donations:

i. 1st State Bank - Water and Treat for All District In-service
ii. Mid-Western Rodeo - $150 for GSA

iii. First State Bank, Manawa - $85 for Urgent Needs
d. Accept Resignation of 4K Teacher - Removed from Consent Agenda
e. Accept Resignation of Girls Basketball Head Coach- Removed from Consent

Agenda
f. Accept Resignation of Special Education/Clerical Paraprofessional- Removed

from Consent Agenda
g. Approve District Office/Special Education Clerical Paraprofessional as Presented-

Removed from Consent Agenda
h. Approve Internal MS Staffing Assignments In Lieu of An Outside Hire as

Presented- Removed from Consent Agenda
i. Accept Resignation of General Music/Instrumental Music Director as Presented-

Removed from Consent Agenda

Items A-C approved by consent
9. Items removed from Consent Agenda

a. Motion by Griffin/Fietzer to move items D&I into closed session - Motion carried
b. Motioned by Jepson/Fietzer  Accept Resignation of Girls Basketball Coach -

Motion carried
c. Motioned by Jepson/Fietzer Accept Resignation of Special Education/Clerical

Paraprofessional - Motion carried
d. Motioned by Jepson/Krueger Approve District Office/Special Education Clerical

Paraprofessional - Motion carried
e. Motioned by Riske/Jepson Approve Internal MS Staffing Assignment in Lieu of

and outside Hire - Motion carried
10. No public comments
11. No Correspondence



12. District Administrators report
13. School Operation report
14. Business Related Report
15. Directors Report
16. Board Comments - website needs updating
17. Commitee Reports
18. Unfinished Business

a. Motion by Griffin/Hollman  Approval of PO8510-Wellness - Motion Carried
b. Motion by Fietzer/Krueger Approval of PO0155- Committees - Motion Carried

19. New Business
a. Motion by Jepson/Fietzer to Accept Annual District Health Report per PO5310.01

- Motion Carried
b. Motion by Fietzer/Krueger Approval of Paid Time Off per language in the memo

dated 7/24/2022 by Dr. Oppor - Motion Carried
c. Motion by Riske/Hollman Approval of Professional Educators Handbook with

PTO Language Revision - Motion Carried
i. Review with data to see how things are going with PTO portion at

semester
d. Motion by Griffin/Krueger Approval of Support Staff Handbook with PTO

Language Revision - Motion Carried
i. Review with data to see how things are going with PTO portion at

semester
e. Motion by Riske/Jepson Approval of Teacher Mentor Program Handbook -

Motion Carried
f. Motion by Krueger/Jepson Approval of Special Education Handbook - Motion

Carried
g. Motion by Fietzer/Krueger Approval of the SDM COVID-19 Plan - Motion

Carried
h. Motion by Krueger/Riske Approval of More Than Two Students in the LWHS

Exchange Program - Motion Carried
i. Motion by Fietzer/Krueger Approval of Gifted and Talented Plan - Motion

Carried
j. Motion my Riske/Fietzer Approval of Expanded StudySync Pilot - Motion

Carried
k. Motion by Hollman/Fietzer Approval of MES Special Education Swimming Field

Trip - Motion Carried
l. Update form
m. Motion by Riske/Fietzer Approval of MS/HS Special Education Swimming Field

trip - Motion Carried
n. Discussion of Board Committee Structure



20. Next Meeting Dates
21. Motion by Fietzer/Hollman to adjourn into closed session at 9:16pm - Motion Carried
22. Roll Call: : Reierson, Griffin, Jepson, Hollman, Riske, Fietzer - Krueger virtual
23. Motion by Griffin/Fietzer to reconvene into open session at 10:26pm - Motion Carried

Roll Call: : Reierson, Griffin, Jepson, Hollman, Riske, Fietzer - Krueger virtual
Items for action discussed in closed session:
Motion to resignations of 4K teacher and General Music/Instrumental Music director

without imposing the broken contract fees as outlined within the contracts. Motion by: Riske,
Hollman. Motion carried.

24. Motion by Fietzer/Jepson to adjourn at 10:32pm



School District of Manawa
Special Board of Education Meeting Agenda
August 18, 2022

Google Meet joining information
Video call link: https://meet.google.com/zxq-wbxi-bnm

Or dial: (US) +1 440-508-6234 PIN: 264 109 274#

1. Call to Order – President Reierson – 6:30 p.m. – MES Board Room, 800 Beech Street
Hybrid Meeting Format (In-person Meeting for Board of Education at MES Board Room,
800 Beech Street & Virtual Components)

2. Pledge of Allegiance
3. Roll Call: Reierson, Jepson, Krueger, Fietzer.  Absent: Griffin, Hollman, Riske
4. Verify Publication of Meeting - Dr. Oppor verified
5. Public Comment (Register to Speak Prior to Start of Meeting / Guidelines Listed Below

Agenda)
6. Unfinished Business: None
7. New Business:

a. Consider Approval of West Parking Lot Lighting Option 2: Add (5) wall packs on
West Exterior of Fitness Center at a cost of $8,025.00 (Includes purchase and
install (5) DSXW2 LED 30C 700 40K TFTM 277 SF DDBXD wall packs, install
conduit and wire, and lift rental. New lighting controls, if needed, are not included
in the above price.)
Motion by: Fietzer, Krueger.
Motion carried. Absent: Griffin, Hollman, Riske

b. Consider Approval of Alternative Open Enrollment Applicants as Presented
Motion by: Jepson, Fietzer
Motion carried. Absent: Griffin, Hollman, Riske

c. Consider Approval of 1.0 FTE Four-Year-Old Kindergarten Teacher as Presented
Motion by: Fietzer, Krueger
Motion carried. Absent: Griffin, Hollman, Riske

d. Consider Approval of Reconfiguration of 1.0 FTE K-12 Instrumental, Vocal, and
General Music Teacher as Presented (This results in a 1.0 FTE reduction in
overall music staffing. There will be no reduction in opportunities for students.)
Motion by: Fietzer, Jepson
Motion carried. Absent: Griffin, Hollman, Riske

e. Consider Approval of 1.0 FTE Resource Teacher and Hourly Virtual School
Counselor Proposal as Presented
Motion by: Krueger, Fietzer
Motion carried. Absent: Griffin, Hollman, Riske

8. Next Meeting Dates: Motion to skip reading the next meeting dates. Motion by: Fietzer,
Jepson.

Motion carried. Absent: Griffin, Hollman, Riske

1

https://meet.google.com/zxq-wbxi-bnm


a. August 23, 2022 Back to School Night - 3:30-6:30 p.m. - Both Schools
b. August 31, 2022 Finance Committee Meeting - 5:00 p.m. - MES Board Room
c. September 6, 2022 Policy and Human Resource Committee Meeting - 5:00 p.m. -

MES Board Room
d. September 8, 2022 Curriculum Committee Meeting - 6:30 p.m. - MES Board

Room
e. September 14, 2022 Buildings & Grounds Committee Meeting - 5:00 p.m. - MES

Board Room
f. September 19, 2022 Regular Board of Education Meeting - 7:00 p.m. - MES

Board Room
g. October 6, 2022 WASB Regional Meeting - 6:00 p.m. - Bridgewood Resort 1000

Cameron Way Neenah
9. Adjourn - Motion by: Fietzer, Krueger

Motion carried. Absent: Griffin, Hollman, Riske
Meeting adjourned at: 7:34 pm

2



Minutes of August 24, 2022 School District of Manawa Board of Education Meeting

1. Call to Order – President Reierson – 6:30 p.m. – MES Board Room, 800 Beech Street
Hybrid Meeting Format (In-person Meeting for Board of Education at MES Board Room,
800 Beech Street & Virtual Components)

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Roll Call: Reierson, Jepson, Hollman, Riske, Krueger   Absent: Griffin, Fietzer

4. Verify Publication of Meeting - Dr. Oppor verified

5. Public Comment (Register to Speak Prior to Start of Meeting / Guidelines Listed Below
Agenda)

6. Unfinished Business: None

7. New Business:
a. Consider Approval of Four-Year-Old Kindergarten Paraprofessional as Presented

Motion by: Jepson, Krueger
Motion carried. Absent: Griffin, Fietzer

b. Consider Approval of Alternative Open Enrollment Applicants as Presented

Motion: Motion to approve alternative open enrollment of 4K applicant.
Motion by: Riske,Jepson
Motion carried. Absent: Griffin, Fietzer

Motion: Motion to approve alternative open enrollment of 10th grade applicant.
Motion by: Jepson, Krueger
Motion carried. Absent: Griffin, Fietzer

Motion: Motion to approve alternative open enrollment of 8th and 9th grade
applicants and deny application of the 7th grade applicant.
Motion by: Krueger, Riske
Motion carried. Absent: Griffin, Fietzer

8. Next Meeting Dates: Motion to skip reading of next meetings. Motion by: Jepson,
Krueger

Motion carried. Absent: Griffin, Fietzer

a. August 23, 2022 Back to School Night - 3:30-6:30 p.m. - Both Schools
b. August 31, 2022 Finance Committee Meeting - 5:00 p.m. - MES Board Room
c. September 6, 2022 Policy and Human Resource Committee Meeting - 5:00 p.m. -

MES Board Room

1



d. September 8, 2022 Curriculum Committee Meeting - 6:30 p.m. - MES Board
Room

e. September 14, 2022 Buildings & Grounds Committee Meeting - 5:00 p.m. - MES
Board Room

f. September 19, 2022 Regular Board of Education Meeting - 7:00 p.m. - MES
Board Room

g. October 6, 2022 WASB Regional Meeting - 6:00 p.m. - Bridgewood Resort 1000
Cameron Way Neenah

9. Adjourn
Motion: Hollman, Krueger
Adjourned at 7:41 pm

2



September 6, 2022 Special Board of Education Meeting Minutes

1. Call to Order – President Reierson – 7:00 p.m. – MES Board Room, 800 Beech Street
Hybrid Meeting Format (In-person Meeting for Board of Education at MES Board Room,
800 Beech Street & Virtual Components)

2. Pledge of Allegiance
3. Roll Call - Reierson, Griffin, Fietzer, Riske, Krueger - Absent: Hollman and Jepson
4. Verify Publication of Meeting - Dr. Oppor verified
5. Public Comment (Register to Speak Prior to Start of Meeting / Guidelines Listed Below

Agenda) - None
6. Unfinished Business: None
7. New Business:

a. Consider Approval of Teacher Contract Salary Adjustment
Motion by: Griffin, Fietzer
Motion carried. Absent: Hollman and Jepson

8. Next Meeting Dates:
a. September 12, 2022 Finance Committee Meeting - 5:00 p.m. - MES Board Room
b. September 12, 2022 Curriculum Committee Meeting - 6:30 p.m. - MES Board

Room
c. September 14, 2022 Buildings & Grounds Committee Meeting - 5:00 p.m. - MES

Board Room
d. September 19, 2022 Regular Board of Education Meeting - 7:00 p.m. - MES

Board Room
e. October 6, 2022 WASB Regional Meeting - 6:00 p.m. - Bridgewood Resort 1000

Cameron Way Neenah
f. October 24, 2022 Annual Meeting - 7:00 p.m. - TBD

9. Adjourn
Motion by: Fietzer, Riske
Motion carried at 7:09 p.m. Absent: Hollman and Jepson



CREDIT CARD STATEMENT - July WUFAR Code
Date Vendor Amount Fund E Location Object Function Project Description

Melanine Oppor
7/1/2022 Adobe AcroPro $15.81 10 E 800 360 232100 0 Adobe Acrobat Pro software subscription - monthly

TOTAL $15.81

Danni Brauer
7/20/22 Walmart $147.84 10 E 101 411 110000 0 Folders for students

TOTAL $147.84

Dean Marzofka
6/28/22 Amazon $174.19 10 E 400 480 295000 0 Docking station for Dr. El Manssouri

$131.41 10 E 200 480 295000 0
6/28/22 Amazon $478.22 10 E 400 480 295000 0 Laptop for Dr. El Manssouri

$360.77 10 E 200 480 295000 0
6/29/22 Amazon $137.41 10 E 400 480 295000 0 Wireless keyboards, 4 pack for the High School

TOTAL $1,282.00

MMS

6/24/22 Hilton Garden Inn - Madison $631.58 10 E 400 342 221300 0
Lodging for professional development for Advanced Placement 
teacher

10 E 200 411 253000 0
TOTAL $631.58



CREDIT CARD STATEMENT - August WUFAR Code
Date Vendor Amount Fund E Location Object Function Project Description

Melanine Oppor
07/21/22 Bar 430 $95.26 10 E 800 415 232100 0 Dinner for administrator retreat
08/01/22 Adobe Inc. $15.81 10 E 800 360 232100 0 Adobe Acrobat Pro software subscription - monthly

TOTAL $111.07

Danni Brauer
8/20/22 Dick's Sporting Goods $19.99 10 E 101 440 110000 0 BB Court Marking Kit

TOTAL $19.99

Dean Marzofka
8/9/2022 Remarkable Oslo $602.42 10 E 800 480 295000 0 Electronic tablet

8/11/2022 Mosyle $842.00 10 E 800 360 295000 0 Software to control Apple products

TOTAL $1,444.42

LWHS
8/1/22 Indeed $168.05 10 E 800 310 264200 0 Subscription for Indeed for job recruitment
8/1/2022 Pitney Bowes $176.19 10 E 800 353 260000 0 Lease payment
8/9/22 www.Makerbot.com $72.68 10 E 400 480 136000 0 3-D printer

$54.83 10 E 200 480 136000 0

TOTAL $127.50



3frdtl02.p 38-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:1

05.22.06.00.00 Cash Receipts  (Dates: 08/01/2022 - 08/31/2022)  2:22 PM

Name Reference Trans Date Description Post Date Amount

                                                                                                                          

08/05/2022 GSA - RODEO VOLUNTEER CHECK 08/05/2022            150.00

Totals for 16093            150.00

08/05/2022 HUNTER'S SAFETY, DEPOSIT IN, PAYMENT OUT 08/08/2022             80.00

Totals for 16094             80.00

08/08/2022 PAYMENT FROM STUDENT COUNCIL FOR CATERIN 08/08/2022            207.10

Totals for 16095            207.10

08/19/2022 TAX SETTLEMENT PAYMENT FROM COUNTY 08/19/2022        947,476.46

Totals for 16121        947,476.46

08/22/2022 CTE GRANT - CLASS OF 2021 08/22/2022          5,907.51

Totals for 16120          5,907.51

08/26/2022 FOOD SERVICE DEPOSIT FOR 8/26/22 08/26/2022             75.05

Totals for 16111             75.05

08/26/2022 FOOD SERVICE DEPOSIT FOR 8/26/22 08/26/2022            130.00

Totals for 16112            130.00

08/26/2022 FOOD SERVICE DEPOSIT FOR 8/26/22 08/26/2022          2,398.75

Totals for 16113          2,398.75

08/26/2022 STUDENT FEE DEPOSIT FOR 8/26/22 08/26/2022            120.00

Totals for 16114            120.00

08/26/2022 STUDENT FEE DEPOSIT FOR 8/26/22 08/26/2022            750.00

Totals for 16115            750.00

08/26/2022 ACUITY WORKERS COMP AUDIT REFUND 08/26/2022          3,334.00

Totals for 16116          3,334.00

08/26/2022 MOBILE HOME TAXES 08/26/2022            646.02

Totals for 16117            646.02

08/26/2022 BASKETBALL SKILL & DRILL FEE FOR SUMMER 08/26/2022             10.00

Totals for 16118             10.00

08/26/2022 FITNESS CENTER MEMBERSHIPS 08/26/2022            150.00

Totals for 16119            150.00

08/26/2022 MES FS PAYMENTS FROM REGISTRATION 08/26/2022            586.45

Totals for 16122            586.45

08/26/2022 CALSS OF 2030 08/26/2022             30.00

Totals for 16136             30.00

08/26/2022 CALSS OF 2031 08/26/2022             10.00

Totals for 16137             10.00

08/26/2022 CALSS OF 2032 08/26/2022             20.00

Totals for 16138             20.00

08/26/2022 CALSS OF 2033 08/26/2022             30.00

Totals for 16139             30.00

08/26/2022 CALSS OF 2035 08/26/2022             20.00

Totals for 16140             20.00

08/26/2022 CLASS OF 2030 08/26/2022             90.00

Totals for 16141             90.00

08/26/2022 CLASS OF 2031 08/26/2022             50.00

Totals for 16142             50.00

08/26/2022 CLASS OF 2032 08/26/2022             90.00

Totals for 16143             90.00

08/26/2022 CLASS OF 2033 08/26/2022             90.00

Totals for 16144             90.00

08/26/2022 CLASS OF 2034 08/26/2022            120.00

Totals for 16145            120.00

08/26/2022 CLASS OF 2035 08/26/2022            110.00

Totals for 16146            110.00

08/26/2022 CLASS OF 2036 08/26/2022            100.00



3frdtl02.p 38-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:2

05.22.06.00.00 Cash Receipts  (Dates: 08/01/2022 - 08/31/2022)  2:22 PM

Name Reference Trans Date Description Post Date Amount

                                                                                                                          

Totals for 16147            100.00

08/26/2022 STURM SCHOLARSHIP PAYMENT 08/26/2022         19,500.00

Totals for 16148         19,500.00

08/26/2022 DONATION FOR URGENT NEEDS FROM FIRST STA 08/26/2022             85.00

Totals for 16149             85.00

08/29/2022 FLOW THROUGH CLAIM 08/29/2022        169,400.06

Totals for 16175        169,400.06

08/29/2022 PRESCHOOL CLAIM 08/29/2022         11,211.15

Totals for 16176         11,211.15

08/29/2022 TITLE I CLAIM 08/29/2022        111,265.77

Totals for 16177        111,265.77

08/29/2022 TITLE IV CLAIM 08/29/2022          5,723.69

Totals for 16178          5,723.69

08/30/2022 WORK PERMIT 08/30/2022             10.00

Totals for 16131             10.00

08/30/2022 FFA DEPOSIT - DONATION FROM ZOETIS 08/30/2022             98.60

Totals for 16132             98.60

08/30/2022 STUDENT COUNCIL CONCESSIONS FOR VOLLEYBA 08/30/2022            128.00

Totals for 16133            128.00

08/30/2022 STUDENT COUNCIL CONCESSIONS FOR FOOTBALL 08/30/2022            682.00

Totals for 16134            682.00

08/30/2022 STUDENT COUNCIL CONCESSIONS FOR FOOTBALL 08/30/2022            418.50

Totals for 16135            418.50

08/30/2022 ADMISSIONS FOR FOOTBALL GAME ON 8/26/22 08/30/2022            570.00

Totals for 16157            570.00

08/30/2022 ADMISSIONS FOR FOOTBALL GAME ON 8/19/22 08/30/2022            362.00

Totals for 16158            362.00

  

Total for Cash Receipts      1,282,236.11



3frdtl02.p 38-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:3

05.22.06.00.00 Cash Receipts  (Dates: 08/01/2022 - 08/31/2022)  2:22 PM

 F U N D  S U M M A R Y

  

FUND      DESCRIPTION                        BALANCE SHEET           REVENUE           EXPENSE             TOTAL

10 GENERAL FUND                       1,064,465.92         10,917.53             80.00      1,075,463.45

21 Special Revenue Trust Fund              0.00         22,764.10              0.00         22,764.10

27 SPECIAL EDUCATION FUND        180,611.21              0.00              0.00        180,611.21

50 FOOD SERVICE FUND                      3,190.25            207.10              0.00          3,397.35

*** Fund Summary Totals ***      1,248,267.38         33,888.73             80.00      1,282,236.11

************************ End of report ************************



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:1

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

    83721 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP08 08/19/2022 MaryJohnson - Two-Way radios GENERAL 4000230058             58.88

FUND/NON-CAPITAL

EQUIPMENT/OFFICE OF

THE PRINCIPAL

    83721 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP08 08/19/2022 MaryJohnson - Two-Way radios GENERAL 4000230058             78.04

FUND/NON-CAPITAL

EQUIPMENT/OFFICE OF

THE PRINCIPAL

    83721 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP08 08/19/2022 CaseyJohnson - Hanging file GENERAL 2002300008             31.26

folders FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/MATHEMATICS

    83721 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP08 08/19/2022 MeriaWright - Engineering GENERAL 4000230057            585.76

Supplies FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/TECHNOLOGY

EDUCATION

    83721 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP08 08/19/2022 MeriaWright - Engineering GENERAL 4000230057            206.43

Supplies FUND/NON-CAPITAL

EQUIPMENT/TECHNOLOGY

EDUCATION

    83721 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP08 08/19/2022 Cordes- Ecology: Concept and GENERAL 4000230065            674.80

Applications FUND/TEXTBOOKS &

WORKBOOKS/AGRICULTUR

E

Totals for 83721          1,635.17

    83722 CDW GOVERNMENT, INC. JPAP08 08/19/2022 GOGUARDIAN SUITE STARTER - GENERAL 8002300020          7,698.00

SUBSCRIPTION LICENSE (1 YEAR) FUND/TECH/SOFTWARE

ITEM # GG-STE1Y-000001 SERVIC/ADMINISTRATIV

(2022-23) E TECHNOLOGY SERV

Totals for 83722          7,698.00

    83724 CM REGENT, LLC JPAP08 08/19/2022 POLICY  RENEWAL PCWI (7/1/22 GENERAL          0         44,363.00

- 7/1/23) FUND/DISTRICT

PROPERTY

INSURANCE/INSURANCE

AND JUDGEMENTS

Totals for 83724         44,363.00

    83728 FLINN SCIENTIFIC, IN JPAP08 08/19/2022 Science Supplies - GENERAL 4000230029             29.24

Hemocytometer Lab Kit, etc FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/SCIENCE

Totals for 83728             29.24

    83731 NASSCO, INC JPAP08 08/19/2022 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES GENERAL          0            106.91

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

    83731 NASSCO, INC JPAP08 08/19/2022 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES GENERAL          0             80.66

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

    83731 NASSCO, INC JPAP08 08/19/2022 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES GENERAL          0             88.38

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

    83731 NASSCO, INC JPAP08 08/19/2022 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES GENERAL          0             66.68

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

    83731 NASSCO, INC JPAP08 08/19/2022 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES GENERAL          0             88.44

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

    83731 NASSCO, INC JPAP08 08/19/2022 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES GENERAL          0             66.72

FUND/GENERAL



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:2

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

Totals for 83731            497.79

    83732 PITNEY BOWES INC JPAP08 08/19/2022 RED INK CARTRIDGE GENERAL          0            102.28

FUND/POSTAGE/CARTAGE

/CENTRAL SERVICES

Totals for 83732            102.28

    83735 THEDACARE AT WORK JPAP08 08/19/2022 DS RAPID 5 BUNDLED/TB GENERAL          0            189.00

QUESTIONNAIRE REVIEW/PHYSICAL FUND/PERSONAL

FREE FROM COMM DISEASE - T. SERVICES/HEALTH

JACKSON SERVICES

    83735 THEDACARE AT WORK JPAP08 08/19/2022 DS RAPID 5 BUNDLED/TB GENERAL          0            189.00

QUESTIONNAIRE REVIEW/PHYSICAL FUND/PERSONAL

FREE FROM COMM DISEASE - M. SERVICES/HEALTH

ETZWILER-KEALIHER SERVICES

Totals for 83735            378.00

    83736 UNIFIRST CORPORATION JPAP08 08/19/2022 MATS & MOPS GENERAL          0             41.66

FUND/CLEANING

SERVICES/OPERATION

    83736 UNIFIRST CORPORATION JPAP08 08/19/2022 MATS & MOPS GENERAL          0             31.42

FUND/CLEANING

SERVICES/OPERATION

    83736 UNIFIRST CORPORATION JPAP08 08/19/2022 MATS & MOPS GENERAL          0             51.32

FUND/CLEANING

SERVICES/OPERATION

Totals for 83736            124.40

    83738 LITTLE CEASAR'S PIZZ JPAP08 08/22/2022 PIZZA FOR LWHS/MMS GENERAL          0             82.83

FUND/FOOD/OFFICE OF

THE PRINCIPAL

    83738 LITTLE CEASAR'S PIZZ JPAP08 08/22/2022 PIZZA FOR LWHS/MMS GENERAL          0             62.48

FUND/FOOD/OFFICE OF

THE PRINCIPAL

Totals for 83738            145.31

    83739 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP08 08/29/2022 Leadership and GENERAL FUND/OTHER 8002300027             28.17

Self-Deception: Getting Out NON-CAPITOL

of the Box OBJECTS/OFFICE OF

SUPERINTENDENT

    83739 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP08 08/29/2022 HS/MS Office Supplies - pens, GENERAL 4000230069             56.90

tape, masking tape, Planner FUND/CENTRAL SUPPLY

for Sub Scheduling ROOM/UNDIFFERENTIATE

D CURRICULUM

    83739 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP08 08/29/2022 HS/MS Office Supplies - pens, GENERAL 4000230069             42.93

tape, masking tape, Planner FUND/CENTRAL SUPPLY

for Sub Scheduling ROOM/UNDIFFERENTIATE

D CURRICULUM

    83739 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP08 08/29/2022 CHROMEBOOKS & CABLES GENERAL 8002300031          1,158.55

FUND/NON-CAPITAL

TECHNOLOGY/ADMINISTR

ATIVE TECHNOLOGY

SERV

Totals for 83739          1,286.55

    83740 CESA 6-CONFERENCE RE JPAP08 08/29/2022 MEW EPIC LEADER/FRONTLINE GENERAL          0            250.00

PLATFORM MANAGER TRAINING FUND/TRANSFER TO

SERIES - D. BRAUER CESA/INSTRUCTIONAL

STAFF TRAINING

Totals for 83740            250.00

    83741 DELTA DENTAL-VISION JPAP08 08/29/2022 SEPTEMBER VISION INSURANCE GENERAL FUND/SELF          0            507.12



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:3

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

Totals for 83741            507.12

    83742 LINCOLN HIGH SCHOOL JPAP08 08/29/2022 VARSITY VOLLEYBALL GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            160.00

INVITATIONAL ON 8/27/22 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/BOYS FOOTBALL

Totals for 83742            160.00

    83743 LOURDES ACADEMY JPAP08 08/29/2022 FOOTBALL SCRIMMAGE ON 8/12/22 GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            100.00

FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/BOYS FOOTBALL

Totals for 83743            100.00

    83744 PITNEY BOWES GLOBAL JPAP08 08/29/2022 LEASE INVOICE GENERAL          0            176.19

FUND/POSTAGE/CARTAGE

/CENTRAL SERVICES

    83744 PITNEY BOWES GLOBAL JPAP08 08/29/2022 LEASE INVOICE GENERAL          0            176.19

FUND/POSTAGE/CARTAGE

/CENTRAL SERVICES

Totals for 83744            352.38

    83745 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF I JPAP08 08/29/2022 VARSITY CROSS COUNTRY GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            150.00

INVITATIONAL ON 8/30/22 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/CROSS COUNTRY

    83745 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF I JPAP08 08/29/2022 VARSITY VOLLEYBALL QUAD ON GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0             75.00

8/30/22 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

Totals for 83745            225.00

    83746 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF A JPAP08 08/29/2022 VARSITY CROSS COUNTRY GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            150.00

INVITATIONAL FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/CROSS COUNTRY

    83746 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF A JPAP08 08/29/2022 MS CROSS COUNTRY INVITATIONAL COMMUNITY SERVICE          0            100.00

ON 8/25/22 FUND/DUES & FEES

MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 83746            250.00

    83747 SKYWARD, INC JPAP08 08/29/2022 WEB TRAINING - STUDENT GENERAL          0            600.00

MANAGEMENT WITH DEAN M FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/NON-INSTRUC

TIONAL STAFF TRANIN

Totals for 83747            600.00

    83748 STANDARD INSURANCE C JPAP08 08/29/2022 LIFE/STD & LTD PREMIUM GENERAL FUND/LIFE          0          1,106.76

INSURANCE PAYABLE

    83748 STANDARD INSURANCE C JPAP08 08/29/2022 LIFE/STD & LTD PREMIUM GENERAL FUND/LTD          0            859.64

INS PAYABLE

    83748 STANDARD INSURANCE C JPAP08 08/29/2022 LIFE/STD & LTD PREMIUM GENERAL FUND/STD          0            247.85

INS PAYABLE

Totals for 83748          2,214.25

    83749 TERMINAL-ANDRAE, INC JPAP08 08/29/2022 FURNISH ISONAS ACCESS CONTROL GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0         29,678.00

SYSTEM & MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/BUILDINGS

Totals for 83749         29,678.00

    83752 VONBRIESSEN & ROPER, JPAP08 08/29/2022 LEGAL FEES GENERAL          0          1,141.23

FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/LEGAL

Totals for 83752          1,141.23

    83753 WCA GROUP HEALTH TRU JPAP08 08/29/2022 SEPTEMBER HEALTH INSURANCE GENERAL FUND/WEA          0         90,339.53



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:4

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

PREMIUMS TRUST EFF 090115

Totals for 83753         90,339.53

    83755 WCA GROUP HEALTH TRU JPAP08 08/30/2022 AUGUST 2022 HEALTH INSURANCE GENERAL FUND/WEA          0         92,663.40

PREMIUM TRUST EFF 090115

Totals for 83755         92,663.40

    83757 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP09 09/02/2022 WIRELESS MOUSE/ISONAS GENERAL 8002300033            698.81

SECURITY SYSTEMS FUND/NON-CAPITAL

ACC-EDK-3A/LAPTOP DOCKING TECHNOLOGY/ADMINISTR

STATION/LIGHTED WIRELESS ATIVE TECHNOLOGY

DOORBELLS/LABEL TAPE SERV

    83757 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP09 09/02/2022 Water bottle filler filter GENERAL 1012300039            195.46

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

    83757 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP09 09/02/2022 MeriaWright - Engineering GENERAL 4000230057             14.35

Supplies FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/TECHNOLOGY

EDUCATION

    83757 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP09 09/02/2022 MeriaWright - Engineering GENERAL 4000230057              5.91

Supplies FUND/NON-CAPITAL

EQUIPMENT/TECHNOLOGY

EDUCATION

    83757 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP09 09/02/2022 Pethke-Add Bottle Filling to GENERAL 4000230068            154.18

Water Fountains FUND/NON-CAPITAL

EQUIPMENT/OPERATION

    83757 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP09 09/02/2022 Pethke-Add Bottle Filling to GENERAL 4000230068            204.38

Water Fountains FUND/NON-CAPITAL

EQUIPMENT/OPERATION

    83757 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP09 09/02/2022 MAGNETIC HOOKS - HAVING GENERAL 1012300040             19.31

CREDIT MEMO 1LKJ-PVXC-49M3 IN FUND/CENTRAL SUPPLY

THE AMOUNT OF -$8.58 APPLIED ROOM/UNDIFFERENTIATE

TO THIS INVOICE D CURRICULUM

Totals for 83757          1,292.40

    83758 AUTOMATED ENERGY SOL JPAP09 09/02/2022 LABOR/MECHANICAL ONSITE GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0          1,282.28

6/24/22, 7/14/22 & 7/15/22 - & MAINTENANCE

LWHS/MMS SERVICES/BUILDINGS

    83758 AUTOMATED ENERGY SOL JPAP09 09/02/2022 LABOR/MECHANICAL ONSITE GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0            967.33

6/24/22, 7/14/22 & 7/15/22 - & MAINTENANCE

LWHS/MMS SERVICES/BUILDINGS

    83758 AUTOMATED ENERGY SOL JPAP09 09/02/2022 LABOR & MECHANICAL ONSITE GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0          2,576.85

PLUS PARTS - MES & MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/BUILDINGS

Totals for 83758          4,826.46

    83760 BUMPER TO BUMPER AUT JPAP09 09/02/2022 2016 LINE PAINTER - HONDA GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0             91.19

& MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/VEHICLE

MAINT/NOT PUPIL

TRANS

Totals for 83760             91.19

    83761 CESA 6-CONFERENCE RE JPAP09 09/02/2022 BEHAVIOR CONSULTANT DAILY GENERAL          0          5,650.00

RATE - 14 DAYS @ $1250/DAY FUND/TRANSFER TO

(D. BRAUER) CESA 6 ANNUAL CESA/OTHER GENERAL

MEMBERSHIP FEE ADMINISTRATION

    83761 CESA 6-CONFERENCE RE JPAP09 09/02/2022 BEHAVIOR CONSULTANT DAILY SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          9,275.00

RATE - 14 DAYS @ $1250/DAY FUND/TRANSFER TO

(D. BRAUER) CESA 6 ANNUAL CESA/INSTRUCTIONAL

MEMBERSHIP FEE STAFF TRAINING



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:5

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

    83761 CESA 6-CONFERENCE RE JPAP09 09/02/2022 BEHAVIOR CONSULTANT DAILY SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          8,225.00

RATE - 14 DAYS @ $1250/DAY FUND/TRANSFER TO

(D. BRAUER) CESA 6 ANNUAL CESA/INSTRUCTIONAL

MEMBERSHIP FEE STAFF TRAINING

Totals for 83761         23,150.00

    83763 INTEGRATED SYSTEMS C JPAP09 09/02/2022 IS Corp hosting fee GENERAL 8002300019            388.80

FUND/TECH/SOFTWARE

SERVIC/ADMINISTRATIV

E TECHNOLOGY SERV

Totals for 83763            388.80

    83764 OTIS ELEVATOR COMPAN JPAP09 09/02/2022 MAINTENANCE SERVICE FROM GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0          1,329.70

9/1/22-8/31/23 & MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/BUILDINGS

    83764 OTIS ELEVATOR COMPAN JPAP09 09/02/2022 MAINTENANCE SERVICE FROM GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0          1,003.10

9/1/22-8/31/23 & MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/BUILDINGS

Totals for 83764          2,332.80

    83766 SOLARUS JPAP09 09/02/2022 SOLARUS MONTHLY BILL- PAES SPECIAL EDUCATION 8002300013            153.47

LAB FUND/TELEPHONE AND

TELEGRAPH/PUBLIC

INFORMATION

    83766 SOLARUS JPAP09 09/02/2022 SOLARUS MONTHLY BILL GENERAL 8002300013            316.25

FUND/TELEPHONE AND

TELEGRAPH/CENTRAL

SERVICES

    83766 SOLARUS JPAP09 09/02/2022 SOLARUS MONTHLY BILL GENERAL 8002300013            612.72

FUND/TELEPHONE AND

TELEGRAPH/CENTRAL

SERVICES

    83766 SOLARUS JPAP09 09/02/2022 SOLARUS MONTHLY BILL GENERAL 8002300013            592.96

FUND/TELEPHONE AND

TELEGRAPH/CENTRAL

SERVICES

    83766 SOLARUS JPAP09 09/02/2022 SOLARUS MONTHLY BILL GENERAL 8002300013            454.60

FUND/TELEPHONE AND

TELEGRAPH/CENTRAL

SERVICES

Totals for 83766          2,130.00

    83767 THEDACARE AT WORK JPAP09 09/02/2022 DS RAPID 5 BUNDLED/TB GENERAL          0            124.00

QUESTIONNAIRE REVIEW/PHYSICAL FUND/PERSONAL

FREE FROM COMM DISEASE - T. SERVICES/HEALTH

DRANKUS CREDIT OF $65 APPLIED SERVICES

FROM DUPLICATE PAYMENT OF

INVOICE #327766

Totals for 83767            124.00

    83768 TRI-COUNTY OVERHEAD JPAP09 09/02/2022 LABOR & PARTS LWHS/MMS GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0            250.58

& MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/BUILDINGS

    83768 TRI-COUNTY OVERHEAD JPAP09 09/02/2022 LABOR & PARTS LWHS/MMS GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0            189.03

& MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/BUILDINGS

Totals for 83768            439.61

    83769 UNIFIRST CORPORATION JPAP09 09/02/2022 MATS & MOPS GENERAL          0             51.32

FUND/CLEANING

SERVICES/OPERATION

Totals for 83769             51.32



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:6

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

    83770 US CELLULAR JPAP09 09/02/2022 US Cellular PO GENERAL 8002300018            321.53

FUND/TELEPHONE AND

TELEGRAPH/CENTRAL

SERVICES

Totals for 83770            321.53

    83771 VALLEY SCREENPRINT I JPAP09 09/02/2022 EXTRA DISTRICT SHIRTS GENERAL          0            266.00

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OFFICE OF

SUPERINTENDENT

Totals for 83771            266.00

    83772 WISCONSIN BACKFLOW T JPAP09 09/02/2022 ANNUAL ACKFLOW INSPECTION GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0            625.00

VALVE #1555078, #532062 TEST & MAINTENANCE

SUBMITTAL/REPAIRS/REPLACEMENT SERVICES/BUILDINGS

PARTS

Totals for 83772            625.00

    83773 WOLTER POWER SYSTEMS JPAP09 09/02/2022 GENERATOR SERVICE GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0            531.63

& MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/BUILDINGS

    83773 WOLTER POWER SYSTEMS JPAP09 09/02/2022 GENERATOR SERVICE GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0            401.06

& MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/BUILDINGS

Totals for 83773            932.69

    83774 KUIVINEN, RANDY JPAP09 09/07/2022 VARSITY & JV VOLLEYBALL GENERAL          0            105.00

OFFICIAL ON 9/6/22 VS FUND/PERSONAL

IOLA-SCANDINAVIA SERVICES/VOLLEYBALL

Totals for 83774            105.00

    83775 ABITZ WATER SERVICE, JPAP09 09/09/2022 INVOICE TOTAL IS $17,600. GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0          2,600.00

REMAINDER OF $2600 TO BE PAID & MAINTENANCE

IN SPRING 2022 WHEN THE PUMP SERVICES/SITE

IS STARTED UP AND RUNNING REPAIRS

PROPERLY AS NOTED IN THE

AGREEMENT.

Totals for 83775          2,600.00

    83776 ALMOND-BANCROFT SCHO JPAP09 09/09/2022 VARSITY VOLLEYBALL GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            150.00

QUADRANGULAR ON 9/1/22 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/VOLLEYBALL

Totals for 83776            150.00

    83777 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP09 09/09/2022 CENTRAL SUPPLY ITEMS GENERAL 1012300042            127.34

FUND/CENTRAL SUPPLY

ROOM/UNDIFFERENTIATE

D CURRICULUM

    83777 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP09 09/09/2022 Walkie Talkies GENERAL 1012300043            437.87

FUND/NON-CAPITAL

EQUIPMENT/UNDIFFEREN

TIATED CURRICULUM

    83777 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP09 09/09/2022 Special Ed Office Supplies SPECIAL EDUCATION  272300014            114.34

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/DIRECTION

OF PUPIL SERVICES

Totals for 83777            679.55

    83778 CESA 6-CONFERENCE RE JPAP09 09/09/2022 SAFE & HEALTHY SCHOOLS GENERAL          0            700.00

FUND/TRANSFER TO

CESA/OTHER GENERAL

ADMINISTRATION

Totals for 83778            700.00

    83779 CURRICULUM ASSOCIATE JPAP09 09/09/2022 iReady Subscription GENERAL 8002300032          5,250.00



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:7

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/INSTRUCTION

AL STAFF TRAINING

    83779 CURRICULUM ASSOCIATE JPAP09 09/09/2022 iReady Subscription GENERAL 8002300032         16,290.50

FUND/TECH/SOFTWARE

SERVIC/UNDIFFERENTIA

TED CURRICULUM

    83779 CURRICULUM ASSOCIATE JPAP09 09/09/2022 iReady Subscription GENERAL 8002300032          5,429.54

FUND/TECH/SOFTWARE

SERVIC/UNDIFFERENTIA

TED CURRICULUM

    83779 CURRICULUM ASSOCIATE JPAP09 09/09/2022 iReady Subscription GENERAL 8002300032          4,095.96

FUND/TECH/SOFTWARE

SERVIC/UNDIFFERENTIA

TED CURRICULUM

Totals for 83779         31,066.00

    83780 DIVERSIFIED BENEFIT JPAP09 09/09/2022 SEPTEMBER 2022 ADMINISTRATIVE GENERAL          0            246.27

SERVICES FUND/DISTRICT FEES

/ BANKING

FEE/FISCAL

Totals for 83780            246.27

    83781 E O JOHNSON CO., INC JPAP09 09/09/2022 Monthly Copy Bill GENERAL 8002300021          2,324.75

FUND/PRINTING AND

BINDING/CENTRAL

SERVICES

Totals for 83781          2,324.75

    83782 GFL ENVIRONMENTAL JPAP09 09/09/2022 Garbage/Recycling Service GENERAL 8002300024            972.00

FUND/CLEANING

SERVICES/OPERATION

Totals for 83782            972.00

    83783 HODGE PRODUCTS, INC. JPAP09 09/09/2022 General Security Combination GENERAL 4000230002          2,225.97

P and Control Key for Model FUND/NON-CAPITAL

Nos. 152 EQUIPMENT/OFFICE OF

THE PRINCIPAL

Totals for 83783          2,225.97

    83784 INTELLICORP RECORDS, JPAP09 09/09/2022 BACKGROUND CHECKS - AUGUST GENERAL          0             39.45

2022 FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

STAFF SERVICES

Totals for 83784             39.45

    83786 KOBUSSEN BUSES LTD JPAP09 09/09/2022 BUS CHARGES GENERAL          0          2,467.85

FUND/CONTRACTED

PUPIL

TRANSPORTATIO/CO-CUR

RICULAR TRANS

    83786 KOBUSSEN BUSES LTD JPAP09 09/09/2022 BUS CHARGES COMMUNITY SERVICE          0            278.01

FUND/TRAVEL-CONTRACT

ED SERVICE/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 83786          2,745.86

    83787 MID-AMERICAN RESEARC JPAP09 09/09/2022 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES GENERAL          0            792.00

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

Totals for 83787            792.00

    83788 MULTI MEDIA CHANNELS JPAP09 09/09/2022 2022 FOOTBALL PREVIEW GENERAL          0             58.00

FUND/PRINTING AND



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:8

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

BINDING/INFORMATION

    83788 MULTI MEDIA CHANNELS JPAP09 09/09/2022 WOLF PACK EXPRESS POSTAGE GENERAL          0            295.53

FUND/PRINTING AND

BINDING/INFORMATION

Totals for 83788            353.53

    83789 NASSCO, INC JPAP09 09/09/2022 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES GENERAL          0            303.33

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

    83789 NASSCO, INC JPAP09 09/09/2022 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES GENERAL          0            228.82

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

    83789 NASSCO, INC JPAP09 09/09/2022 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIESQ GENERAL          0            473.58

FUND/NON-CAPITAL

EQUIPMENT/OPERATION

    83789 NASSCO, INC JPAP09 09/09/2022 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIESQ GENERAL          0            627.76

FUND/NON-CAPITAL

EQUIPMENT/OPERATION

Totals for 83789          1,633.49

    83790 REEDSVILLE SCHOOL DI JPAP09 09/09/2022 LIQUIDATED DAMAGES - TIMOTHY GENERAL          0          3,500.00

DRANKUS FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OFFICE OF

SUPERINTENDENT

Totals for 83790          3,500.00

    83791 SCHOLASTIC INC JPAP09 09/09/2022 ADDITIONAL SCHOLASTIC GENERAL 1012300036            164.71

MAGAZINE COPIES FUND/NEWSPAPERS/UNDI

FFERENTIATED

CURRICULUM

Totals for 83791            164.71

    83792 SCHOOL SPECIALTY LLC JPAP09 09/09/2022 PHY ED ITEMS GENERAL 1012300011             55.92

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/PHYSICAL

EDUCATION

    83792 SCHOOL SPECIALTY LLC JPAP09 09/09/2022 PHY ED ITEMS GENERAL 1012300011             76.28

FUND/NON-CAPITAL

EQUIPMENT/PHYSICAL

EDUCATION

    83792 SCHOOL SPECIALTY LLC JPAP09 09/09/2022 KINDERGARTEN SUPPLIES GENERAL 1012300025              6.69

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/UNDIFFERENT

IATED CURRICULUM

    83792 SCHOOL SPECIALTY LLC JPAP09 09/09/2022 KINDERGARTEN SUPPLIES GENERAL 1012300025            202.64

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/UNDIFFERENT

IATED CURRICULUM

Totals for 83792            341.53

    83793 SPENCER SCHOOL DISTR JPAP09 09/09/2022 VARSITY VOLLEYBALL TOURNAMENT GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            150.00

ON 9/17/22 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/VOLLEYBALL

Totals for 83793            150.00

    83794 STOCKBRIDGE SCHOOL D JPAP09 09/09/2022 VARSITY VOLLEYBALL TOURNAMENT GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            200.00

ON 9/10/22 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/VOLLEYBALL

Totals for 83794            200.00

    83795 TRUGREEN LIMITED PAR JPAP09 09/09/2022 LAWN SERVICE - LWHS/MMS GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0            274.74

& MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/SITE



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:9

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

REPAIRS

    83795 TRUGREEN LIMITED PAR JPAP09 09/09/2022 LAWN SERVICE - LWHS/MMS GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0            207.26

& MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/SITE

REPAIRS

    83795 TRUGREEN LIMITED PAR JPAP09 09/09/2022 LAWN SERVICE - MES GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0            396.00

& MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/SITE

REPAIRS

    83795 TRUGREEN LIMITED PAR JPAP09 09/09/2022 LAWN SERVICE - VACANT LOT & GENERAL FUND/REPAIR          0            935.00

PRACTICE FIELD & MAINTENANCE

SERVICES/SITE

REPAIRS

Totals for 83795          1,813.00

    83796 WEX BANK - GLOBAL FL JPAP09 09/09/2022 ALL OTHER FUEL GENERAL          0             67.51

FUND/FUEL-VEHICLE

OPERATION/VEHICLE

MAINT/NOT PUPIL

TRANS

Totals for 83796             67.51

    83797 WI DEPT OF JUSTICE JPAP09 09/09/2022 BACKGROUND CHECKS - AUGUST GENERAL          0             21.00

2022 FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

STAFF SERVICES

Totals for 83797             21.00

    83798 WIPFLI LLP JPAP09 09/09/2022 AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS GENERAL          0         11,000.00

FOR THE YEAR ENDING 6/30/22 FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/AUDIT

Totals for 83798         11,000.00

202200010 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT WRS083 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual - 7/15/22 GENERAL FUND/WI          0          2,045.26

PAYROLL RETIREMENT FUND

202200010 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT WRS083 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual - 7/15/22 SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            170.20

PAYROLL FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202200010 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT WRS083 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual - 7/15/22 FOOD SERVICE          0            291.02

PAYROLL FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202200010 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT WRS083 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual - 7/15/22 GENERAL FUND/WI          0          2,045.26

PAYROLL RETIREMENT FUND

202200010 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT WRS083 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual - 7/15/22 SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            170.20

PAYROLL FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202200010 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT WRS083 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual - 7/15/22 FOOD SERVICE          0            291.02

PAYROLL FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

Totals for 202200010          5,012.96

202200029 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT WRS083 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual 7/29/22 GENERAL FUND/WI          0          2,063.06

PAYROLL RETIREMENT FUND

202200029 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT WRS083 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual 7/29/22 SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            125.84

PAYROLL FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202200029 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT WRS083 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual 7/29/22 FOOD SERVICE          0             97.94

PAYROLL FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202200029 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT WRS083 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual - 7/29/22 GENERAL FUND/WI          0          2,063.06

PAYROLL RETIREMENT FUND



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:10

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

202200029 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT WRS083 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual - 7/29/22 SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            125.84

PAYROLL FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202200029 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT WRS083 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual - 7/29/22 FOOD SERVICE          0             97.94

PAYROLL FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

Totals for 202200029          4,573.68

202200039 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          5,093.19

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200039 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            678.41

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200039 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          1,191.16

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200039 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            158.65

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200039 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0            270.00

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200039 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            163.47

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200039 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0          5,968.66

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200039 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            635.81

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200039 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          1,191.16

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200039 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            158.65

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200039 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          5,093.19

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200039 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            678.41

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

Totals for 202200039         21,280.76

202200040 WEA TAX SHELTERED AN P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0            100.00

TRUST - TSA/ROTH

202200040 WEA TAX SHELTERED AN P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0            100.00

TRUST - TSA/ROTH

Totals for 202200040            200.00

202200041 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0              5.00

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202200041 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/STATE          0          3,194.63

INCOME TAX

202200041 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            373.66

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

Totals for 202200041          3,573.29

202200043 WEA MEMBER BENEFIT T P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0             40.00

TRUST ADVANTAGE



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:11

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

Totals for 202200043             40.00

202200044 EMPOWER RETIREMENT P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0             50.00

FUND/HARTFORD INS -

TSA/ROTH

Totals for 202200044             50.00

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          2,351.44

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            118.68

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             82.91

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0            549.97

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0             27.75

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             19.39

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0            494.00

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0          2,845.48

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            242.79

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             51.84

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0            549.97

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0             27.75

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             19.39

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          2,351.44

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            118.68

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200045 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             82.91

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

Totals for 202200045          9,934.39

202200046 WEA TAX SHELTERED AN P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0             50.00

TRUST - TSA/ROTH

Totals for 202200046             50.00

202200047 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/STATE          0            105.00

INCOME TAX

202200047 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/STATE          0          1,343.19



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:12

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

INCOME TAX

202200047 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0             88.38

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202200047 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 08/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             34.17

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

Totals for 202200047          1,570.74

202200050 DIVERSIFIED BENEFIT JPWI08 08/12/2022 HRA REIMBURSEMENTS GENERAL FUND/HEALTH          0          1,000.00

INSURANCE

Totals for 202200050          1,000.00

202200051 DIVERSIFIED BENEFIT JPWI08 08/12/2022 HRA REIMBURSEMENTS GENERAL FUND/HEALTH          0            206.52

INSURANCE

Totals for 202200051            206.52

202200053 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CO JPWI08 08/31/2022 HRA & BESTFLEX ADMIN FEES GENERAL          0            125.45

FUND/DISTRICT FEES

/ BANKING

FEE/FISCAL

Totals for 202200053            125.45

202200054 DIVERSIFIED BENEFIT JPWI08 08/19/2022 HRA REIMBURSEMENT GENERAL FUND/HEALTH          0            126.14

INSURANCE

Totals for 202200054            126.14

202200055 DIVERSIFIED BENEFIT JPWI08 08/19/2022 HRA REIMBURSEMENT GENERAL FUND/HEALTH          0          1,000.00

INSURANCE

Totals for 202200055          1,000.00

202200056 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CO JPWI08 08/18/2022 FSA CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/FLEX          0          1,245.18

PLAN SY20-21

Totals for 202200056          1,245.18

202200057 DELTA DENTAL OF WISC JPWI08 08/17/2022 DENTAL CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/SELF          0          1,231.80

FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

Totals for 202200057          1,231.80

202200058 DIVERSIFIED BENEFIT JPWI08 08/26/2022 HRA REIMBURSEMENT GENERAL FUND/HEALTH          0            471.20

INSURANCE

Totals for 202200058            471.20

202200059 DELTA DENTAL OF WISC JPWI08 08/24/2022 DENTAL CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/SELF          0            495.00

FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

Totals for 202200059            495.00

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          7,218.66

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            849.75

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             82.91

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          1,688.26

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            198.73

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             19.39

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0            504.00



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:13

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0             84.24

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0          8,312.70

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            886.99

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             51.84

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          1,688.26

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            198.73

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             19.39

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          7,218.66

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            849.75

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200060 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             82.91

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

Totals for 202200060         29,955.17

202200061 WEA TAX SHELTERED AN P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0            100.00

TRUST - TSA/ROTH

202200061 WEA TAX SHELTERED AN P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0            175.00

TRUST - TSA/ROTH

Totals for 202200061            275.00

202200062 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/STATE          0            115.00

INCOME TAX

202200062 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0              5.00

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202200062 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/STATE          0          4,342.44

INCOME TAX

202200062 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            465.76

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202200062 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             34.17

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

Totals for 202200062          4,962.37

202200064 WEA MEMBER BENEFIT T P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0             40.00

TRUST ADVANTAGE

Totals for 202200064             40.00

202200065 EMPOWER RETIREMENT P9 08/31/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0             50.00

FUND/HARTFORD INS -

TSA/ROTH



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:14

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

Totals for 202200065             50.00

202200066 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CO JPWI09 09/01/2022 FSA REIMBURSEMENT GENERAL FUND/FLEX          0          1,446.00

PLAN SY20-21

202200066 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CO JPWI09 09/01/2022 FSA REIMBURSEMENT GENERAL FUND/FLEX          0            312.33

PLAN SY21-22

Totals for 202200066          1,758.33

202200067 DELTA DENTAL OF WISC JPWI08 08/31/2022 DENTAL CLAIMS & GENERAL FUND/SELF          0          2,055.15

ADMINISTRATION FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

Totals for 202200067          2,055.15

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          7,571.55

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            850.32

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0            195.15

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          1,770.78

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            198.88

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             45.64

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0            497.46

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0             90.78

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             45.00

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0          9,205.19

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            867.57

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             68.59

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          1,770.78

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            198.88

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             45.64

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          7,571.55

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            850.32

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:15

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

SECURITY)

202200068 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0            195.15

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

Totals for 202200068         32,039.23

202200069 WEA TAX SHELTERED AN P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0            100.00

TRUST - TSA/ROTH

202200069 WEA TAX SHELTERED AN P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0            175.00

TRUST - TSA/ROTH

Totals for 202200069            275.00

202200070 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/STATE          0            115.00

INCOME TAX

202200070 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0              5.00

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202200070 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             20.00

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202200070 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/STATE          0          4,574.17

INCOME TAX

202200070 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            471.31

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202200070 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             35.94

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

Totals for 202200070          5,221.42

202200072 WEA MEMBER BENEFIT T P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0             40.00

TRUST ADVANTAGE

Totals for 202200072             40.00

202200073 EMPOWER RETIREMENT P9 09/15/2022 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0             50.00

FUND/HARTFORD INS -

TSA/ROTH

Totals for 202200073             50.00

202200075 DELTA DENTAL OF WISC JPWI09 09/07/2022 DENTAL CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/SELF          0          1,298.76

FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

Totals for 202200075          1,298.76

202200076 DELTA DENTAL OF WISC JPWI09 09/14/2022 DENTAL CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/SELF          0          1,759.00

FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

Totals for 202200076          1,759.00

202200077 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CO JPWI09 09/08/2022 FSA CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/FLEX          0          2,701.20

PLAN SY20-21

Totals for 202200077          2,701.20

202200078 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CO JPWI09 09/15/2022 FSA & UNCOVERED MEDICAL GENERAL FUND/FLEX          0            969.33

PLAN SY20-21

202200078 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CO JPWI09 09/15/2022 FSA & UNCOVERED MEDICAL EMPLOYEE BENIFIT          0            500.00

TRUST FUND/OTHER

ADJUSTMENTS/ADJUSTME

NTS & REFUNDS

Totals for 202200078          1,469.33

222300003 PERSELLS, HOPE JPAP08 08/19/2022 REIMBURSE FOR PAYMENT TO CESA GENERAL          0            442.69

#6 FOR RITE PROGRAM FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/INSTRUCTION

AL STAFF TRAINING



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:16

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

222300003 PERSELLS, HOPE JPAP08 08/19/2022 REIMBURSE FOR PAYMENT TO CESA GENERAL          0            333.96

#6 FOR RITE PROGRAM FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/INSTRUCTION

AL STAFF TRAINING

Totals for 222300003            776.65

222300004 MCQUILLAN, SHAWN JPAP08 08/29/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0             80.00

8/19/22 VS CHETEK-WEYERHAUSER FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300004             80.00

222300005 PERSELLS, HOPE JPAP08 08/29/2022 REIMBURSEMENT FOR DEPOSIT FOR GENERAL          0             59.27

RITE PROGRAM FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/INSTRUCTION

AL STAFF TRAINING

222300005 PERSELLS, HOPE JPAP08 08/29/2022 REIMBURSEMENT FOR DEPOSIT FOR GENERAL          0             44.72

RITE PROGRAM FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/INSTRUCTION

AL STAFF TRAINING

Totals for 222300005            103.99

222300006 PRZYBELSKI, STEVEN JPAP08 08/29/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0             80.00

8/19/22 VS CHETEK-WEYERHAUSER FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300006             80.00

222300007 THIEL, JACOB JPAP08 08/29/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0             80.00

8/19/22 VS CHETEK-WEYERHAUSER FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300007             80.00

222300008 GERVAIS, PETER JPAP08 08/31/2022 MS FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             45.00

8/30/22 VS IOLA-SCANDINAVIA FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 222300008             45.00

222300009 GROTE, MICHAEL JPAP08 08/31/2022 MS FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             45.00

8/30/22 VS IOLA-SCANDINAVIA FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 222300009             45.00

222300010 HERZOG, THOMAS JPAP08 08/31/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0             80.00

8/26/22 VS GREEN BAY WEST FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300010             80.00

222300011 HETZNER, STEVE JPAP08 08/31/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0             80.00

8/26/22 VS GREEN BAY WEST FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300011             80.00

222300012 JENSEN, DANIEL JPAP08 08/31/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0             80.00

8/26/22 VS GREEN BAY WEST FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300012             80.00

222300013 JENSEN, GENE JPAP08 08/31/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0             80.00

8/26/22 VS GREEN BAY WEST FUND/PERSONAL



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:17

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300013             80.00

222300014 NELSON, LYLE JPAP08 08/31/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0             80.00

8/26/22 VS GREEN BAY WEST FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300014             80.00

222300015 RODENCAL, DOUGLAS JPAP08 08/31/2022 MS FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             45.00

8/30/22 VS IOLA-SCANDINAVIA FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 222300015             45.00

222300016 BUYARSKI, WILLIAM JPAP09 09/06/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0            120.00

9/2/22 VS STRATFORD - CWC FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300016            120.00

222300017 HEINTZ, QUINN JPAP09 09/06/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0             80.00

8/19/22 VS FUND/PERSONAL

CHETEK-WEYERHAEUSER SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300017             80.00

222300018 LAUERSDORF, WALTER JPAP09 09/06/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0            120.00

9/2/22 VS STRATFORD - CWC FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300018            120.00

222300019 LEBLANC, DAVE JPAP09 09/06/2022 MS FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             45.00

8/30/22 VS IOLA-SCANDINAVIA FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 222300019             45.00

222300020 THOMAS, JEASON SR JPAP09 09/06/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0             80.00

8/19/22 VS CHETEK-WEYERHAUSER FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300020             80.00

222300021 WENIG, ALBERT JPAP09 09/06/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0            120.00

9/2/22 VS STRATFORD - CWC FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300021            120.00

222300022 WENIG, JOHN JPAP09 09/06/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0            120.00

9/2/22 VS STRATFORD - CWC FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300022            120.00

222300023 DUMAS, DON JPAP09 09/07/2022 VARSITY & JV VOLLEYBALL GENERAL          0            105.00

OFFICIAL ON 9/6/22 VS FUND/PERSONAL

IOLA-SCANDINAVIA SERVICES/VOLLEYBALL

Totals for 222300023            105.00

222300024 JOHNSON, CLAIRE JPAP09 09/07/2022 JV2 VOLLEYBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0             50.00

9/6/22 VS IOLA-SCANDINAVIA FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/VOLLEYBALL

Totals for 222300024             50.00



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:18

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

222300025 LEBLANC, DAVE JPAP09 09/07/2022 MS FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             45.00

8/30/22 VS IOLA-SCANDINAVIA FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 222300025             45.00

222300026 PRUE, DARREL JPAP09 09/07/2022 VARSITY FOOTBALL OFFICIAL ON GENERAL          0            120.00

9/2/22 VS STRATFORD - CWC FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/BOYS

FOOTBALL

Totals for 222300026            120.00

222300027 RADLEY, DANIEL JPAP09 09/07/2022 MS VOLLEYBALL OFFICIAL ON COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             55.00

9/6/22 VS IOLA-SCANDINAVIA FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 222300027             55.00

222300028 FENSKE, NORBERT JPAP09 09/07/2022 MS VOLLEYBALL OFFICIAL ON COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             55.00

9/6/22 VS IOLA-SCANDINAVIA FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 222300028             55.00

222300031 PETHKE, ARTHUR JPAP09 09/15/2022 REIMBURSE FOR SUPPLIES GENERAL          0            178.28

PURCHASED AT MENARDS FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

222300031 PETHKE, ARTHUR JPAP09 09/15/2022 REIMBURSE FOR SUPPLIES GENERAL          0            134.50

PURCHASED AT MENARDS FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

Totals for 222300031            312.78

  

Totals for checks        514,824.56



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 09/15/22 Page:19

05.22.06.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 08/12/22 - 09/15/22)  2:29 PM

 F U N D  S U M M A R Y

  

FUND  DESCRIPTION                        BALANCE SHEET           REVENUE           EXPENSE             TOTAL

10 GENERAL FUND                         308,085.49              0.00        174,607.82        482,693.31

27 SPECIAL EDUCATION FUND         11,140.18              0.00         17,767.81         28,907.99

50 FOOD SERVICE FUND                      2,010.25              0.00              0.00          2,010.25

73 EMPLOYEE BENIFIT TRUST FUND              0.00              0.00            500.00            500.00

80 COMMUNITY SERVICE FUND                     0.00              0.00            713.01            713.01

*** Fund Summary Totals ***        321,235.92              0.00        193,588.64        514,824.56

************************ End of report ************************



9/13/22, 2:38 PM School District of Manawa Mail - Resignation

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=e0fa87ed05&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1743857714345740644&simpl=msg-f%3A17438577143… 1/1

Melanie Oppor <moppor@manawaschools.org>

Resignation
Jessie Ort <jort@manawaschools.org> Tue, Sep 13, 2022 at 7:31 AM
To: Danni Brauer <dbrauer@manawaschools.org>, Melanie Oppor <dr.oppor@manawa.k12.wi.us>, Abe El Manssouri
<aelmanssouri@manawaschools.org>

I have been offered and accepted another position. My last day will be Sept 23rd at the Elementary school. If anyone is
placed in my position before I leave I would be happy to help ease ther transition. 

Thank you, 
Jessie L Ort
jort@manawaschools.org 
Special Education 
Paraprofessional 

mailto:jort@manawaschools.org


 Students choosing to excel; realizing their strengths. 

 To:  Board of Education 
 From:  Danni Brauer 
 Date:   09/12/22 
 Re:  September Update 

 ●  Elementary teachers worked very hard over the 3 days of in-service.  Some of the 
 activities that we did was a data dig, process/procedure reminders, and consensus 
 building for improvements we, as a staff, would like to work on.  The data dig allowed 
 teachers to have time to dig into data from their classes from last year to look for any 
 holes in instruction/curriculum and to look at the data for where their incoming students 
 ended last year.  We went through building procedures along with instructional coaches 
 presenting their focuses for the school year.  As a building we decided on 3 areas that our 
 committees will begin tackling in October.  The areas are student engagement, a behavior 
 intervention program, and to improve our early academic intervention system (a 
 multi-tier system of support).  The Building Leadership, PBIS, and SEL committees will 
 work on these initiatives and bring information to the building as a whole. 

 ●  We had a great turnout for the open house. 78% of students attended open house with at 
 least 1 parent.  Ms. U and I had a table right inside the front doors to welcome families. 
 We had backpacks filled with school supplies available for families who needed them. 
 Teachers who don’t have a homeroom helped new families find their way around the 
 school.  It was a very positive experience for all! 

 ●  Manawa Elementary had a great start to the school year even though we have already run 
 into staffing issues with a sub shortage.  Students transitioned back into school very well. 
 It is wonderful to have students back in the building! 

 ●  The new dismissal procedures are going well.  Students are much safer than before. 
 Several parents stopped me with positive comments about the new procedures.  Many of 
 these parents picked their children up from school last year and witnessed the safety 
 concerns first hand.  They appreciate our dedication to student safety. 

 ●  This year we have 3 lunch periods instead of 2 like we had for the last couple of years. 
 This is allowing us to have clean tables for the next group if students.  Mrs. Teuscher 
 appreciates that time to clear tables.  It helps her keep the cafeteria clean throughout the 
 lunchtime. 

 ●  This year we are rolling out the ALICE protocol for violent critical incidents (this could 
 include active intruders).  Ms. U and classroom teachers are presenting age appropriate 
 lessons to all students.  We are using the phrase “get to safety” as students’ indication to 
 do what they need to do to be safe.  Below is the message that went out to parents in the 
 MES Family Update. 

 The safety and well-being of our students is the top priority of the staff at MES. Our 
 district has adopted the ALICE program for active intruder incidents. Students are beginning 
 to receive ALICE training this fall. The training focuses on empowering our students and staff 



 Students choosing to excel; realizing their strengths. 

 with an understanding of the options available to make important decisions in the event of 
 an active intruder or other violent critical incidents. Similar to fire drills, ALICE training is 
 designed to take students and staff through various scenarios to better prepare their 
 responses. The training program is designed to be developmentally appropriate and is 
 tailored to the age of the students. 

 At MES, we use the book "I'm Not Scared... I'm Prepared! Because I Know All About 
 ALICE." to help students learn what to do. Miss Ujazdowski, School Counselor, is involved in 
 every part of the lessons to be sure they are appropriate for all students. I (Ms. Brauer) am a 
 certified ALICE trainer and helped to train the district staff along with Mrs. Ziemer and Ms. 
 Eck (other district certified trainers). 

 For more information on ALICE you can visit this link 
 https://www.alicetraining.com/our-program/alice-training/k12-education/  or call the office to 
 talk to Ms. Ujazdowski or myself. 

https://www.alicetraining.com/our-program/alice-training/k12-education/


To: Dr. Melanie Oppor, Manawa Board of Education
Fr: Dr. Abe El Manssouri
Date: 9/8/2022
Re: Updates

● During my building’s in-service day, I facilitated a presentation that included personal
information about my education and leadership vision, and a few new expectations
for students that are meant to increase academic engagement such as not allowing
phones during instructional times, the 10/10 rule that prevents students from leaving
their classrooms during the first and last 10 minutes, which are the most important
periods of time during a lesson, and other expectations.

● I ensured to include teachers in designing these expectations, shared the rationale
behind them, and drew evidence from the teachers comments and also from the
literature about the urgency and effectiveness of these expectations.

● During the first day of school, students practiced all of the drills and headed to the
gym for a school wide assembly. I shared information about myself and delved into
the new expectations. I also shared the rationale for those expectations with students
and the data behind them. Based on teachers’ comments and other observations, the
students received the content of the assembly well.

● I was eventually able to send my first edition of my building’s staff notes. The notes
contained general information about the building safety and procedures, as well as
my personal insight of important concepts such as professional learning for teachers,
building meetings, job descriptions, expectations for the general and special
education teachers, etc.

School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



1 
 

 

Students choosing to excel; realizing their strengths. 

 

To: Board of Education 

From: Carmen O’Brien 

cc: Dr. Melanie Oppor 

Date: 9/9/2022 

Re: Business Office Monthly Update - September 

  

 

The audit was completed at the end of August.  Last school year (2020-21), there were 10 journal 

entries that were needed to correct entries.  For the 2021-22 school year, there were only 5 

corrections.  I am satisfied that I improve each year. 

 

Ms. Draeger and I have both been trained to do COVID testing for our students and staff only.  

Tests will no longer be offered to family members due to funding decreases.  We have been 

assigned to work with a new company and lab this school year, so the procedures are a little 

different. 

 

The last installment of the 2021-22 school year property taxes were paid in August.  I also made 

claims for all of the money that was owed to the SDM through both the state and federal 

government grants. 

 

I continue to work on the 2022-23 budget and prepare for the annual meeting in October. 



 

 

 

September 8, 2022 

August Transportation Report 

Prepared For: School District of Manawa 

 

To Whom it May Concern, 

The month of August we had eight extra-curricular trips that went out. 

Natasha worked hard over the summer and the last part of August to get the routes 

ready for the school year. We had some last-minute additions, but otherwise registration 

went well! 

On August 23rd, we had our back to school meeting. During our meeting we refreshed 

ourselves on how to conduct a student discharge, touched up on student management, 

and updated the drivers with the school time changes. At this time, drivers were given 

their routes to review and then, the following morning, they conducted their dry-runs to 

familiarize themselves with their route. 

Natasha and I have been working with the school secretaries on getting them student 

bus information. Kris created new animal magnets for the buses this year. These help 

the students remember which bus they get on in the afternoon. 

We welcome all of our route drivers back, some that have been driving school bus for 

over 30 years! I am proud to have them on our team! Even with our veteran drivers, we 

are still in search of substitutes and trip drivers. Our trip driving wage recently was 

increased to $15.00 per hour! You can get paid to watch your favorite team play! If you 

know of anyone that is interested, they can contact me, or apply online at 

www.kobussen.com.  

We look forward to a smooth start to the school year! The drivers and myself are eager 

to see the kids again and get back into the school routine! 

Jacob Elsner 

(920) 389-1500 x1701 

Jacob.elsner@kobussen.com 

Thank you, 

 

Jacob Elsner 

Terminal Manager 

Kobussen Buses LTD 

http://www.kobussen.com/
mailto:Jacob.elsner@kobussen.com


Sep 2, 2022

To: Dr. Melanie Oppor, Manawa Board of Education

Fr: Michelle Johnson

Date: 9/2/2022

Re: District Literacy Highlights

Purpose:

Instructional coaches partner with educators to analyze current reality, set goals, identify and

explain   teaching strategies to hit the goals, and provide support until the goals are met. Together,

we provide  opportunities to educate all students at the highest level.

Districtwide Inservice: Dare to Change

“Teams that read together, succeed together.”

In relation to the 2022-2023 district theme of “Dare to Change,’ all district staff interactive and

learned a new reading strategy, “Save the Last Word,” while reading various articles featuring the

importance of change. To begin, in groups of no more than six members, staff selected an article

about change that seemed to lure their interest. Following the close-reading process, individuals took

time to read, process, annotate, high light, and write questions on the articles as they read. After

taking a short break, the teams came back to discuss the articles, but in a way that focused on

building citing text evidence and active listening skills. Each member wrote down a quote/line that

resonated with them from the article on a note card. Then, they would share the quote, but they

could not say anything more until each member of the group connected/shared insight gained from

the quote which is why this activity is called “Save the Last Word.” At the end, each group nominated

a member to share with the whole room insights or an “ah ha” moment gained from the activity.

School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



Literacy at Building Level Team Inservice:

MES

Staff members at MES engaged in a data dig where data from the previous Spring was reviewed to set

building level goals, set in motion needed PD, and to begin to identify early interventions for students

to begin the year right from the start. Below, based on the data reviewed, Early intervention and Small

Group Literacy instruction were of the highest need, followed by student engagements, behavior

management, and basic needs.

School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



Additionally, instructional math and literacy coaching commitments were shared with staff

members as a way to refresh and refine expectations and benefits of coaching. (See below the

letter provided.) Initial coaching cycles will be focusing on working with new teachers, literacy

/math resource courses and the StudySync ELA pilot.

Manawa Middle/Little Wolf High School:

Throughout the past few weeks, the Literacy and Math resource teams met to develop pass/fail

criteria, expectations, and set goals for our literacy and math resource courses. Strategic and targeted

resources were explored navigating iReady instruction and data. During open house, parents and

students asked questions about the resource courses and met with teachers. Each resource teacher

has the data, list of students, and resources to begin the year supporting our students. As a way to

better get to know our students as readers, a Reading Interest survey was created for each team to

provide for the first few days of this course.

School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



Prior to school beginning, Cathy McCoy and myself have been busy organizing book collections by

level and genre categories to build interest and independent reading bins.

Upcoming Dates:

Aug. 31st-Study Sync Pilot Training
Sept.-Nov- Completed ELA Curriculum Mapping, Horizontal and Vertical Alignment
Sept. 5th-Oct. 14th- Initial iReady, Fountas and Pinnell, and Early Lit assessments
Sept. 8th- Struggling Readers at the Secondary Level PD and featured presenters.
Nov. 21st-Small/Guided Small Group Professional Development

School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



Coaching Update!

Our Vision of Coaching:
We serve students, teachers,
administrators, and the community to
empower all to take learning risks.
Focusing on students and their
learning is the best way to empower
others to take risks. This is hard work,
and it takes a lot of e�ort. Students
learning is worth it.

Guiding Principles:

No matter what we do, we hold ourselves accountable to these guiding principles.
1. Place kids first: They are the reason we are here, to help them learn.
2. Listen: I listen more than I talk. Learn about the other person or people.
3. Ask questions: Seek first to understand by asking questions.
4. Collaborate: Work with others; learn about and bring in a di�erent perspective.
5. Act: If something should be done, do it or help do it.
6. Be positive: Look for the good in what is happening; Presume positive intent.

Student Centered Coaching is Defined
Student-Centered Coaching is…

● An opportunity for us to work in a partnership.
● Guided by learning targets based on the standards.
● Deciding instructional strategies based on student evidence and needs.

School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



Student Centered Coaching is not…
● Evaluation
● Us telling someone what to do
● A “fix the teacher” mentality

We believe coaching matters because:

★We are smarter together
★Student learning is our shared purpose
★They are OUR students.
★The job of teaching is too complex to do alone.
★We are never done getting better at our craft.
★We are all learners.
★Coaching is for everyone because it’s about continual

improvement.

Sincerel�,
Val Pari and Michelle Johnson

School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



School District of Manawa
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2525
Fax: (920) 596-5308

Little Wolf High School
Manawa Middle School

515 E. Fourth St
Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2524
Fax: (920) 596-2655

Manawa Elementary
800 Beech Street

Manawa, WI 54949

Phone: (920) 596-2238
Fax: (920) 596-5339

ManawaSchools.org

/ ManawaSchools

/ ManawaSchools



Technology Board Report
Sept 19, 2022

Network and Server Infrastructure
Down time on network due to storm.  Scheduling the shipment and replacement of battery
backup system.  Continued collaboration with insurance companies concerning Incident
Response policies and procedures.  Working with vendors around immutable backup products
to minimize the impact of a cyber attack.

Skyward
Putting together a continued training program for various user levels of skyward.

Insurance Guidelines
Working on developing a no personal device use policy to present to the board.  During
conversations with the insurance company’s representatives it was suggested that we update to
various networked systems and procedures:  i.e. Server migration to 2019/2022, 2 Factor
Authentication protocols and software and hardware evaluations, Professional Development
around cyber security, increased depth in backups, Incident Response and Continuity of
Services plans.  Each element is being addressed.  Rollout times are dependent on supply
chain issues and access to specialized labor.

Hardware Updates
Door hardware has arrived and the install process has begun.  Several doors have been
upgraded and are working to spec.
Continue to wait for access points. All are delayed due to chip shortages and shipping issues.
While waiting various configurations are being utilized to maintain work continuity and
connectivity.

Security Issues:
We continue with the following:  SDM has been spoofed and a scammer is using our likeness
and information to try to purchase hardware from vendors across the nation.  We (as well as the
various vendors) are working with law enforcement to address this issue.  Due to this and other
global issues we have increased security protocols to minimize our exposure to these types of
issues.



Minutes of a August 31, 2022 School District of Manawa Finance Committee Meeting

Date:  August 31, 2022 Time: 5:00 p.m. MES Board Room
800 Beech Street, Manawa

Board Committee Members:  Jepson (C), Fietzer, Reierson

In Attendance: Jepson, Fietzer, Reierson, Riske, Dr. Oppor, O’Brien

Timer/Recorder: Reierson

1. Consider Endorsement of 2022-23 Fundraisers (Information / Action)
Motion to table this item until the next meeting.
Motion by: Reierson, Fietzer
Motion carried.

2. Consider Endorsement of the 2022-23 Salary and Stipend Guide (Information / Action)
Motion to endorse the 2022-23 Salary and Stipend Guide with the changes discussed.
Motion by: Fietzer, Jepson
Motion carried.

3. Occupational Therapist Services for 2022-23 School Year (Information)
Information: There will be fixed on-site dates established.

4. Business Mileage Reimbursement Rate Increase (Information)
5. Monthly Financial Summary (Information)
6. Estimated Equalized Valuation for SDM Municipalities (Information)
7. Discussion and/or Endorsement of Financially Related KPIs (Information / Action)
8. Finance Committee Planning Guide (Information / Action)
9. Next Finance Committee Meeting Date:  Sept. 12, 2022 at 5:00 pm and Oct. 10, 2022 at

5:00 pm
10. Next Finance Committee Items:

1. Annual Meeting Preview
2. OPEB Benefit Proposal

11.     Adjourn at 7:31 pm Motion by: Fietzer, Reierson  Motion carried.



Minutes of September 14, 2022 School District of Manawa Buildings and Grounds Committee
Meeting

The meeting began at 5:00 p.m. MES Board Room, 800 Beech Street

Board Committee Members:  Griffin (C), Hollman, Jepson

In Attendance:  Griffin, Hollman, Jepson

Timer/Recorder:  Jepson

1. Review Room Capacity per Fire Egress Code (Information / Action)
Motion by: Jepson, 2nd by Griffin to add room capacities to all new room number signs

at both school buildings.  They are to be installed ASAP, but must at least be ordered by the end
of the first semester.  Motion carried.

2. Review MS/HS Exterior Message Board Quotes (Information / Action)
Motion by:  Tabled pending further information including more ideas/designs, pictures,

price quotes, etc.

3. Review MES Playground Inspection Report by Jodi L. Traas, Certified Playground
Inspector of Aegis Corporation (Information / Action)
Motion by: Jepson, 2nd by Griffin to immediately remove the parallel bars and bench

from the playground, to immediately rectify the head-entrapment areas and the sharp edges of
hardware which pose potential safety risks.  Motion carried.

4. Consider Endorsement of MES Playground Improvement Plan Phase I (Information /
Action)

a. Removal of damaged/unsafe equipment - addressed above
b. Excavation pricing - Principal Brauer will solicit quotes for immediate removal of

parallel bars
c. Wood chip price - Wood chips meeting the required standards for public

playgrounds will  be purchased for areas surrounding the swing set and the
current location of the parallel bars, as total cost will not meet the $10K threshold
needing BOE approval.

d. Other

Motion by:  N/A

5. Consider Endorsement of Picnic Tables (Information / Action)
a. 1 ADA Hex Table per building



b. 4 Standard Hex Tables per building

Jepson suggested alternative picnic tables for the MS/HS which will be more
aesthetically pleasing and allow rain/snow to filter through the table top to the ground  at a lower
cost than those presented in the meeting packet.  Jepson also suggested that the MS/HS picnic
tables be paid for out of the Food Service budget, as they will be used by students to eat lunch
and we have been formally notified that we must spend down this account.

Motion by:  Jepson, 2nd by Hollman to endorse up to $15,000 for the purchase of 10
picnic tables (5 for each building).  Motion carried.

6. Review and Endorse Hoffman Post-referendum Projects (Information / Action)
a. Site Lighting for MS/HS West Parking Lot (Northland Electric) - On order
b. Auto Operator on Atrium Door (Mr. McGregor is actively working on this project

with Tri City Glass and Door but no schedule has been set to complete the work.)
c. Ag Animal Room Exhaust (Push button on/off versus HVAC Programming -

Trane)
d. Green Space Re-seed (Mr. Casey of Casey Landscaping indicates Sept. is prime

time to get this work completed.)
Motion by:  Jepson, 2nd by Holman to endorse installation of the Ag Animal Room

exhaust modifications as presented.  Motion carried.

7. Discuss School Security Improvement or Enhancement (Information / Action)
Motion by:

Per BOE President Reierson’s request, Dr. Oppor presented a list of SDM safety/security
projects completed over the past several years.  Dr. Oppor will contact President Reierson to
schedule a full BOE meeting to discuss/address these completed projects, those currently
underway, and further opportunities to improve safety and security across our district.

8. Fisher Track is providing two signs for care of the rubberized surfacing (Information)

Discuss covering over rubberized track where athletes walk or the lawnmower drives
(Information / Action)

Motion by:
Mary Griffin addressed the committee with her concerns about the lack of care for the

new rubberized track.  She had been assured months ago that the track would be appropriately
covered when football players crossed it wearing their cleats, and when the lawnmower crossed
it.  Mrs. Griffin provided pictures of the large holes in the protective cover currently being used
during football games.  Dr. Oppor will confirm that a new protective cover has been ordered and
will arrange for an alternate protective covering that will be used until the new cover is available.
Per Dr. Oppor, the track will be adequately covered for our 9-16-22 home football game.

9. No Buildings & Grounds Monthly Budget Summary

10. Finalize Review of Key Performance Indicators (Information / Action)
Motion by:



Not discussed

11. Buildings & Grounds Committee Planning Guide (Information)

12. Set Next Meeting Date:  will be determined at the 9-19-22 BOE meeting.

13. Next Meeting Items:
a. Review, Update, and Prioritize 1 to 5 Year Section of the Maintenance Plan
b. District Safety Plan, Reunification Plan, and Associated Projects
c. Long-term Maintenance Plan - Pfefferle as Presented [Operation Efficiencies]
d. Custodial/Maintenance Plan - Pfefferle as Presented (Information / Action)
e. School Forest New Management Plan (Information / Action)
f. Other

15.  Adjourn at 7:03 p.m.
Motion by:  Jepson, 2nd by Griffin.  Motion carried.



SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA
POLICY & HUMAN RESOURCES  COMMITTEE MEETING

MINUTES

Date: September 6 , 2022 Time: 5:00 p.m.

Board Committee Members: Reierson (C), Riske, and Krueger

In Attendance: Reierson, Riske, Krueger, Dr. Oppor, Brauer, Marzofka

Timer/Recorder: Reierson

1. Review of Policies and Administrative Guidelines (Information / Action)
See notations

a. PO 2416 - Student Privacy and Parental Access to Information and AG 2416 - Procedures
for Inspection of Surveys Administered or Distributed to Students
PO 2416 & AG 2416 - form noted within AG 2416 is not an approved form within policy
documentation and cannot be found within the NEOLA system or on the SDM website.
During discussion the parental sign-off form noted within the policy and AG was not
presented in the on-line student registration. Policy and AG need to be updated to agree,
form needs to be approved by the Board, parental notification needs to be completed.
This agenda item to be reviewed at next meeting to confirm accuracy and completion.

b. PO 9130 - Public Requests Suggestions or Complaints and AG 9130A - Procedures for
Inspection of Instructional Materials
No action taken - Note to not reference PO 9130 and AG 9130A when talking about
surveys.

2. Discussion of Wolf Pack Express (Information / Action)
PO 9130 and AG 9130A will not be referenced in newsletter in the Survey section.
Confirm that the Paving the Way educational location has had asbestos, lead, and water quality
documentation -> we are required to have this information for any location where students are
educated and it needs to be a part of our Asbestos Management Plan (PO 8431.01).

3. Review PO5136 - Personal Communication Devices (Information / Action)
Policy to be updated to reflect additional security measures required by our insurance and other
proactive SDM security.

4. Review Fundraising Policies and Administrative Guideline (Information / Action)
Policies to be updated to clarify who is responsible for what actions - i.e. principal vs
administrator. Policies to also clarify processes for fundraising activity - information
needed whether it is a school sponsored activity or a school associated activity (i.e.
booster or alumni) or a community group activity (i.e. Girl Scouts, etc.)

a. PO5830 Student Fundraising
b. PO6605 and AG6605 Crowdfunding
c. PO9700.01 Advertising and Commercial Activities

5. Discuss and Recommend Applicable 2022-23 School Year Key Performance Indicators
(Information / Action)



6. Plan and Schedule Support Staff Job Satisfaction Committee for the 2022-23 School
Year - KPI IV. Engagement & Satisfaction (Information / Action)
Meeting date: October 10, 2022 at 3:30 p.m.

7. Set Next Meeting Date: October 4, 2022 at 5:00 p.m.
8. Next Meeting Items:

a. Mr. LaValle will be present to review Policy and Administrative Guideline
Volume 31, No. 2 Updates (Information / Action)

b. Discuss Overall School Safety & School Resource Officer as it related to Board
Policy or Administrative Guidelines (SRO) (Information / Action)

c. School Nurse References - Nurse/Paramedical (Information / Action)
d.

9. Adjourn: Motion by: Krueger, Riske at 6:52 p.m.



2018 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE® 257

CHAPTER 10

MEANS OF EGRESS 

User notes:

About this chapter: Chapter 10 provides the general criteria for designing the means of egress established as the primary method for protec-
tion of people in buildings by allowing timely relocation or evacuation of building occupants. Both prescriptive and performance language is
utilized in this chapter to provide for a basic approach in the determination of a safe exiting system for all occupancies. It addresses all por-
tions of the egress system (exit access, exits and exit discharge) and includes design requirements as well as provisions regulating individual
components. The requirements detail the size, arrangement, number and protection of means of egress components. Functional and opera-
tional characteristics that will permit the safe use of components without special knowledge or effort are specified. 

The means of egress protection requirements work in coordination with other sections of the code, such as protection of vertical openings
(see Chapter 7), interior finish (see Chapter 8), fire suppression and detection systems (see Chapter 9) and numerous others, all having an
impact on life safety. Chapter 10 is subdivided into four main sections: general (Sections 1003–1015), exit access (Sections 1016–1021), exit
(Sections 1022–1027) and exit discharge (Section 1028). Special allowances for the unique requirements for assembly spaces (Section 1029)
and emergency escape and rescue openings (Section 1030) complete the chapter. Chapter 10 of this code is duplicated in Chapter 10 of the
International Fire Code®; however, the International Fire Code contains one additional section on maintenance of the means of egress system
in existing buildings.

Code development reminder: Code change proposals to sections preceded by the designation [F] will be considered by the International
Fire Code Development Committee during the 2019 (Group B) Code Development Cycle. See explanation on page iv.

SECTION 1001
 ADMINISTRATION

1001.1 General. Buildings or portions thereof shall be pro-
vided with a means of egress system as required by this chap-
ter. The provisions of this chapter shall control the design,
construction and arrangement of means of egress components
required to provide an approved means of egress from struc-
tures and portions thereof.

1001.2 Minimum requirements. It shall be unlawful to alter
a building or structure in a manner that will reduce the num-
ber of exits or the minimum width or required capacity of the
means of egress to less than required by this code.

[F] SECTION 1002
MAINTENANCE AND PLANS

[F] 1002.1 Maintenance. Means of egress shall be main-
tained in accordance with the International Fire Code.

[F] 1002.2 Fire safety and evacuation plans. Fire safety and
evacuation plans shall be provided for all occupancies and
buildings where required by the International Fire Code.
Such fire safety and evacuation plans shall comply with the
applicable provisions of Sections 401.2 and 404 of the Inter-
national Fire Code.

SECTION 1003
 GENERAL MEANS OF EGRESS

1003.1 Applicability. The general requirements specified in
Sections 1003 through 1015 shall apply to all three elements
of the means of egress system, in addition to those specific
requirements for the exit access, the exit and the exit dis-
charge detailed elsewhere in this chapter.

1003.2 Ceiling height. The means of egress shall have a ceil-
ing height of not less than 7 feet 6 inches (2286 mm) above
the finished floor.

Exceptions:

1. Sloped ceilings in accordance with Section 1207.2.

2. Ceilings of dwelling units and sleeping units within
residential occupancies in accordance with Section
1207.2.

3. Allowable projections in accordance with Section
1003.3.

4. Stair headroom in accordance with Section 1011.3.

5. Door height in accordance with Section 1010.1.1.

6. Ramp headroom in accordance with Section
1012.5.2.

7. The clear height of floor levels in vehicular and
pedestrian traffic areas of public and private parking
garages in accordance with Section 406.2.2.

8. Areas above and below mezzanine floors in accor-
dance with Section 505.2.

1003.3 Protruding objects. Protruding objects on circula-
tion paths shall comply with the requirements of Sections
1003.3.1 through 1003.3.4.

1003.3.1 Headroom. Protruding objects are permitted to
extend below the minimum ceiling height required by Sec-
tion 1003.2 where a minimum headroom of 80 inches
(2032 mm) is provided over any circulation paths, includ-
ing walks, corridors, aisles and passageways. Not more
than 50 percent of the ceiling area of a means of egress
shall be reduced in height by protruding objects.

Exception: Door closers and stops shall not reduce
headroom to less than 78 inches (1981 mm).

Copyright © 2017 ICC.  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.  Accessed by Mark Robbins on Mar 20, 2018 1:25:36 PM  pursuant to License Agreement with ICC.  No further reproduction or
distribution authorized.  ANY UNAUTHORIZED REPRODUCTION OR DISTRIBUTION IS A VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL COPYRIGHT ACT AND THE LICENSE
AGREEMENT, AND SUBJECT TO CIVIL AND CRIMINAL PENALTIES THEREUNDER.



MEANS OF EGRESS

258 2018 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE®

A barrier shall be provided where the vertical clearance
above a circulation path is less than 80 inches (2032 mm)
high above the finished floor. The leading edge of such a
barrier shall be located 27 inches (686 mm) maximum
above the finished floor.

1003.3.2 Post-mounted objects. A free-standing object
mounted on a post or pylon shall not overhang that post or
pylon more than 4 inches (102 mm) where the lowest
point of the leading edge is more than 27 inches (686 mm)
and less than 80 inches (2032 mm) above the finished
floor. Where a sign or other obstruction is mounted
between posts or pylons and the clear distance between the
posts or pylons is greater than 12 inches (305 mm), the
lowest edge of such sign or obstruction shall be 27 inches
(686 mm) maximum or 80 inches (2032 mm) minimum
above the finished floor or ground.

Exception: These requirements shall not apply to slop-
ing portions of handrails between the top and bottom
riser of stairs and above the ramp run.

1003.3.3 Horizontal projections. Objects with leading
edges more than 27 inches (685 mm) and not more than 80
inches (2030 mm) above the finished floor shall not proj-
ect horizontally more than 4 inches (102 mm) into the cir-
culation path.

Exception: Handrails are permitted to protrude 41/2

inches (114 mm) from the wall or guard.

1003.3.4 Clear width. Protruding objects shall not reduce
the minimum clear width of accessible routes.

1003.4 Slip-resistant surface. Circulation paths of the means
of egress shall have a slip-resistant surface and be securely
attached.

1003.5 Elevation change. Where changes in elevation of less
than 12 inches (305 mm) exist in the means of egress, sloped
surfaces shall be used. Where the slope is greater than one
unit vertical in 20 units horizontal (5-percent slope), ramps
complying with Section 1012 shall be used. Where the differ-
ence in elevation is 6 inches (152 mm) or less, the ramp shall
be equipped with either handrails or floor finish materials
that contrast with adjacent floor finish materials.

Exceptions:
1. A single step with a maximum riser height of 7

inches (178 mm) is permitted for buildings with
occupancies in Groups F, H, R-2, R-3, S and U at
exterior doors not required to be accessible by
Chapter 11.

2. A stair with a single riser or with two risers and a
tread is permitted at locations not required to be
accessible by Chapter 11 where the risers and treads
comply with Section 1011.5, the minimum depth of
the tread is 13 inches (330 mm) and not less than
one handrail complying with Section 1014 is pro-
vided within 30 inches (762 mm) of the centerline of
the normal path of egress travel on the stair.

3. A step is permitted in aisles serving seating that has
a difference in elevation less than 12 inches (305
mm) at locations not required to be accessible by

Chapter 11, provided that the risers and treads com-
ply with Section 1029.14 and the aisle is provided
with a handrail complying with Section 1029.16.

Throughout a story in a Group I-2 occupancy, any change
in elevation in portions of the means of egress that serve
nonambulatory persons shall be by means of a ramp or sloped
walkway.

1003.6 Means of egress continuity. The path of egress
travel along a means of egress shall not be interrupted by a
building element other than a means of egress component as
specified in this chapter. Obstructions shall not be placed in
the minimum width or required capacity of a means of
egress component except projections permitted by this
chapter. The minimum width or required capacity of a
means of egress system shall not be diminished along the
path of egress travel.

1003.7 Elevators, escalators and moving walks. Elevators,
escalators and moving walks shall not be used as a compo-
nent of a required means of egress from any other part of the
building.

Exception: Elevators used as an accessible means of
egress in accordance with Section 1009.4.

SECTION 1004
 OCCUPANT LOAD

1004.1 Design occupant load. In determining means of
egress requirements, the number of occupants for whom
means of egress facilities are provided shall be determined in
accordance with this section.  

1004.2 Cumulative occupant loads.  Where the path of
egress travel includes intervening rooms, areas or spaces,
cumulative occupant loads shall be determined in accordance
with this section. 

1004.2.1 Intervening spaces or accessory areas. Where
occupants egress from one or more rooms, areas or spaces
through others, the design occupant load shall be the com-
bined occupant load of interconnected accessory or inter-
vening spaces. Design of egress path capacity shall be
based on the cumulative portion of occupant loads of all
rooms, areas or spaces to that point along the path of
egress travel.

1004.2.2 Adjacent levels for mezzanines. That portion of
the occupant load of a mezzanine with required egress
through a room, area or space on an adjacent level shall be
added to the occupant load of that room, area or space.

1004.2.3 Adjacent stories. Other than for the egress com-
ponents designed for convergence in accordance with Sec-
tion 1005.6, the occupant load from separate stories shall
not be added.

1004.3 Multiple function occupant load. Where an area
under consideration contains multiple functions having dif-
ferent occupant load factors, the design occupant load for
such area shall be based on the floor area of each function
calculated independently.

Copyright © 2017 ICC.  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.  Accessed by Mark Robbins on Mar 20, 2018 1:25:36 PM  pursuant to License Agreement with ICC.  No further reproduction or
distribution authorized.  ANY UNAUTHORIZED REPRODUCTION OR DISTRIBUTION IS A VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL COPYRIGHT ACT AND THE LICENSE
AGREEMENT, AND SUBJECT TO CIVIL AND CRIMINAL PENALTIES THEREUNDER.

jandres
Highlight



MEANS OF EGRESS

2018 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE® 259

1004.4 Multiple occupancies. Where a building contains
two or more occupancies, the means of egress requirements
shall apply to each portion of the building based on the occu-
pancy of that space. Where two or more occupancies utilize
portions of the same means of egress system, those egress
components shall meet the more stringent requirements of all
occupancies that are served.

1004.5 Areas without fixed seating. The number of occu-
pants shall be computed at the rate of one occupant per unit of
area as prescribed in Table 1004.5. For areas without fixed
seating, the occupant load shall be not less than that number
determined by dividing the floor area under consideration by
the occupant load factor assigned to the function of the space
as set forth in Table 1004.5. Where an intended function is
not listed in Table 1004.5, the building official shall establish
a function based on a listed function that most nearly resem-
bles the intended function.

Exception: Where approved by the building official, the
actual number of occupants for whom each occupied
space, floor or building is designed, although less than
those determined by calculation, shall be permitted to be
used in the determination of the design occupant load.

1004.5.1 Increased occupant load. The occupant load
permitted in any building, or portion thereof, is permitted
to be increased from that number established for the occu-
pancies in Table 1004.5, provided that all other require-
ments of the code are met based on such modified number
and the occupant load does not exceed one occupant per 7
square feet (0.65 m2) of occupiable floor space. Where
required by the building official, an approved aisle, seat-
ing or fixed equipment diagram substantiating any
increase in occupant load shall be submitted. Where
required by the building official, such diagram shall be
posted.

1004.6 Fixed seating. For areas having fixed seats and aisles,
the occupant load shall be determined by the number of fixed
seats installed therein. The occupant load for areas in which
fixed seating is not installed, such as waiting spaces, shall be
determined in accordance with Section 1004.5 and added to
the number of fixed seats.

The occupant load of wheelchair spaces and the associ-
ated companion seat shall be based on one occupant for each
wheelchair space and one occupant for the associated com-
panion seat provided in accordance with Section 1108.2.3.

For areas having fixed seating without dividing arms, the
occupant load shall be not less than the number of seats based
on one person for each 18 inches (457 mm) of seating length.

The occupant load of seating booths shall be based on one
person for each 24 inches (610 mm) of booth seat length mea-
sured at the backrest of the seating booth.

1004.7 Outdoor areas. Yards, patios, occupied roofs, courts
and similar outdoor areas accessible to and usable by the
building occupants shall be provided with means of egress as
required by this chapter. The occupant load of such outdoor
areas shall be assigned by the building official in accordance
with the anticipated use. Where outdoor areas are to be used
by persons in addition to the occupants of the building, and
the path of egress travel from the outdoor areas passes
through the building, means of egress requirements for the

TABLE 1004.5
MAXIMUM FLOOR AREA ALLOWANCES PER OCCUPANT

For SI: 1 foot = 304.8 mm, 1 square foot = 0.0929 m2.
a. Floor area in square feet per occupant.

FUNCTION OF SPACE OCCUPANT LOAD FACTORa

Accessory storage areas, mechanical 
equipment room 

300 gross

Agricultural building 300 gross
Aircraft hangars 500 gross

Airport terminal
 Baggage claim
 Baggage handling

 Concourse
 Waiting areas 

20 gross
300 gross
100 gross
15 gross

Assembly 
 Gaming floors (keno, slots, etc.)
     Exhibit gallery and museum

11 gross
30 net

Assembly with fixed seats See Section 1004.6

Assembly without fixed seats
Concentrated

(chairs only—not fixed)
Standing space
Unconcentrated (tables and chairs) 

7 net

5 net
15 net

Bowling centers, allow 5 persons for 
each lane including 15 feet of runway, 
and for additional areas 

7 net

Business areas 
   Concentrated business use areas

150 gross
See Section 1004.8 

Courtrooms—other than fixed 
   seating areas

40 net

Day care 35 net
Dormitories 50 gross

Educational
Classroom area
Shops and other vocational room
   areas

20 net
50 net

Exercise rooms 50 gross
Group H-5 fabrication and 
   manufacturing areas

200 gross

Industrial areas 100 gross
Institutional areas

Inpatient treatment areas
Outpatient areas
Sleeping areas

240 gross
100 gross
120 gross

Kitchens, commercial 200 gross
Library

Reading rooms
Stack area

50 net
100 gross

Locker rooms 50 gross
Mall buildings—covered and open See Section 402.8.2
Mercantile

Storage, stock, shipping areas
60 gross

300 gross
Parking garages 200 gross
Residential 200 gross
Skating rinks, swimming pools

Rink and pool
Decks

50 gross
15 gross

Stages and platforms 15 net
Warehouses 500 gross

Copyright © 2017 ICC.  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.  Accessed by Mark Robbins on Mar 20, 2018 1:25:36 PM  pursuant to License Agreement with ICC.  No further reproduction or
distribution authorized.  ANY UNAUTHORIZED REPRODUCTION OR DISTRIBUTION IS A VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL COPYRIGHT ACT AND THE LICENSE
AGREEMENT, AND SUBJECT TO CIVIL AND CRIMINAL PENALTIES THEREUNDER.

jandres
Highlight

jandres
Highlight

jandres
Highlight



MEANS OF EGRESS

260 2018 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE®

building shall be based on the sum of the occupant loads of
the building plus the outdoor areas.

Exceptions:

1. Outdoor areas used exclusively for service of the
building need only have one means of egress.

2. Both outdoor areas associated with Group R-3 and
individual dwelling units of Group R-2.

1004.8 Concentrated business use areas. The occupant
load factor for concentrated business use shall be applied to
telephone call centers, trading floors, electronic data pro-
cessing centers and similar business use areas with a higher
density of occupants than would normally be expected in a
typical business occupancy environment. Where approved
by the building official, the occupant load for concentrated
business use areas shall be the actual occupant load, but not
less than one occupant per 50 square feet (4.65 m2) of gross
occupiable floor space.

1004.9 Posting of occupant load. Every room or space that
is an assembly occupancy shall have the occupant load of the
room or space posted in a conspicuous place, near the main
exit or exit access doorway from the room or space, for the
intended configurations. Posted signs shall be of an approved
legible permanent design and shall be maintained by the
owner or the owner’s authorized agent.

SECTION 1005
 MEANS OF EGRESS SIZING

1005.1 General. All portions of the means of egress system
shall be sized in accordance with this section.

Exception: Aisles and aisle accessways in rooms or
spaces used for assembly purposes complying with Sec-
tion 1029.

1005.2 Minimum width based on component. The mini-
mum width, in inches (mm), of any means of egress compo-
nents shall be not less than that specified for such component,
elsewhere in this code. 

1005.3 Required capacity based on occupant load. The
required capacity, in inches (mm), of the means of egress for
any room, area, space or story shall be not less than that deter-
mined in accordance with Sections 1005.3.1 and 1005.3.2:

1005.3.1 Stairways. The capacity, in inches, of means of
egress stairways shall be calculated by multiplying the
occupant load served by such stairways by a means of
egress capacity factor of 0.3 inch (7.6 mm) per occupant.
Where stairways serve more than one story, only the occu-
pant load of each story considered individually shall be
used in calculating the required capacity of the stairways
serving that story.

Exceptions:

1. For other than Group H and I-2 occupancies, the
capacity, in inches, of means of egress stairways
shall be calculated by multiplying the occupant
load served by such stairways by a means of
egress capacity factor of 0.2 inch (5.1 mm) per
occupant in buildings equipped throughout with
an automatic sprinkler system installed in accor-

dance with Section 903.3.1.1 or 903.3.1.2 and an
emergency voice/alarm communication system in
accordance with Section 907.5.2.2.

2. Facilities with smoke-protected assembly seating
shall be permitted to use the capacity factors in
Table 1029.6.2 indicated for stepped aisles for
exit access or exit stairways where the entire path
for means of egress from the seating to the exit
discharge is provided with a smoke control sys-
tem complying with Section 909.

3. Facilities with open-air assembly seating shall be
permitted to the capacity factors in Section
1029.6.3 indicated for stepped aisles for exit
access or exit stairways where the entire path for
means of egress from the seating to the exit dis-
charge is open to the outdoors.

1005.3.2 Other egress components. The capacity, in
inches, of means of egress components other than stair-
ways shall be calculated by multiplying the occupant load
served by such component by a means of egress capacity
factor of 0.2 inch (5.1 mm) per occupant.

Exceptions:
1. For other than Group H and I-2 occupancies, the

capacity, in inches, of means of egress compo-
nents other than stairways shall be calculated by
multiplying the occupant load served by such
component by a means of egress capacity factor
of 0.15 inch (3.8 mm) per occupant in buildings
equipped throughout with an automatic sprinkler
system installed in accor101.4.7dance with Sec-
tion 903.3.1.1 or 903.3.1.2 and an emergency
voice/alarm communication system in accor-
dance with Section 907.5.2.2.

2. Facilities with smoke-protected assembly seating
shall be permitted to use the capacity factors in
Table 1029.6.2 indicated for level or ramped
aisles for means of egress components other than
stairways where the entire path for means of
egress from the seating to the exit discharge is
provided with a smoke control system complying
with Section 909.

3. Facilities with open-air assembly seating shall be
permitted to the capacity factors in Section
1029.6.3 indicated for level or ramped aisles for
means of egress components other than stairways
where the entire path for means of egress from
the seating to the exit discharge is open to the
outdoors.

1005.4 Continuity. The minimum width or required capacity
of the means of egress required from any story of a building
shall not be reduced along the path of egress travel until
arrival at the public way.

1005.5 Distribution of minimum width and required
capacity. Where more than one exit, or access to more than
one exit, is required, the means of egress shall be configured
such that the loss of any one exit, or access to one exit, shall
not reduce the available capacity or width to less than 50 per-
cent of the required capacity or width.

Copyright © 2017 ICC.  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.  Accessed by Mark Robbins on Mar 20, 2018 1:25:36 PM  pursuant to License Agreement with ICC.  No further reproduction or
distribution authorized.  ANY UNAUTHORIZED REPRODUCTION OR DISTRIBUTION IS A VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL COPYRIGHT ACT AND THE LICENSE
AGREEMENT, AND SUBJECT TO CIVIL AND CRIMINAL PENALTIES THEREUNDER.

jandres
Highlight



MEANS OF EGRESS

2018 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE® 261

1005.6 Egress convergence. Where the means of egress
from stories above and below converge at an intermediate
level, the capacity of the means of egress from the point of
convergence shall be not less than the largest minimum width
or the sum of the required capacities for the stairways or
ramps serving the two adjacent stories, whichever is larger.

1005.7 Encroachment. Encroachments into the required
means of egress width shall be in accordance with the provi-
sions of this section.

1005.7.1 Doors. Doors, when fully opened, shall not
reduce the required width by more than 7 inches (178
mm).  Doors in any position shall not reduce the required
width by more than one-half.

Exceptions:
1. Surface-mounted latch release hardware shall be

exempt from inclusion in the 7-inch maximum
(178 mm) encroachment where both of the fol-
lowing conditions exist: 

1.1. The hardware is mounted to the side of
the door facing away from the adjacent
wall where the door is in the open posi-
tion.

1.2. The hardware is mounted not less than 34
inches (865 mm) nor more than 48 inches
(1219 mm) above the finished floor. 

2. The restrictions on door swing shall not apply to
doors within individual dwelling units and sleep-
ing units of Group R-2 occupancies and dwelling
units of Group R-3 occupancies.

1005.7.2  Other projections. Handrail projections shall be
in accordance with the provisions of Section 1014.8.  Other
nonstructural projections such as trim and similar decora-
tive features shall be permitted to project into the required
width not more than 11/2 inches (38 mm) on each side.

Exception: Projections are permitted in corridors
within Group I-2 Condition 1 in accordance with Sec-
tion 407.4.3.

1005.7.3  Protruding objects. Protruding objects shall
comply with the applicable requirements of Section
1003.3.

SECTION 1006
NUMBER OF EXITS AND 

EXIT ACCESS DOORWAYS
1006.1 General. The number of exits or exit access doorways
required within the means of egress system shall comply with
the provisions of Section 1006.2 for spaces, including mezza-
nines, and Section 1006.3 for stories or occupied roofs.

1006.2 Egress from spaces. Rooms, areas or spaces, includ-
ing mezzanines, within a story or basement shall be provided
with the number of exits or access to exits in accordance with
this section.

1006.2.1 Egress based on occupant load and common
path of egress travel distance. Two exits or exit access
doorways from any space shall be provided where the
design occupant load or the common path of egress travel

distance exceeds the values listed in Table 1006.2.1. The
cumulative occupant load from adjacent rooms, areas or
spaces shall be determined in accordance with Section
1004.2.

1. The number of exits from foyers, lobbies, vestibules
or similar spaces need not be based on cumulative
occupant loads for areas discharging through such
spaces, but the capacity of the exits from such spaces
shall be based on applicable cumulative occupant
loads.

2. Care suites in Group I-2 occupancies complying
with Section 407.4.

1006.2.1.1 Three or more exits or exit access door-
ways. Three exits or exit access doorways shall be pro-
vided from any space with an occupant load of 501 to
1,000. Four exits or exit access doorways shall be pro-
vided from any space with an occupant load greater
than 1,000.

1006.2.2 Egress based on use. The numbers of exits or
access to exits shall be provided in the uses described in
Sections 1006.2.2.1 through 1006.2.2.6.

1006.2.2.1 Boiler, incinerator and furnace rooms.
Two exit access doorways are required in boiler, incin-
erator and furnace rooms where the area is over 500
square feet (46 m2) and any fuel-fired equipment
exceeds 400,000 British thermal units (Btu) (422 000
KJ) input capacity. Where two exit access doorways are
required, one is permitted to be a fixed ladder or an
alternating tread device. Exit access doorways shall be
separated by a horizontal distance equal to one-half the
length of the maximum overall diagonal dimension of
the room.

1006.2.2.2 Refrigeration machinery rooms. Machin-
ery rooms larger than 1,000 square feet (93 m2) shall
have not less than two exits or exit access doorways.
Where two exit access doorways are required, one such
doorway is permitted to be served by a fixed ladder or
an alternating tread device. Exit access doorways shall
be separated by a horizontal distance equal to one-half
the maximum horizontal dimension of the room.

All portions of machinery rooms shall be within 150
feet (45 720 mm) of an exit or exit access doorway. An
increase in exit access travel distance is permitted in
accordance with Section 1017.1.

Exit and exit access doorways shall swing in the
direction of egress travel, regardless of the occupant
load served. Exit and exit access doorways  shall be
tight fitting and self-closing.

1006.2.2.3 Refrigerated rooms or spaces. Rooms or
spaces having a floor area larger than 1,000 square feet
(93 m2), containing a refrigerant evaporator and main-
tained at a temperature below 68°F (20°C), shall have
access to not less than two exits or exit access door-
ways.

Exit access travel distance shall be determined as
specified in Section 1017.1, but all portions of a refrig-
erated room or space shall be within 150 feet (45 720

�

Copyright © 2017 ICC.  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.  Accessed by Mark Robbins on Mar 20, 2018 1:25:36 PM  pursuant to License Agreement with ICC.  No further reproduction or
distribution authorized.  ANY UNAUTHORIZED REPRODUCTION OR DISTRIBUTION IS A VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL COPYRIGHT ACT AND THE LICENSE
AGREEMENT, AND SUBJECT TO CIVIL AND CRIMINAL PENALTIES THEREUNDER.



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30

A B C D E F
Number Name Area SF Capacity Factor SF/Occ Capacity Door Width Req (36 in is min)
123 4 YR KINDERGARTEN ACTIVITY 662 20 33 6.6
121 4 YR KINDERGARTEN 892 20 44 8.8
116 CLASSROOM 982 20 49 9.8
115 CLASSROOM 961 20 48 9.6
114 CLASSROOM 939 20 46 9.2
113 CLASSROOM 954 20 47 9.4
120 COMPUTER LAB 964 20 48 9.6
122 EARLY CHILDHOOD 860 20 43 8.6
103 OT/PT 552 20 27 5.4
102 SPECIAL EDUCATION 793 20 39 7.8
111 CLASSROOM 954 20 47 9.4
110 CLASSROOM 939 20 46 9.2
109 CLASSROOM 961 20 48 9.6
107 CLASSROOM 961 20 48 9.6
106 CLASSROOM 939 20 46 9.2
105 CLASSROOM 954 20 47 9.4
129 CLASSROOM 1219 20 60 12
128 CLASSROOM 921 20 46 9.2
127 ART 1292 20 64 12.8
126 MUSIC 1756 20 87 17.4
125 BAND 1041 20 52 10.4
124 SPECIAL EDUCATION 1156 20 57 11.4
118 CLASSROOM 939 20 46 9.2
119 CLASSROOM 954 20 47 9.4
117 CLASSROOM 961 20 48 9.6
108 CLASSROOM 982 20 49 9.8
103A OT/PT 388 20 19 3.8
100B COMMONS 2319 7 331 66.2
130 GYMNASIUM 8909 7 1272 254.4



CODE SHEET KEY

EXIT LIGHT

FE

FE
"K"

FIRE EXTINGUISHER

FIRE EXTINGUISHER TYPE "K"

AREA OF LEVEL 2 ALTERATION

EGRESS PATH

CORRIDOR
100A

VESTIBULE
100

DISTRICT
OFFICE

RECEPTION
133

COMMONS
100B

CORRIDOR
100A

GYMNASIUM
130

STORAGE
133C

C
O

R
R

ID
O

R
13

3BBUSINESS
MANAGER

133E

OFFICE
133A

ELEM.
SCHOOL
OFFICE

101

TOILET
141 BOYS

140
GIRLS

139OFFICE
101D

4 YR
KINDERGARTEN

ACTIVITY
123

SPECIAL
EDUCATION

124

SPECIAL
EDUCATION

102
STORAGE

124A

170 SF

STORAGE
123B

TOILET
123A

4 YR
KINDERGARTEN

121

C
O

R
R

ID
O

R
10

0D

RECEIVING
138

VESTIBULE
100M

AREAS OF ALTERATIONS

AREA A

AREA C

AREA A

AREA B

AREA B AREA C

BOARD
ROOM

131

DISTRICT
ADMINISTRATOR

133F
GIRLS

LOCKER
ROOM
130K

ART
127

CLASSROOM
128

FITNESS
ROOM
130H

BAND
125 MUSIC

126
KITCHEN

137
STORAGE

137A

CUSTODIAN
135B

EARLY
CHILDHOOD

122
OT/PT
103A

OT/PT
103

GUIDANCE
104

STORAGE
101J

WORKROOM
101F

OFFICE
101E

PRINCIPAL
OFFICE

101H

CONFERENCE
104B

GUIDANCE
OFFICE

104A

CORRIDOR
100E

VESTIBULE
100G

CLASSROOM
117

CLASSROOM
118

CLASSROOM
119

COMPUTER
LAB
120

STAFF ROOM
120A

CLASSROOM
105

CLASSROOM
106

CLASSROOM
107

CLASSROOM
108

CONFERENCE
108A

RESOURCE
105D

CLASSROOM
109

CLASSROOM
110

CLASSROOM
111

LIBRARY
112

CLASSROOM
113

CLASSROOM
114

CLASSROOM
115

RESOURCE
113D

OFFICE
116A

CLASSROOM
116

LIBRARY
WORK AREA

112A

IT ROOM
147

STORAGE
112D

CORRIDOR
105A

CORRIDOR
113A

GIRLS
113B

BOYS
113C

BOYS
105C

GIRLS
105B

LIBRARY
OFFICE

112B
OFFICE

112E
OFFICE

112F

CORRIDOR
100K

VESTIBULE
100L

CORRIDOR
100H

VESTIBULE
105E

CORRIDOR
100C

OFFICE
124C

STORAGE
113F STORAGE

116B

VESTIBULE
113E

NEW STORAGE ROOM

PER IBC 305.1:
STORAGE ROOM:  S-1 OCCUPANCY GROUP 

PER IBC 508.2.4: 
ROOM SF IS LESS THAN 10% OF BUILDING AREA,
THEREFORE, NO SEPARATION REQUIRED BETWEEN 
ACCESSORY OCCUPANCIES. 

COMMON PATH OF 
EGRESS 42FT

BUILDING DATA SUMMARY
APPLICABLE CODES:

BUILDING ACCESSIBILITY AND LIFE SAFETY:
• 2015 IBC - International Building Code
• 2015 IEBC - Existing Building Code
• Wisconsin SPS 362
• 2015 IECC - International Energy Conservation Code
• 2009 ICC/ANSI A117.1 - American National Standards 

Institute

BUILDING AREA:

Existing First Floor: 81,786 sf
First Floor Alterations: 1,372 SQ. FT.
Level 2 Alterations:  <50% 

BUILDING OCCUPANCIES / TYPE (IBC CH. 3&5):

Primary Occupancy:
• E Education

Secondary Occupancy:
• E / A-2)  Cafeteria / Commons (per IBC 303.1.3)
• E/ A-3)  Gymnasium (per IBC 303.1.3)
• B Administrative Offices
• S-2 Storage / Mechanical

Accessory Occupancy:
• S-1 Storage

TYPE OF CONSTRUCTION (IBC CH. 6 & 7):
• All existing construction is Construction Type IIB
• All alterations shall be Construction Type IIB

MEANS OF EGRESS / OCCUPANT LOAD (IBC CH. 10):
• Egress paths and occupant load unchanged.
• 4 YR KINDERGARTEN (121 & 123) COMBINED ROOM 

OCCUPANT LOAD 28 PERSONS BASED ON LOCAL 
BUIDING OFFICIAL AND SCHOOL PLANNING 
STANDARDS - 60SF/ PERSON. IBC 1004.2.

PLUMBING CALCULATIONS (IBC CH. 29):

LAV= LAVATORY
WC= WATER CLOSET
UR= URINAL
DF= DRINKING FOUNTAIN

• REMODEL AREA: OCCUPANT LOAD UNCHANGED -
REQ'D:         NONE
PROVIDED: 2 WC, 4 LAV'S

ACCESSIBILITY (IBC CH. 11, IEBC CH. 5&6):
• The new construction and all Level 2 zones meet all 

accessibility requirements per IBC Chapter 11 and ANSI 
A117.1 (2009 Edition)

SPRINKLER SYSTEM / FIRE SAFETY:
• Existing building not sprinklered

SHEET NUMBER:

SHEET TITLE:

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

COPYRIGHT © 2019:
HOFFMAN PLANNING, DESIGN & 
CONSTRUCTION, INC.

CAD DWG FILE:

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED:

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

CONSTRUCTION SET
9/6/2022 5:35:42 PM C:\Users\jandres\Desktop\18268 ES-Arch-18 Central.rvt

1-GI-101

CODE PLAN

KDP

DGG

18268

2019-07-08

PA
R

T 
1 

-M
AN

AW
A 

EL
EM

EN
TA

R
Y 

SC
H

O
O

L
M

AN
AW

A 
EL

EM
EN

TA
R

Y 
SC

H
O

O
L 

-A
LT

ER
AT

IO
N

S
M

AN
AW

A 
M

ID
D

LE
/H

IG
H

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

-A
D

D
IT

IO
N

S 
& 

AL
TE

R
AT

IO
N

S

80
0 

BE
EC

H
 S

TR
EE

T
M

AN
AW

A,
 W

I 5
49

49

SCALE 1/16" = 1'-0"1 CODE PLAN

TRUE
NORTH

PLAN
NORTH

MARK DATE



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34

A B C D E F
Number Name Area SF Capacity Factor SF/Occ Capacity Door Width Req (36 in is min)
F‐330 ACTIVITY ROOM 1187 50 23 4.6
F‐331 AG LAB 575 50 11 2.2
F‐313 ART ROOM 1755 50 35 7
E‐222 AT‐RISK CLASSROOM 720 20 36 7.2
D‐418 BAND 1809 20 90 18
C‐405 BIOLOGY 1279 50 25 5
F‐304 BUSINESS 934 50 18 3.6
D‐409 CHORUS 1039 20 51 10.2
E‐207 CLASSROOM 860 20 43 8.6
E‐208 CLASSROOM 860 20 43 8.6
E‐209 CLASSROOM 867 20 43 8.6
E‐210 CLASSROOM 852 20 42 8.4
E‐216 CLASSROOM 872 20 43 8.6
E‐217 CLASSROOM 851 20 42 8.4
E‐221 CLASSROOM 848 20 42 8.4
E‐301 CLASSROOM 838 20 41 8.2
E‐302 CLASSROOM 839 20 41 8.2
E‐303 CLASSROOM 838 20 41 8.2
F‐321 CLASSROOM 847 20 42 8.4
F‐336 CLASSROOM 982 20 49 9.8
D‐421 COMMONS 4117 7 588 117.6
F‐030 COMPUTER LAB 382 20 19 3.8
F‐312 FABRICATION LAB 1543 50 30 6
C‐400 FCS LAB 956 50 19 3.8
LL‐104 FITNESS ROOM 2988 50 59 11.8
A‐528 GYMNASIUM 9586 7 1369 273.8
E‐220 HIGH SCHOOL COLLABORATION 1580 20 79 15.8
E‐218 MEDIA CENTER 2682 50 53 10.6
F‐326 METALS SHOP 1578 50 31 6.2
C‐121 MIDDLE SCHOOL CLASSROOM 800 20 40 8
C‐122 MIDDLE SCHOOL CLASSROOM 812 20 40 8
C‐123 MIDDLE SCHOOL CLASSROOM 800 20 40 8
C‐131 MIDDLE SCHOOL CLASSROOM 850 20 42 8.4



35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43

A B C D E F
C‐138 MIDDLE SCHOOL CLASSROOM 854 20 42 8.4
C‐132 MIDDLE SCHOOL COLLABORATION 1302 20 65 13
C‐124 MIDDLE SCHOOL SCIENCE 987 50 19 3.8
C‐401 PHYSICAL SCIENCE 1274 50 25 5
E‐203 SPECIAL EDUCATION 561 20 28 5.6
E‐204 SPECIAL EDUCATION 559 20 27 5.4
E‐206 SPECIAL EDUCATION 627 20 31 6.2
F‐305 STEAM CLASSROOM 911 50 18 3.6
F‐319 STEAM LAB / WOODS 1792 50 35 7



1FB1FB

2FB2FB
2FW2FW

1FP1FP

UP

UP
UP

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

1FB
1FB

1FB1FB 1FB

2FB 2FB2FB 2FB 2FB 2FB1F
B

1F
B

UP

UP

UP

UP

UP

UP

DN

2FW
2FW

2FW
2FW

2FW 2FW2FW 2FW

2FW 2FW2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2FW 2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

2F
W

1FB
1FB

1FB1FB

2FB 2FB2FB 2FB 2FB 2FB

1FP
1FP

1FP
1FP

1F
B

1F
B

1F
P

1F
P

1FP 1FP

1FP1FP

2FW2FW 2FW2FW2FW2FW

2FW
2FW

2FW
2FW

2FW
2FW

2FW
2FW

2FW
2FW

2FW
2FW

2FW
2FW

2 HOUR - FIRE WALL 

2 HOUR - FIRE BARRIER

1 HOUR - FIRE BARRIER

1 HOUR - FIRE PARTITION

HIGHEST

MEDIUM

LOWEST

PRIORITY   # PLAN GRAPHIC PARTITION TYPE

WALL PRIORITY LEGEND

NOTE: - PARTITIONS WITH A HIGHER PRIORITY # TAKE 
PRECEDENCE OVER PARTITIONS WITH A LOWER 
PRIORITY # - SEE AE-501 FOR DETAILS
- PLEASE REFERENCE SPECIFICATION SECTION 
014219 REFERENCE STANDARDS FOR U.L. SYSTEMS

1

2

3

4

WALL TO LIMIT THE TRANSFER OF 
SMOKE (DOORS AND GLAZING FOR 
BORROWED LIGHTS ARE NOT RATED)

CODE SHEET KEY

EGRESS PATH

EXIT LIGHT

FE

FE
"K"

FIRE EXTINGUISHER

FIRE EXTINGUISHER TYPE "K"

AREAS OF 
ADDITION

AREAS OF 
ALTERATION

OUTLINE OF AREA PROHIBITED 
DURING CONSTRUCTION DUE 
TO EXCEEDING EXIT DISTANCE

A.O.R. AREA OF REFUGE

E.A.A.R. EXTERIOR AREA FOR 
ASSISTED RESCUE

LOT LINE PER IBC TABLE 602 
PER 706.5.1 (2). EXISTING 
WALLS ALL >1 HOUR 
ASSEMBLY PER IBC CHAPTER 7

STAIRS
LL-141

STAIRS
LL-124

MALE LOCKER
ROOM
LL-129

W
R

ES
TL

IN
G

 /
AC

TI
VI

TY
 R

O
O

M
LL

-1
36

FITNESS ROOM
LL-104 ST

O
RA

G
E

LL
-1

05

ELEV.
EL-1

ADDITION A
5,211 SQ. FT.  (LOWER LEVEL)

1,513 SQ. FT. ALTERATIONS
(LOWER LEVEL)

TOTAL EXIT DISTANCE 70FT

FE

FE

FE

FE

FE

FE

DF

DF

DF

DF

DF

STORAGE
LL-132

STORAGE
LL-135

STORAGE
LL-139

SPORTS
STORAGE

LL-115

ELECTRICAL
LL-116

1 OCC

1 OCC

1 OCC

1 OCC

1 OCC
1 OCC1 OCC1 OCC

6 OCC

4 OCC

3 OCC

4 OCC

23 OCC

2 OCC2 OCC

60 OCC

35 OCC

87 TOTAL OCC EXISTING LOWER LEVEL - 3 EXITS - 87/3 = 29 PER EXIT

EXIT A2

EXIT A3
LL-ATRIUM

LL-101 LAUNDRY
LL-120

(EXISTING, NO CHANGE IN OCCUPANCY)

10
' -

 0
"

KITCHEN PREP
B-3035

BOYS PE LOCKER
RM

B-015

GIRLS PE
LOCKER RM

B-019

MIDDLE SCHOOL
CLASSROOM

C-122

FABRICATION
LAB

F-312

MEDIA CENTER
E-218

HIGH SCHOOL
COLLABORATION

E-220

PHYSICAL
SCIENCE

C-401

GYMNASIUM
A-528

4117 SF

COMMONS
D-421

ART ROOM
F-313

MIDDLE SCHOOL
COLLABORATION

C-132

BAND
D-418

METALS SHOP
F-326

STEAM LAB /
WOODS

F-319

STAGE
D-420

OFFICE AND
RECEPTION

C-102

ADDITION A
1,497 SQ. FT. (UPPER LEVEL FLOOR 
AREA ONLY COUNTED IN SQ. FT. )

ADDITION C
5,550 SQ. FT.

UPPER ATRIUM
A-100

ELEV.
EL-1

EXIT DISTANCES FROM 
GYMNASIUM AND ADDITION A ALL 
UNDER 200 FT PER IBC 1017.2

EXIT DISTANCES FROM ADDITION C 
UNDER 200 FT PER IBC 1017.2. 

FEFEFE

FE FE

FE

FE

FE

FE

FE

FEFE

FE

FE

FE

FEFE

FE

FE

FE

FE

FE

FE

FE
"K"

FE

FE

FE

FE

FE

DF

DF

DF
DF

DF

DF
DF

DF

DF

DF

FE

FE

FE

FE

269 SF

STORAGE
A-104

<10% OF
AREA A sf
NO SEPARATION REQ'D.
PER 508.2.4.

18 OCC

1 OCC1 OCC

18 OCC

1 OCC 1 OCC 2 OCC

1 OCC

4 OCC

2 OCC

1 OCC

1 OCC

1 OCC

1 OCC

1 OCC

1 OCC

1 OCC

1 OCC

57 TOTAL OCC 
LOCKER/KITCHEN AREA

80 OCC

1 OCC

1 OCC
1 OCC

8 OCC 1 OCC 1 OCC 1 OCC

1 OCC 2 OCC

7 OCC

31 OCC

8 OCC

50 OCC

30 OCC 3 OCC

28 OCC35 OCC

29 OCC

28 OCC

1 OCC

45 OCC45 OCC

1 OCC

1 OCC

34 OCC

240 TOTAL OCC 2 EXITS

146 TOTAL OCC 2 EXITS

5'
 - 

0"

FE

OPEN
TO 

BELOW

EXTERIOR AREA FOR
ASSISTED RESCUE

EXIT A1

EXIT C1

EXIT C2

EXIT E1

EXIT E2

EXIT F1EXIT F2

EXIT F3

EXIT D1EXIT D2EXIT D3

EXIT B1

EXIT B2

EXIT B3

STAIR S1

( 2 ) AREAS OF REFUGE WITH
TWO-WAY COMMUNICATION
PER 1009.2.

4114 x 0.7 / 7 sf = 411 occ.

A.
R

.

A.
R

.

E.A.A.R.

OPEN
TO 

BELOW

10
' -

 0
"

10
' -

 0
"

10' - 0"

10
' -

 0
"

DF

A C E

F
D

B

KEY PLAN

BUILDING DATA SUMMARY:
APPLICABLE CODES:

Building, Accessibility, and Life Safety:
• 2015 IBC and IEBC as modified per Wisconsin SPS 362
• 2013 ASHRAE 90.1 (Energy Compliance) per SPS 

363.0401(1)
• 2009 ICC/ANSI A117.1
Fire Protection: 
• 2009 IFC
Plumbing:
• 2009 IPC as modified per Wisconsin SPS 381 through 387
HVAC:
• 2015 IMC as modified per Wisconsin SPS 364
• 2015 IFGC as modified per Wisconsin SPS 365
Electrical:
• 2011 NEC as modified per Wisconsin SPS 316

BUILDING OCCUPANCIES (IBC CH. 3)
PRIMARY
• E Education

SECONDARY
• E (A-2) Cafeteria / Commons (per IBC 303.1, exc. 4)
• E (A-3) Gymnasium, Fitness (per IBC 303.1, exc. 4)
• B Administrative Offices
• S-1 Storage / Mechanical

IBC CH. 4 - SPECIAL DETAILED REQ'TS.
• ATRIUM
• 404.3, exception 1:

Atrium not sprinklered.
Separate by 2-hour fire barrier.

• 404.4:  Provide Fire Alarm.
• 404.5:  Smoke Control:  no smoke control system required 

due to only connecting two stories.

IBC CH. 5 - BUILDING AREA

SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF BUILDING AREAS

Two building additions totaling approximately 12,258 square feet:
• A new North main entry leading into a new administration 

area with offices, conference rooms and work areas; approx. 
5550 square feet.

• A fitness addition; approx. 6708 square feet.
• Create new two-story entry from west parking lot 

including open stairway to second level and 
elevator serving existing locker rooms area and 
main floor of school

• Create new school and community fitness center 
with separate entrance that can be open without 
opening the entire school

• Create changing rooms and locker area for 
community members to use fitness center

• Allow for future addition of fitness mezzanine inside 
new fitness center

• Old weight room area is available for storage and 
other uses

Several remodeled programmed areas:
• Shop area
• Stage/ Commons area
• Special Education
• Collaboration area
• Administration Area
• Middle School
• Science area

THE EXISTING SCHOOL'S SQUARE FOOTAGE DOES NOT 
ALLOW ADDITIONAL SQ. FT. WITHOUT SEPARATION. 
THEREFORE FIRE WALLS WILL BE UTILIZED TO COMPLETELY 
SEPARATE THE NEW ADDITIONS FROM THE EXISTING 
BUILDING.

Existing High School, first floor:              93,261 sf
Level 2 Alterations, first floor:              26,966 sf
Level 2 percentage (<50% required):             = 28.9%

Existing High School, lower level:                           11,678 sf
Level 2 Alterations, lower level:                             1,513 sf
Level 2 percentage (<50% required):           = 12.8%

Building Addition A:                            5,211 + 1,497 = 6,708 sf
Building Addition C:                    5,550 sf
Total Addition Area: = 12,258 sf

TOTAL EXISTING AREA:          93,261 + 11,678 = 104,939 sf
TOTAL ADDITION AREA:                12,258 sf
TOTAL SQ. FT.:                                                       117,197 sf

IBC CH. 6 - BUILDING CLASS OF CONSTRUCTION
• Type IIB

IBC CH. 7 - FIRE AND SMOKE PROTECTION
• Table 706.4 Fire Wall Fire-Resistance Ratings, note a. In 

Type II or V Construction, walls shall be permitted to have a 
2-hour fire-resistance rating.

• 706.2 New Additions are structurally separated from the 
existing building.

• 706.5: Fire walls terminate at interior surface of 
noncombustible finish, provided noncombustible finish 
extends not less than 4 feet both sides of the fire wall.

• 713.4: Elevator shaft 1-hour fire barrier.
• TABLE 508.2  ACCESSORY Occupancy

1. Storage S-1:
No Rating < 10% Floor Area

• 1403.5 Vertical and lateral flame propagation. Exterior walls 
are under 40ft and fall under exception 1 materials.

IBC CH. 9 - FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS
• New Additions: Not sprinklered

1. Addition A (A-3 Occupancy) non sprinklered per 
IBC 903.2.1.3

2. Addition C (B Occupancy) non sprinklered per IBC 
table 506.2 area limitations not being exceeded.

• Existing Building: Not sprinklered per IEBC 804.2.2 exc. 2

IBC CH. 11 - ACCESSIBILITY
• New construction and all Level 2 Alterations meet all 

accessibility requirements per IBC Chapter 11 and ANSI 
A117.1 (2009 edition).

IECC - ENERGY CODE
• COMCheck used for energy compliance. Code 90.1 (2013) 

Standard.

SHEET NUMBER:

SHEET TITLE:

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

COPYRIGHT © 2019:
HOFFMAN PLANNING, DESIGN & 
CONSTRUCTION, INC.

CAD DWG FILE:

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED:

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

CONSTRUCTION SET
9/7/2022 10:56:58 AM C:\Users\jandres\Desktop\18268 HS-Arch-18 Central.rvt

2-GI-101

CODE PLANS

KDP

DGG

18268

2019-07-08

PA
R

T 
2 

-M
AN

AW
A 

M
ID

D
LE

 / 
H

IG
H

 S
C

H
O

O
L

M
AN

AW
A 

EL
EM

EN
TA

R
Y 

SC
H

O
O

L 
-A

LT
ER

AT
IO

N
S

M
AN

AW
A 

M
ID

D
LE

/H
IG

H
 S

C
H

O
O

L 
-A

D
D

IT
IO

N
S 

& 
AL

TE
R

AT
IO

N
S

51
5 

E.
 4

th
 S

TR
EE

T
M

AN
AW

A,
 W

I 5
49

49

SCALE 1" = 20'-0"2 LOWER LEVEL CODE PLAN - AREA A

SCALE 1" = 20'-0"1 FIRST FLOOR CODE PLAN

PLAN
NORTH

PLAN
NORTH

GYMNASIUM
OCCUPANT LOAD 1048 PER LOCAL BUILDING OFFICIAL.
1048 OCC. X .2" / OCC. = 210" EXIT WIDTH REQUIRED.
MIN. (4) EXITS REQ'D PER 1006.2.1.1
(16) 34.5" DOOR OPENINGS PROVIDED = 552"
DISTRIBUTED PER 1007.1.2.

697 OCC. TO EAST DOORS.
117 OCC. TO S.E. DOORS.
117 OCC. TO S.W. DOORS.
117 OCC. TO N.W. DOORS.

EXIT A1 - FIRST FLOOR
117 OCCUPANTS
REQUIRED EXIT WIDTH:  117 OCC. X .2" / OCC. = 24".
PROVIDED:   (1) 34.5" DOOR OPENINGS = 34.5"

EXIT A2 - LOWER LEVEL
30 OCCUPANTS
REQUIRED EXIT WIDTH:  30 OCC. X .2" / OCC. = 6".
PROVIDED:  (1) 34.5" DOOR OPENING = 34.5"

EXIT A3 - LOWER LEVEL:
295 OCCUPANTS
(265 FIRST FLOOR, 30 LOWER LEVEL)
REQUIRED EXIT WIDTH:  295 OCC. X .2" / OCC. = 59".
PROVIDED:  (4) 34.5" DOOR OPENINGS = 138".

EXIT C1 FIRST FLOOR:
1012 OCCUPANTS
(700 GYM, 195 CLASSROOMS, 95 COMMONS, 10 STAGE, 12 NEW ADDITION).
REQUIRED EXIT WIDTH:  1012 OCC. X .2" / OCC. = 203".
PROVIDED:  (8) 34.5" DOOR OPENINGS = 276".

EXIT C2 FIRST FLOOR:
207 OCCUPANTS
(12 NEW ADDITION, 195 CLASSROOMS,)
REQUIRED EXIT WIDTH:  207 OCC. X .2" / OCC. = 42".
PROVIDED:  (2) 34.5" DOOR OPENINGS = 69".

EXITS E1, E2, F1, F2, D1, D2, D3, B1, B2 AND B3 ALL FIRST FLOOR:
NO ADDITIONAL OCCUPANT LOAD.
EXISTING EXITS TO REMAIN.

STAIR S1
205 OCCUPANTS
(117 GYM, 18 KITCHEN / LOCKERS, 63 COMMONS,  7 STAGE)
REQUIRED STAIR WIDTH:  201 OCC. X .3" / OCC. = 62".
PROVIDED:  91".

EGRESS WIDTH CALCULATIONS

LAV= LAVATORY
WC= WATER CLOSET
UR= URINAL
DF= DRINKING FOUNTAIN

• ADDITION A - 60 PERSON CAPACITY -
REQ'D:         2 WC, 2 LAV'S, 1 DF
PROVIDED: 3 WC, 3 LAV'S, 2 DF

• ADDITION C - 20 PERSON CAPACITY -
REQ'D:          1 WC, 1 LAV
PROVIDED:  2 WC'S, 4 LAV'S

NO ADDITIONAL DRINKING FOUNTAINS REQUIRED.

• MIDDLE SCHOOL ALTERATION AREA - 50 ADDITIONAL STUDENTS + 4 STAFF.
25 MALES:
REQ'D:         1 WC, 1 LAV
PROVIDED: 2 WC, 2 UR, 3 LAV'S

25 FEMALES:
REQ'D:          1 WC. 1 LAV'S
PROVIDED:  4 WC, 3 LAV'S

STAFF:
REQ'D: 1WC, 1 LAV
PROVIDED: 1 WC, 1 LAV

REQ'D:  1 DF
PROVIDED:  1 DF

• HIGH SCHOOL ALTERATION AREA - NO ADDITIONAL STUDENTS OR STAFF.
FEMALES:
REQ'D: NONE
PROVIDED: 3WC, 3 LAV

MALES:
REQ'D: NONE
PROVIDED: 2WC, 1 UR, 3 LAV

STAFF
REQ'D: NONE
PROVIDED: 2 WC, 2 LAV

IBC CH. 29 - PLUMBING SYSTEMS

MARK DATE
AD1 2019-07-11







   

 | Page  

     The Community Advantage 

 

 

Risk Management Playground Survey Summary 
 

Prepared For:  Carmen O’Brien, Business Manager 

Prepared By:     Jodi Traas, CPSI, Director of Education & Risk Services 

Date of Visit:      September 6, 2022 

         Purpose of Visit:   Manawa Elementary School Playground Safety Survey 

         Attendees: Dr. Melanie Oppor, Danni Brauer, Arty Pethke, Diane Teuscher, Carmen 

O’Brien 

Enclosed:  CPSC Handbook for Public Playgrounds 

    Loss Control Recommendations & Areas of Success 

     

     

 

Discussion Overview 

 

Thank you to the staff for taking the time to walk through the playground to review the observations 

with me last week as well as review the successes of the safety survey.  I parked at the front of the 

elementary school and proceeded to walk around the side of the building without checking into the 

office or obtaining a visitor pass.  I carried a red duffle bag, the playground inspection kit.  I 

approached the playground and entered onto the blacktop area during the second recess.  I hung out on 

the black top area for roughly ten minutes talking with students before entering the play equipment 

area.  After five minutes near the play equipment a Kindergarten teacher approached me and asked if 

she could help me.  I explained I was meeting with Carmen.  She offered to take me to Carmen and I 

asked if she could radio Carmen.  She had her radio with her, but it was not charged enough to call.  I 

then inquired if another staff member could contact Carmen with their radio.  She was a special 

education staff member and stated her radio channel could not reach Carmen or the office.  Finally, 

there was a student teacher who had her radio, and she called the office to let her know of my arrival.   

 

During the last lunch recess of the day, I also arrived unannounced, without a visitor badge, and in 

time the math specialist approached me as well and began talking with me.  I asked her if she was 

aware of who I might be, and she stated she thought I was the photographer coming to take photos.   

 

 

 



   

 | Page  

     The Community Advantage 

 

The playground supervisors were attentive, kind and 

addressed situations with the students as they arose.  

The light blue matching t-shirts, the kinder crew, worn 

by staff were not only fun but adorable and a cohesive 

team! 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Playground Supervision Loss Control Recommendations: 

 

2022-1: Playground Supervisors should wear yellow or reflective vests to allow students or other staff 

members to find them quickly on the playground in the case of an emergency.  

 

2022-2: Playground Supervisors should spread out to cover the entire play area and practice “zoning”.  

Constant movement/rotation around the play area to ensure the area is covered and all play areas in use 

are properly supervised.  During both recesses observed, supervisors were located near the play 

equipment only.  While this is centrally located, students often hid around the corner of the building 

and sat under the tree up on the hill from the blacktop.  The constant movement will allow supervisors 

to hear conversations and address any bullying or inappropriate behaviors taking place.  An example 

of zoning is moving from the blacktop to the play equipment and then to the side field where football 

was being played.   

 

2022-3: Immediately address strangers on the playground by determining if they have a visitor badge 

and calling the office via the radio to inform the office of an unknown person on the playground.  

Make sure all radios are fully charged for the day and supervisors are carrying the radios out to the 

playground.  Train staff on the new frequencies of the radios.  There seem to be some confusion with 

how to contact the office since receiving the new radios.   

 

During my playground safety surveys, I rarely find that almost all playground pieces are played upon.  

At Manawa Elementary, students were optimizing the play equipment and utilizing almost all pieces 

of play equipment as well as the blacktop area and grassy area.  I would first like to comment on the 

condition and maintenance of the play equipment.  The age of the pieces varies; however, the 

equipment has been very well maintained and maintenance issues are addressed timely and swiftly.  

This is a great compliment to the facility staff and administration that there is not missing bolts, etc. 

observed. 



   

 | Page  

     The Community Advantage 

 

 

 

Playground Maintenance Loss Control Recommendations: 

 

Melanie, Danni, Arty & Diane, all joined me to review the concerns noted below following the survey.  

The playground equipment is very well maintained.  This is a credit to the facilities staff.   

 

2022-4:  Conduct monthly inspections on the play equipment and document these inspections.  This is 

an essential risk management practice should a serious injury occur, and a potential liability claim 

arise.   

 

2022-5:  Identify all equipment by age designation.  Place stickers on the equipment showing the age 

designation such as 2-5 years or 5-12 years for the community to be aware of the age groups.  This is 

also essential so 4K students do not play on equipment designed for older students.   

 

2022-6:  Head Entrapment Hazards are serious and three were noted on the day of the survey.  CPSC 

Handbook, (pages 51-52).  Head entrapment is a completely bounded opening between 3.5”-9”.   

 

 

 
 

1) The first was found on the Playworld Systems.  This may be adjusted by moving the bottom portion 

upward and reducing the opening to less than 3.5” which is currently allowing the torso probe to 

enter through and restricting the head probe access, hence causing a head entrapment.  This is a high 

hazard.  

2) The second was found on the Little Tikes Equipment. This head entrapment may also be adjusted 

since the protective barrier/guardrail was placed over by one slot/hole making the head entrapment. 

3) The third was found on a bench/storage unit placed inside the play area. Benches are not covered 

under play equipment standards, however, once placed in the play area are expected to follow the 



   

 | Page  

     The Community Advantage 

 

guidelines.  More importantly, it has a life-threatening hazard, so removal of the bench is 

recommended.  Please do not use the bench in another area where young children may be present.   

 

 

 
 

2022-7:  The Playworld Systems piece of equipment is missing a piece attaching the two pieces of 

equipment.  Staff removed the damaged piece and placed barriers so there is no fall hazard.  Using 

manufacturer hardware and pieces is always recommended.  Contact Playworld Systems to determine 

what the cost of replacement parts for this piece of equipment to determine next steps.   

 

             
 

2022-8:  Remove parallel bars since gymnastics equipment is not recommended for public playgrounds.        

Spotters are not on the playground and multiple students may utilize the bars at one time.   

 



   

 | Page  

     The Community Advantage 

 

      
 

2022-9:  One playground piece of equipment I had difficulty finding who was the manufacturer.  Perhaps   

someone else will have better luck?  There are pieces of hardware that stick out and are sharp to the 

touch.  If possible, rotate/move this rectangular hardware inward so that the sharp corners do not stick 

out.   

 

     
   

2022-10:  Burke Swings:  The support pole indicates the surface material (wood chips) should be at a 

higher level.  Falls to the surface are responsible for 68% of all injuries.  Replenish these surface 

materials annually to maintain the proper depth.  Obtain documentation from the supplier of playground 

surfacing materials to ensure they comply with ASTM F1292 Playground Safety Surfacing Standard, 

ASTM F2075 Engineered Wood Fiber, or ASTM F1951 Accessibility if applicable.  Great Burke matts 

placed underneath so as not to displace playground surface materials. 

 

Consider placing the swings at different heights to accommodate various students. Delighted to see 

accessible swing in bay. 

 



   

 | Page  

     The Community Advantage 

 

     
 

  2022-11:  Little Tikes Play Equipment missing hardware.  Replace missing hardware.   

 

 

     
 

 



   

 | Page  

     The Community Advantage 

 

     

     



   

 | Page  

     The Community Advantage 

 

        
 

 

2022-12:  Little Tikes Play Equipment Steps/Surface hazard.  The coating on the steps/platforms of this 

equipment is peeling away and has allowed corrosion and decreased structural integrity.  This is found 

throughout the entire piece of play equipment where the coating is in place on the steps, bridge, and 

platform. The peeling can cause a trip hazard, sharp at times exposing the metal, corrosion and one 

bottom step metal structural integrity is in serious condition.  Recommend contacting the manufacturer 

regarding the condition of this equipment to determine cost and any steps available to replace these 

portions.  Corrosion has also begun on the tan protective barrier noted above this step.  The manufacturer 

will also be able to give the district the time frame of the age of the equipment and life span.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 | Page  

     The Community Advantage 

 

      

School Security 

 

 

 
          

    Excellent school security practices were noted from outside of the school building.   

 Every external door was locked.  The front door was unlocked, however, once inside the 

vestibule I was unable to enter the elementary school building. I attempted to enter an outside 

door and students did not let me in the door even though I shook the door and waited for them 

to come and open the door.  They had even seen me speaking with staff out on the playground 

prior to this time so were familiar with my presence.   

 All doors and windows were identified with letters and numbers and easy to read from the 

outside and inside of the building.   

 Doors have good visitor signage directing visitors to the front entrance.   



   

 | Page  

     The Community Advantage 

 

 Visitor badges are on easily identifiable lanyards so that staff may quickly notice if a visitor is 

wearing the badge.   

 Visitor badges are kept away from the sign-in log so they may not be just grabbed and used 

without proper sign-in.  Badges are numbered and school secretary ensures they are returned 

and keeps track.   

 Vestibules had shovels, brooms, and salt ready for inclement weather and to assist in reducing 

slips and falls. 

 Please note:  Classroom doors were not checked to see if in the closed and locked position, 

however, this is recommended following the Sandy Hook Commission report.   

 Traffic Control Procedure Observed.  I was present at the end of the school day and observed 

the Principal, Danni, not releasing the school buses to leave until parent pick-up was complete.  

This is an excellent practice. Bus pick-up is in a separate location in the back of the school 

building, roadway and separate from the parent pick-up in the front of the building also 

reducing exposure to incidents.   

 

 

   Security Loss Control Recommendations: 

 

2022-13:  Several staff observed me walking in the hall with my duffel bag, no visitor badge or school 

personnel accompanying my presence.  I was not stopped to ask if I may be assisted to the office or office 

alerted to my presence in the building.  Any person without a visitor badge, known or unknown to staff, 

must be addressed in the building according to the district policy.   

 

2022-14:  Consider lunchroom breakaway lanyards to be worn by students.  While students return the 

lanyards after scanning them for lunch the lanyards can be a choking hazard.   

 

 

Thank you for all your time during my visit last week.  I look forward to answering any additional 

questions of the Building & Grounds Committee this evening or any others that may arise after perusal of 

my report.  Please do not hesitate to reach out with any questions while I understand we reviewed much of 

this information last week, there is incredible amount of information. 

 

    Have a great and safe day, 

 

     Jodi L. Traas 

 
 



U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission
Saving Lives and Keeping Families Safe

Public Playground
Safety Handbook



December 29, 2015

The U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission’s (“CPSC” or “Commission”) Public Playground 
Safety Handbook was first published in 1981 under the name A Handbook for Public Playground Safety. 
The recommendations in the Handbook are focused on playground-related injuries and mechanical 
mechanisms of injury; falls from playground equipment have remained the largest single hazard pattern 
associated with playground use. Since the first edition, the Commission has included recommendations 
that playgrounds not be installed over concrete, asphalt, or paved surfaces to address serious head injuries 
due to falls from the equipment. Additionally, the Commission has made suggestions for commonly 
used loose-fill and unitary surfacing materials (e.g., wood mulch, pea gravel, sand, gym mats, and 
shredded/recycled rubber mulch) that provide head impact attenuation and can mitigate the hazard 
presented by falls from playground equipment. Maintaining the focus on falls, the Handbook’s surfacing 
recommendations are based on the surfacing material’s energy absorbing effectiveness.

During the past 35 years, innovations in technology have led to new playground equipment and surfacing 
practices. Voluntary standards for equipment and impact attenuation for protective surfacing have 
evolved. The 2010 edition of the Handbook, the most recent version, still discusses common materials, 
but also covers new surfacing systems that are specifically designed and tested to comply with ASTM 
F1292, the voluntary standard for measuring impact attenuation of surfacing. Maintaining that focus, 
Section 2.4 of the Handbook identifies shredded/recycled rubber mulch as an “Appropriate Surfacing” 
product, given that this product can meet the impact attenuation requirements of ASTM F1292, as long 
as minimum depths of the material are maintained, as specified in Table 2 of Section 2.5. This notation is 
solely focused on the impact attenuation to minimize serious head injuries, and not on other aspects that 
may pose other risks, such as chemical exposure or ingestion.

U.S. CONSUMER PRODUCT SAFETY COMMISSION
4330 EAST WEST HIGHWAY

BETHESDA, MD  20814



TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page No.

1. Introduction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
1.1 Scope . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
1.2 Intended Audience . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
1.3 What is a Public Playground? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
1.4 Public Playground Safety Voluntary Standards and CPSC Handbook History . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
1.4.1 ASTM playground standards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
1.5 Significant Revisions for 2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
1.5.1 Equipment guidelines . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
1.5.2 Surfacing guidelines . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
1.5.3 General guidelines . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
1.5.4 Other revisions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
1.6 Background . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
1.7 Playground Injuries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3
1.8 Definitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

2 General Playground Considerations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
2.1 Selecting a Site . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
2.1.1 Shading considerations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
2.2 Playground Layout . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
2.2.1 Accessibility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6
2.2.2 Age separation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6
2.2.3 Age group . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6
2.2.4 Conflicting activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6
2.2.5 Sight lines . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6
2.2.6 Signage and/or labeling . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6
2.2.7 Supervision . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7
2.3 Selecting Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8
2.3.1 Equipment not recommended . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8
2.4 Surfacing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8
2.4.1 Equipment not covered by protective surfacing recommendations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8
2.4.2 Selecting a surfacing material . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
2.5 Equipment Materials . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10
2.5.1 Durability and finish . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10
2.5.2 Hardware . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11
2.5.3 Metals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12
2.5.4 Paints and finishes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12
2.5.5 Wood . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12
2.6 Assembly and Installation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13

3 Playground Hazards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14
3.1 Crush and Shearing Points . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14
3.2 Entanglement and Impalement . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14
3.2.1 Strings and ropes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14
3.3 Entrapment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15
3.3.1 Head entrapment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15
3.3.2 Partially bound openings and angles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16
3.4 Sharp Points, Corners, and Edges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16
3.5 Suspended Hazards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16

PUBLICATION #325 • NOVEMBER 2010



Handbook for Public Playground Safety

3.6 Tripping Hazards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16
3.7 Used Tires . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17

4 Maintaining a Playground . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18
4.1 Maintenance Inspections . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18
4.2 Repairs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18
4.3 Maintaining Loose-Fill Surfacing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18
4.4 Recordkeeping . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19

5 Parts of the Playground . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20
5.1 Platforms, Guardrails and Protective Barriers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20
5.1.1 Platforms . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20
5.1.2 Stepped platforms . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20
5.1.3 Guardrails and protective barriers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20
5.2 Access Methods to Play Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22
5.2.1 Ramps, stairways, rung ladders, and step ladders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23
5.2.2 Rungs and other hand gripping components . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24
5.2.3 Handrails . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24
5.2.4 Transition from access to platform . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24
5.3 Major Types of Playground Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24
5.3.1 Balance beams . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24
5.3.2 Climbing and upper body equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24
5.3.3 Log rolls . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30
5.3.4 Merry-go-rounds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30
5.3.5 Seesaws . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31
5.3.6 Slides . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32
5.3.7 Spring rockers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36
5.3.8 Swings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37
5.3.9 Fall height and use zones for composite structure . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41
5.3.10 Fall height and use zones not specified elsewhere . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41

APPENDICES

A Appendix A: Suggested General Maintenance Checklist . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43

B Appendix B: Playground Testing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45
B.1 Templates, Gauges, and Testing Tools . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45
B.2 Test Methods . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49
B.2.1 Determining whether a projection is a protrusion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49
B.2.2 Projections on suspended members of swing assemblies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49
B.2.3 Projections on slides . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49
B.2.4 Entrapment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 51
B.2.5 Test fixtures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52



1. INTRODUCTION

In recent years, it is estimated that there were more than
200,000 injuries annually on public playgrounds across
the country that required emergency room treatment. By
following the recommended guidelines in this handbook,
you and your community can create a safer playground
environment for all children and contribute to the reduc-
tion of playground-related deaths and injuries.

1.1 Scope

This handbook presents safety information for public play-
ground equipment in the form of guidelines. Publication of
this handbook is expected to promote greater safety aware-
ness among those who purchase, install, and maintain public
playground equipment. Because many factors may affect
playground safety, the U.S. Consumer Product Safety
Commission (CPSC) staff believes that guidelines, rather
than a mandatory rule, are appropriate. These guidelines are
not being issued as the sole method to minimize injuries
associated with playground equipment. However, the
Commission believes that the recommendations in this
handbook along with the technical information in the
ASTM standards for public playgrounds will contribute to
greater playground safety.

Some states and local jurisdictions may require compliance
with this handbook and/or ASTM voluntary standards.
Additionally, risk managers, insurance companies, or others
may require compliance at a particular site; check with
state/local jurisdictions and insurance companies for specific
requirements.

1.2 Intended Audience

This handbook is intended for use by childcare personnel,
school officials, parks and recreation personnel, equipment
purchasers and installers, playground designers, and any
other members of the general public (e.g., parents and school
groups) concerned with public playground safety and inter-
ested in evaluating their respective playgrounds. Due to the
wide range of possible users, some information provided may
be more appropriate for certain users than others. The
voluntary standards listed in 1.4.1 contain more technical
requirements than this handbook and are primarily intended
for use by equipment manufacturers, architects, designers,
and any others requiring more technical information.

1.3 What is a Public Playground?

“Public” playground equipment refers to equipment for use
by children ages 6 months through 12 years in the play-
ground areas of:

• Commercial (non-residential) child care facilities

• Institutions

• Multiple family dwellings, such as apartment and condo-
minium buildings

• Parks, such as city, state, and community maintained
parks

• Restaurants

• Resorts and recreational developments

• Schools

• Other areas of public use

These guidelines are not intended for amusement park
equipment, sports or fitness equipment normally intended
for users over the age of 12 years, soft contained play equip-
ment, constant air inflatable play devices for home use, art
and museum sculptures (not otherwise designed, intended
and installed as playground equipment), equipment found
in water play facilities, or home playground equipment.
Equipment components intended solely for children with
disabilities and modified to accommodate such users also are
not covered by these guidelines. Child care facilities, espe-
cially indoor, should refer to ASTM F2373 — Standard
Consumer Safety Performance Specification for Public Use Play
Equipment for Children 6 Months Through 23 Months, for
more guidance on areas unique to their facilities.

1.4 Public Playground Safety Voluntary
Standards and CPSC Handbook
History

• 1981 – First CPSC Handbook for Public Playground Safety
was published, a two-volume set.

• 1991 – Standard Specification for Impact Attenuation of
Surface Systems Under and Around Playground Equipment,
ASTM F1292, was first published.

• 1991 – Two-volume set was replaced by a single-volume
handbook, which contained recommendations based on a
COMSIS Corporation report to the CPSC (Development
of Human Factors Criteria for Playground Equipment Safety).

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

1



2

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

• F2049 Standard Guide for Fences/Barriers for Public,
Commercial, and Multi-Family Residential Use Outdoor Play
Areas.

• F1148 Standard Consumer Safety Performance Specification
for Home Playground Equipment.

• F1918 Standard Safety Performance Specification for Soft
Contained Play Equipment.

1.5 Significant Revisions for 2008

1.5.1 Equipment guidelines

• Age ranges expanded to include children as young as 6
months based on ASTM F2373

• Guidelines for track rides and log rolls added

• Exit zone requirements for slides harmonized with ASTM
F1487

1.5.2 Surfacing guidelines

• Critical height table revised

• Suggestions for surfacing over asphalt added

1.5.3 General guidelines

• Suggestions on sun exposure added

1.5.4 Other revisions

• Editorial changes to make the Handbook easier to under-
stand and use

1.6 Background

The safety of each individual piece of playground equipment
as well as the layout of the entire play area should be consid-
ered when designing or evaluating a playground for safety.
Since falls are a very common playground hazard pattern,
the installation and maintenance of protective surfacing
under and around all equipment is crucial to protect chil-
dren from severe head injuries.

Because all playgrounds present some challenge and because
children can be expected to use equipment in unintended
and unanticipated ways, adult supervision is highly recom-
mended. The handbook provides some guidance on supervi-
sory practices that adults should follow. Appropriate equip-
ment design, layout, and maintenance, as discussed in this

• 1993 – First version of voluntary standard for public play-
ground equipment, ASTM F1487 — Standard Consumer
Safety Performance Specification for Playground Equipment
for Public Use, was published (revisions occur every 3 to 4
years).

• 1994 – Minor revisions to the Handbook.

• 1997 – Handbook was updated based on (1) staff review
of ASTM F1487, (2) playground safety roundtable meet-
ing held October 1996, and (3) public comment received
to a May 1997 CPSC staff request.

• 2005 – First version of voluntary standard for playground
equipment intended for children under two years old,
ASTM F2373 — Standard Consumer Safety Performance
Specification for Public Use Play Equipment for Children 6
Months Through 23 Months, was published.

• 2008 – Handbook was updated based on comments
received from members of the ASTM F15 Playground
Committees in response to a CPSC staff request for sug-
gested revisions. Significant revisions are listed below.

1.4.1 ASTM playground standards

Below is a list of ASTM technical performance standards
that relate to playgrounds.

• F1487 Standard Consumer Safety Performance Specification
for Playground Equipment for Public Use.

• F2373 Standard Consumer Safety Performance Specification
for Public Use Play Equipment for Children 6 Months through
23 Months.

• F1292 Standard Specification for Impact Attenuation of
Surface Systems Under and Around Playground Equipment.

• F2075 Standard Specification for Engineered Wood Fiber for
Use as a Playground Safety Surface Under and Around
Playground Equipment.

• F2223 Standard Guide for ASTM Standards on Playground
Surfacing.

• F2479 Standard Guide for Specification, Purchase,
Installation and Maintenance of Poured-In-Place Playground
Surfacing.

• F1951 Standard Specification for Determination of
Accessibility of Surface Systems Under and Around
Playground Equipment.

• F1816 Standard Safety Specification for Drawstrings on
Children's Upper Outerwear.



1O’Brien, Craig W.; Injuries and Investigated Deaths Associated with Playground Equipment, 2001–2008. U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission:
Washington DC, October, 2009.

3

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

1.7 Playground Injuries

The U. S. Consumer Product Safety Commission has long
recognized the potential hazards that exist with the use of
playground equipment, with over 200,000 estimated emer-
gency room-treated injuries annually. The most recent study
of 2,691 playground equipment-related incidents reported to
the CPSC from 2001-2008 indicated that falls are the most
common hazard pattern (44% of injuries) followed by
equipment-related hazards, such as breakage, tip over,
design, and assembly (23%).1 Other hazard patterns involved
entrapment and colliding other children or stationary
equipment. Playground-related deaths reported to the
Commission involved entanglement of ropes, leashes, or
clothing; falls; and impact from equipment tip over or struc-
tural failure.

The recommendations in this handbook have been devel-
oped to address the hazards that resulted in playground-
related injuries and deaths. The recommendations include
those that address:

• The potential for falls from and impact with equipment

• The need for impact attenuating protective surfacing
under and around equipment

• Openings with the potential for head entrapment

• The scale of equipment and other design features related
to user age and layout of equipment on a playground

• Installation and maintenance procedures

• General hazards presented by protrusions, sharp edges,
and crush or shear points

1.8 Definitions

Barrier — An enclosing device around an elevated platform
that is intended to prevent both inadvertent and deliberate
attempts to pass through the device.

Composite Structure — Two or more play structures
attached or functionally linked, to create one integral unit
that provides more than one play activity.

Critical Height — The fall height below which a life-threat-
ening head injury would not be expected to occur.

handbook, are also essential for increasing public playground
safety.

A playground should allow children to develop gradually and
test their skills by providing a series of graduated challenges.
The challenges presented should be appropriate for age-
related abilities and should be ones that children can per-
ceive and choose to undertake. Toddlers, preschool- and
school-age children differ dramatically, not only in physical
size and ability, but also in their intellectual and social skills.
Therefore, age-appropriate playground designs should
accommodate these differences with regard to the type,
scale, and the layout of equipment. Recommendations
throughout this handbook address the different needs of tod-
dlers, preschool-age, and school-age children; “toddlers”
refers to children ages 6 months through 2 years of age,
“preschool-age” refers to children 2 through 5 years, and
“school-age” refers to children 5 through 12 years. The over-
lap between these groups is anticipated in terms of play-
ground equipment use and provides for a margin of safety.

Playground designers, installers and operators should be
aware that the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990
(ADA) is a comprehensive civil rights law which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of disability. Titles II and III of
the ADA require, among other things, that newly construct-
ed and altered State and local government facilities, places
of public accommodation, and commercial facilities be readi-
ly accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities.
Recreation facilities, including play areas, are among the
types of facilities covered by titles II and III of the ADA.

The Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance
Boards – also referred to as the “Access Board” – has devel-
oped accessibility guidelines for newly constructed and
altered play areas that were published October 2000. The
play area guidelines are a supplement to the Americans with
Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines (ADAAG). Once
these guidelines are adopted as enforceable standards by the
Department of Justice, all newly constructed and altered
play areas covered by the ADA will be required to comply.
These guidelines also apply to play areas covered by the
Architectural Barriers Act (ABA).

Copies of the play area accessibility guidelines and further
technical assistance can be obtained from the U.S. Access
Board, 1331 F Street, NW, Suite 1000, Washington, DC
20004-1111; 800-872-2253, 800-993-2822 (TTY),
www.access-board.gov.

http://www.access-board.gov


Designated Play Surface — Any elevated surface for stand-
ing, walking, crawling, sitting or climbing, or a flat surface
greater than 2 inches wide by 2 inches long having an angle
less than 30° from horizontal.

Embankment Slide — A slide that follows the contour of the
ground and at no point is the bottom of the chute greater
than 12 inches above the surrounding ground.

Entanglement — A condition in which the user’s clothes or
something around the user’s neck becomes caught or
entwined on a component of playground equipment.

Entrapment — Any condition that impedes withdrawal of a
body or body part that has penetrated an opening.

Fall Height — The vertical distance between the highest
designated play surface on a piece of equipment and the pro-
tective surfacing beneath it.

Footing — A means for anchoring playground equipment to
the ground.

Full Bucket Seat Swing — A swing generally appropriate for
children under 4 years of age that provides support on all
sides and between the legs of the occupant and cannot be
entered or exited without adult assistance.

Geotextile (filter) Cloth — A fabric that retains its relative
structure during handling, placement, and long-term service
to enhance water movement, retard soil movement, and to
add reinforcement and separation between the soil and the
surfacing and/or sub-base.

Guardrail — An enclosing device around an elevated plat-
form that is intended to prevent inadvertent falls from the
elevated surface.

Infill — Material(s) used in a protective barrier or between
decks to prevent a user from passing through the barrier
(e.g., vertical bars, lattice, solid panel, etc.).

Loose-Fill Surfacing Material — A material used for protec-
tive surfacing in the use zone that consists of loose particles
such as sand, gravel, engineered wood fibers, or shredded
rubber.

Preschool-Age Children — Children 2 years of age through 5
years of age.

Projection — Anything that extends extends outward from a
surface of the playground equipment and must be tested to
determine whether it is a protrusion or entanglement hazard,
or both.

Protective Barrier — See Barrier.

Protective Surfacing — Shock absorbing (i.e., impact atten-
uating) surfacing material in the use zone that conforms to
the recommendations in §2.4 of this handbook.

Protrusion — A projection which, when tested, is found to
be a hazard having the potential to cause bodily injury to a
user who impacts it.

Roller Slide — A slide that has a chute consisting of a series
of individual rollers over which the user travels.

School-Age Children — Children 5 years of age through 12
years of age.

Slide Chute — The inclined sliding surface of a slide.

Stationary Play Equipment — Any play structure that has a
fixed base and does not move.

Supervisor — Any person tasked with watching children on
a playground. Supervisors may be paid professionals (e.g.,
childcare, elementary school or park and recreation person-
nel), paid seasonal workers (e.g., college or high school stu-
dents), volunteers (e.g., PTA members), or unpaid caregivers
(e.g., parents) of the children playing in the playground.

Toddlers — Children 6 months through 23 months of age.

Tube Slide — A slide in which the chute consists of a totally
enclosed tube or tunnel.

Unitary Surfacing Material — A manufactured material
used for protective surfacing in the use zone that may be
rubber tiles, mats, or a combination of energy absorbing
materials held in place by a binder that may be poured in
place at the playground site and cures to form a unitary
shock absorbing surface.

Upper Body Equipment — Equipment designed to support a
child by the hands only (e.g., horizontal ladder, overhead
swinging rings).

Use Zone — The surface under and around a piece of
equipment onto which a child falling from or exiting from
the equipment would be expected to land. These areas are
also designated for unrestricted circulation around the
equipment.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

�



2.1.1 Shading considerations

According to the American Academy of Dermatology,
research indicates that one in five Americans will develop
some form of skin cancer during their lifetime, and five or
more sunburns double the risk of developing skin cancer.
Utilizing existing shade (e.g., trees), designing play structures
as a means for providing shading (e.g., elevated platforms
with shaded space below), or creating more shade (e.g., man-
made structures) are potential ways to design a playground
to help protect children’s skin from the sun. When trees are
used for shade, additional maintenance issues arise, such as
the need for cleaning up debris and trimming limbs.

2.2 Playground Layout

There are several key factors to keep in mind when laying
out a playground:

• Accessibility

• Age separation

• Conflicting activities

• Sight lines

• Signage and/or labeling

• Supervision

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

5

Site Factor

Travel patterns of children to and
from the playground

Nearby accessible hazards such
as roads with traffic, lakes,
ponds, streams, drop-offs/cliffs,
etc.

Sun exposure

Slope and drainage

Questions to Ask

Are there hazards in the way?

Could a child inadvertently run
into a nearby hazard?

Could younger children easily
wander off toward the hazard?

Is sun exposure sufficient to heat
exposed bare metal slides, plat-
forms, steps, & surfacing enough
to burn children?

Will children be exposed to the
sun during the most intense part
of the day?

Will loose fill materials wash
away during periods of heavy
rain?

If yes, then…Mitigation

Clear hazards.

Provide a method to contain chil-
dren within the playground. For
example, a dense hedge or a
fence. The method should allow
for observation by supervisors. If
fences are used, they should
conform to local building codes
and/or ASTM F-20�9.

Bare metal slides, platforms, and
steps should be shaded or locat-
ed out of direct sun.

Provide warnings that equipment
and surfacing exposed to intense
sun can burn.

Consider shading the playground
or providing shaded areas near-
by.

Consider proper drainage re-
grading to prevent wash outs.

2. GENERAL PLAYGROUND CONSIDERATIONS

2.1 Selecting a Site

The following factors are important when selecting a site for a new playground:



2.2.1 Accessibility

Special consideration should be given to providing accessible
surfaces in a play area that meets the ASTM Standard
Specification for Determination of Accessibility of Surface Systems
Under and Around Playground Equipment, ASTM F1951.
Equipment selection and location along with the type of pro-
tective surfacing are key components to ensuring the oppor-
tunity for children with disabilities to play on the playground.

2.2.2 Age separation

For playgrounds intended to serve children of all ages, the
layout of pathways and the landscaping of the playground
should show the distinct areas for the different age groups.
The areas should be separated at least by a buffer zone, which
could be an area with shrubs or benches. This separation and
buffer zone will reduce the chance of injury from older, more
active children running through areas filled with younger
children with generally slower movement and reaction times.

2.2.3 Age group

In areas where access to the playground is unlimited or
enforced only by signage, the playground designer should
recognize that since child development is fluid, parents and
caregivers may select a playground slightly above or slightly
below their child's abilities, especially for children at or near
a cut-off age (e.g., 2-years old and 5-years old). This could
be for ease of supervising multiple children, misperceptions
about the hazards a playground may pose to children of a dif-
ferent age, advanced development of a child, or other rea-
sons. For this reason, there is an overlap at age 5.
Developmentally a similar overlap also exists around age 2;
however, due to the differences in ASTM standards and
entrapment testing tools, this overlap is not reflected in the
handbook. Playgrounds used primarily by children under the
supervision of paid, trained professionals (e.g., child-care
centers and schools) may wish to consider separating play-
grounds by the facility's age groupings. For example, a child-
care facility may wish to limit a playground to toddlers under
2 exclusively and can draw information from this guide and
ASTM F2373. A school, on the other hand, may have no
children under 4 attending, and can likewise plan appropri-
ately. Those who inspect playgrounds should use the intend-
ed age group of the playground.

2.2.4 Conflicting activities

The play area should be organized into different sections to
prevent injuries caused by conflicting activities and children
running between activities. Active, physical activities should
be separate from more passive or quiet activities. Areas for
playground equipment, open fields, and sand boxes should
be located in different sections of the playground. In addi-
tion, popular, heavy-use pieces of equipment or activities
should be dispersed to avoid crowding in any one area.

Different types of equipment have different use zones that
must be maintained. The following are general recommenda-
tions for locating equipment within the playground site.
Specific use zones for equipment are given in §5.3.

• Moving equipment, such as swings and merry-go-rounds,
should be located toward a corner, side, or edge of the
play area while ensuring that the appropriate use zones
around the equipment are maintained.

• Slide exits should be located in an uncongested area of
the playground.

• Composite play structures have become increasingly
popular on public playgrounds. Adjacent components on
composite structures should be complementary. For
example, an access component should not be located in
a slide exit zone.

2.2.5 Sight lines

Playgrounds that are designed, installed, and maintained in
accordance with safety guidelines and standards can still pre-
sent hazards to children. Playgrounds should be laid out to
allow parents or caregivers to keep track of children as they
move throughout the playground environment. Visual barri-
ers should be minimized as much as possible. For example, in
a park situation, playground equipment should be as visible
as possible from park benches. In playgrounds with areas for
different ages, the older children’s area should be visible from
the younger children’s area to ensure that caregivers of mul-
tiple children can see older children while they are engaged
in interactive play with younger ones.

2.2.6 Signage and/or labeling

Although the intended user group should be obvious from
the design and scale of equipment, signs and/or labels posted
in the playground area or on the equipment should give
some guidance to supervisors as to the age appropriateness of
the equipment.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

�



2.2.7 Supervision

The quality of the super-
vision depends on the
quality of the supervisor’s
knowledge of safe play
behavior. Playground
designers should be
aware of the type of supervision most likely for their given
playground. Depending on the location and nature of the
playground, the supervisors may be paid professionals (e.g.,
childcare, elementary school or park and recreation person-
nel), paid seasonal workers (e.g., college or high school stu-
dents), volunteers (e.g., PTA members), or unpaid caregivers
(e.g., parents) of the children playing in the playground.

Parents and playground supervisors should be aware that not
all playground equipment is appropriate for all children who
may use the playground. Supervisors should look for posted

signs indicating the appropriate age of the users and direct
children to equipment appropriate for their age. Supervisors
may also use the information in Table 1 to determine the
suitability of the equipment for the children they are super-
vising. Toddlers and preschool-age children require more
attentive supervision than older children; however, one
should not rely on supervision alone to prevent injuries.

Supervisors should understand the basics of playground
safety such as:

• Checking for broken equipment and making sure children
don’t play on it.

• Checking for and removing unsafe modifications, especial-
ly ropes tied to equipment, before letting children play.

• Checking for properly maintained protective surfacing.

• Making sure children are wearing foot wear.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

�

Toddler — Ages 6-23 months

• Climbing equipment under 32”
high

• Ramps
• Single file step ladders
• Slides*
• Spiral slides less than 3�0°
• Spring rockers
• Stairways
• Swings with full bucket seats

* See §5.3.�

Preschool — Ages 2-5 years

• Certain climbers**
• Horizontal ladders less than or

equal to �0” high for ages � and
5

• Merry-go-rounds
• Ramps
• Rung ladders
• Single file step ladders
• Slides*
• Spiral slides up to 3�0°
• Spring rockers
• Stairways
• Swings – belt, full bucket seats

(2-� years) & rotating tire

** See §5.3.2

Grade School— Ages 5-12 years

• Arch climbers
• Chain or cable walks
• Free standing climbing events

with flexible parts
• Fulcrum seesaws
• Ladders – Horizontal, Rung, &

Step
• Overhead rings***
• Merry-go-rounds
• Ramps
• Ring treks
• Slides*
• Spiral slides more than one

3�0° turn
• Stairways
• Swings – belt & rotating tire
• Track rides
• Vertical sliding poles

*** See §5.3.2.5

TABLE 1. EXAMPLES OF AGE APPROPRIATE EQUIPMENT



• Watching and stopping dangerous horseplay, such as chil-
dren throwing protective surfacing materials, jumping
from heights, etc.

• Watching for and stopping children from wandering away
from the play area.

2.3 Selecting Equipment

When selecting playground equipment, it is important to
know the age range of the children who will be using the
playground. Children at different ages and stages of develop-
ment have different needs and abilities. Playgrounds should
be designed to stimulate children and encourage them to
develop new skills, but should be in scale with their sizes,
abilities, and developmental levels. Consideration should
also be given to providing play equipment that is accessible
to children with disabilities and encourages integration with-
in the playground.

Table 1 shows the appropriate age range for various pieces of
playground equipment. This is not an all-comprehensive list
and, therefore, should not limit inclusion of current or newly
designed equipment that is not specifically mentioned. For
equipment listed in more than one group, there may be some
modifications or restrictions based on age, so consult the
specific recommendations in §5.3.

2.3.1 Equipment not recommended

Some playground equipment is not recommended for use on
public playgrounds, including:

• Trampolines

• Swinging gates

• Giant strides

• Climbing ropes that are not secured at both ends.

• Heavy metal swings (e.g., animal figures) – These are not
recommended because their heavy rigid metal framework
presents a risk of impact injury.

• Multiple occupancy swings – With the exception of tire
swings, swings that are intended for more than one user are
not recommended because their greater mass, as compared
to single occupancy swings, presents a risk of impact injury.

• Rope swings – Free-swinging ropes that may fray or other-
wise form a loop are not recommended because they pre-
sent a potential strangulation hazard.

• Swinging dual exercise rings and trapeze bars – These are
rings and trapeze bars on long chains that are generally
considered to be items of athletic equipment and are not
recommended for public playgrounds. NOTE: The recom-
mendation against the use of exercise rings does not apply to
overhead hanging rings such as those used in a ring trek or ring
ladder (see Figure 7).

2.4 Surfacing

The surfacing under and
around playground equip-
ment is one of the most
important factors in reducing
the likelihood of life-threat-
ening head injuries. A fall
onto a shock absorbing sur-
face is less likely to cause a

serious head injury than a fall onto a hard surface. However,
some injuries from falls, including broken limbs, may occur
no matter what playground surfacing material is used.

The most widely used test method for evaluating the shock
absorbing properties of a playground surfacing material is to
drop an instrumented metal headform onto a sample of the
material and record the acceleration/time pulse during the
impact. Field and laboratory test methods are described in
ASTM F1292 Standard Specification for Impact Attenuation of
Surface Systems Under and Around Playground Equipment.

Testing using the methods described in ASTM F1292 will
provide a “critical height” rating of the surface. This height
can be considered as an approximation of the fall height
below which a life-threatening head injury would not be
expected to occur. Manufacturers and installers of play-
ground protective surfacing should provide the critical
height rating of their materials. This rating should be greater
than or equal to the fall height of the highest piece of equip-
ment on the playground. The fall height of a piece of equip-
ment is the distance between the highest designated play
surface on a piece of equipment and the protective surface
beneath it. Details for determining the highest designated
play surface and fall height on some types of equipment are
included in §5 Parts of the Playground.

2.4.1 Equipment not covered by protective
surfacing recommendations

The recommendations for protective surfacing do not apply
to equipment that requires a child to be standing or sitting at
ground level. Examples of such equipment are:

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

�



• Sand boxes

• Activity walls at ground level

• Play houses

• Any other equipment that children use when their feet
remain in contact with the ground surface

2.4.2 Selecting a surfacing material

There are two options available for surfacing public play-
grounds: unitary and loose-fill materials. A playground
should never be installed without protective surfacing of
some type. Concrete, asphalt, or other hard surfaces should
never be directly under playground equipment. Grass and dirt
are not considered protective surfacing because wear and
environmental factors can reduce their shock absorbing effec-
tiveness. Carpeting and mats are also not appropriate unless
they are tested to and comply with ASTM F1292. Loose-fill
should be avoided for playgrounds intended for toddlers.

2.�.2.1 Unitary surfacing materials

Unitary materials are generally rubber mats and tiles or a
combination of energy-absorbing materials held in place by a

binder that may be poured in place at the playground site
and then cured to form a unitary shock absorbing surface.
Unitary materials are available from a number of different
manufacturers, many of whom have a range of materials with
differing shock absorbing properties. New surfacing materi-
als, such as bonded wood fiber and combinations of loose-fill
and unitary, are being developed that may also be tested to
ASTM F1292 and fall into the unitary materials category.
When deciding on the best surfacing materials keep in mind
that some dark colored surfacing materials exposed to the
intense sun have caused blistering on bare feet. Check with
the manufacturer if light colored materials are available or
provide shading to reduce direct sun exposure.

Persons wishing to install a unitary material as a playground
surface should request ASTM F1292 test data from the manu-
facturer identifying the critical height rating of the desired sur-
face. In addition, site requirements should be obtained from
the manufacturer because some unitary materials require
installation over a hard surface while others do not.
Manufacturer’s instructions should be followed closely, as some
unitary systems require professional installation. Testing should
be conducted in accordance with the ASTM F1292 standard.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

9

Appropriate Surfacing

• Any material tested to ASTM F1292, including
unitary surfaces, engineered wood fiber, etc.

• Pea gravel

• Sand

• Shredded/recycled rubber mulch

• Wood mulch (not CCA-treated)

• Wood chips

Inappropriate Surfacing

• Asphalt

• Carpet not tested to ASTM F1292

• Concrete

• Dirt

• Grass

• CCA treated wood mulch



2.�.2.2 Loose-fill surfacing materials

Engineered wood fiber (EWF) is a wood product that may
look similar in appearance to landscaping mulch, but EWF
products are designed specifically for use as a playground
safety surface under and around playground equipment.
EWF products should meet the specifications in ASTM
F2075: Standard Specification for Engineered Wood Fiber and
be tested to and comply with ASTM F1292.

There are also rubber mulch products that are designed
specifically for use as playground surfacing. Make sure they
have been tested to and comply with ASTM F1292.

When installing these products, tips 1-9 listed below should
be followed. Each manufacturer of engineered wood fiber
and rubber mulch should provide maintenance requirements
for and test data on:

• Critical height based on ASTM F1292 impact attenuation
testing.

• Minimum fill-depth data.

• Toxicity.

• ADA/ABA accessibility guidelines for firmness and stabil-
ity based on ASTM F1951.

Other loose-fill materials are generally landscaping-type
materials that can be layered to a certain depth and resist
compacting. Some examples include wood mulch, wood
chips, sand, pea gravel, and shredded/recycled rubber mulch.

Important tips when considering loose-fill materials:

1. Loose-fill materials will compress at least 25% over time
due to use and weathering. This must be considered when
planning the playground. For example, if the playground
will require 9 inches of wood chips, then the initial fill
level should be 12 inches. See Table 2 below.

2. Loose-fill surfacing requires frequent maintenance to
ensure surfacing levels never drop below the minimum
depth. Areas under swings and at slide exits are more sus-
ceptible to displacement; special attention must be paid
to maintenance in these areas. Additionally, wear mats
can be installed in these areas to reduce displacement.

3. The perimeter of the playground should provide a
method of containing the loose-fill materials.

4. Consider marking equipment supports with a minimum
fill level to aid in maintaining the original depth of
material.

5. Good drainage is essential to maintaining loose-fill
surfacing. Standing water with surfacing material reduces
effectiveness and leads to material compaction and
decomposition.

6. Critical height may be reduced during winter in areas
where the ground freezes.

7. Never use less than 9 inches of loose-fill material except
for shredded/recycled rubber (6 inches recommended).
Shallower depths are too easily displaced and compacted

8. Some loose-fill materials may not meet ADA/ABA acces-
sibility guidelines. For more information, contact the
Access Board (see §1.6) or refer to ASTM F1951.

9. Wood mulch containing chromated copper arsenate
(CCA)-treated wood products should not be used; mulch
where the CCA-content is unknown should be avoided
(see §2.5.5.1).

Table 2 shows the minimum required depths of loose-fill
material needed based on material type and fall height. The
depths shown assume the materials have been compressed
due to use and weathering and are properly maintained to
the given level.

2.�.2.3 Installing loose-fill over hard surface

CPSC staff strongly recommends against installing play-
grounds over hard surfaces, such as asphalt, concrete, or
hard packed earth, unless the installation adds the following
layers of protection. Immediately over the hard surface there
should be a 3- to 6-inch base layer of loose-fill (e.g., gravel
for drainage). The next layer should be a Geotextile cloth.
On top of that should be a loose-fill layer meeting the speci-
fications addressed in §2.4.2.2 and Table 2. Embedded in the
loose-fill layer should be impact attenuating mats under high
traffic areas, such as under swings, at slide exits, and other
places where displacement is likely. Figure 1 provides a visual
representation of this information. Older playgrounds that
still exist on hard surfacing should be modified to provide
appropriate surfacing.

2.5 Equipment Materials

2.5.1 Durability and finish

• Use equipment that is manufactured and constructed only
of materials that have a demonstrated record of durability
in a playground or similar setting.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

10



• Finishes, treatments, and preservatives should be selected
carefully so that they do not present a health hazard to
users.

2.5.2 Hardware

When installed and maintained in accordance with the
manufacturer’s instructions:

• All fasteners, connectors, and covering devices should not
loosen or be removable without the use of tools.

• All fasteners, connectors, and covering devices that are
exposed to the user should be smooth and should not be
likely to cause laceration, penetration, or present a cloth-
ing entanglement hazard (see also §3.2 and Appendix B).

• Lock washers, self-locking nuts, or other locking means
should be provided for all nuts and bolts to protect them
from detachment.

• Hardware in moving joints should also be secured against
unintentional or unauthorized loosening.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

11

Table 2. Minimum compressed loose-fill surfacing depths

Inches Of (Loose-Fill Material) Protects to Fall Height (feet)

�* Shredded/recycled rubber 10

9 Sand �

9 Pea Gravel 5

9 Wood mulch (non-CCA) �

9 Wood chips 10

* Shredded/recycled rubber loose-fill surfacing does not compress in the same manner as other loose-fill
materials. However, care should be taken to maintain a constant depth as displacement may still occur.

Layer 3: Geotextile cloth

Layer 1: Hard surface (asphalt, concrete, etc.)

Layer 2: 3- to 6-inches of loose fill (e.g., gravel for drainage)

Layer 5: Impact mats under swings

Layer 4: Loose-fill surfacing material

Figure 1. Installation layers for loose-fill over a hard surface



2 Ammoniacal copper quat (ACQ), copper boron azole (CBA), copper azole type B (CA-B), etc.

3 CPSC Staff Recommendations for Identifying and Controlling Lead Paint on Public Playground Equipment; U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission:
Washington, DC, October 1996.

12

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

• Older playgrounds with lead based paints should be iden-
tified and a strategy to control lead paint exposure should
be developed. Playground managers should consult the
October 1996 report, CPSC Staff Recommendations for
Identifying and Controlling Lead Paint on Public
Playground Equipment, while ensuring that all paints and
other similar finishes meet the current CPSC regulation.3

2.5.5 Wood

• Wood should be either naturally rot- and insect-resistant
(e.g., cedar or redwood) or should be treated to avoid
such deterioration.

• Creosote-treated wood (e.g., railroad ties, telephone poles,
etc) and coatings that contain pesticides should not be
used.

2.5.5.1 Pressure-treated wood

A significant amount of older playground wood was pres-
sure-treated with chemicals to prevent damage from insects
and fungi. Chromated copper arsenate (CCA) was a chemi-
cal used for decades in structures (including playgrounds).
Since December 31, 2003, CCA-treated wood is no longer
processed for use in playground applications. Other rot- and
insect-resistant pressure treatments are available that do not
contain arsenic; however, when using any of the new treated
wood products, be sure to use hardware that is compatible
with the wood treatment chemicals. These chemicals are
known to corrode certain materials faster than others.

Existing playgrounds with CCA-treated wood
Various groups have made suggestions concerning the appli-
cation of surface coatings to CCA-treated wood (e.g., stains
and sealants) to reduce a child’s potential exposure to
arsenic from the wood surface. Data from CPSC staff and
EPA studies suggest that regular (at least once a year) use of
an oil- or water-based, penetrating sealant or stain can
reduce arsenic migration from CCA-treated wood. Installers,
builders, and consumers who perform woodworking opera-
tions, such as sanding, sawing, or sawdust disposal, on pres-
sure-treated wood should read the consumer information
sheet available at the point of sale. This sheet contains
important health precautions and disposal information.

• All fasteners should be corrosion resistant and be selected
to minimize corrosion of the materials they connect. This
is particularly important when using wood treated with
ACQ/CBA/CA-B2 as the chemicals in the wood preserva-
tive corrode certain metals faster than others.

• Bearings or bushings used in moving joints should be easy
to lubricate or be self-lubricating.

• All hooks, such as S-hooks and C-hooks, should be closed
(see also §5.3.8.1). A hook is considered closed if there is
no gap or space greater than 0.04 inches, about the thick-
ness of a dime.

2.5.3 Metals

• Avoid using bare metal for platforms, slides, or steps.
When exposed to direct sunlight they may reach tempera-
tures high enough to cause serious contact burn injuries
in a matter of seconds. Use other materials that may
reduce the surface temperature, such as but not limited to
wood, plastic, or coated metal (see also Slides in §5.3.6).

• If bare or painted metal surfaces are used on platforms,
steps, and slide beds, they should be oriented so that the
surface is not exposed to direct sun year round.

2.5.4 Paints and finishes

• Metals not inherently corrosion resistant should be paint-
ed, galvanized, or otherwise treated to prevent rust.

• The manufacturer should ensure that the users cannot
ingest, inhale, or absorb potentially hazardous amounts
of preservative chemicals or other treatments applied to
the equipment as a result of contact with playground
equipment.

• All paints and other similar finishes must meet the
current CPSC regulation for lead in paint.

• Painted surfaces should be maintained to prevent
corrosion and deterioration.

• Paint and other finishes should be maintained to prevent
rusting of exposed metals and to minimize children play-
ing with peeling paint and paint flakes.



13

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

2.6 Assembly and Installation

• Strictly follow all instructions from the manufacturer
when assembling and installing equipment.

• After assembly and before its first use, equipment should
be thoroughly inspected by a person qualified to inspect
playgrounds for safety.

• The manufacturer’s assembly and installation instructions,
and all other materials collected concerning the equip-
ment, should be kept in a permanent file.

• Secure anchoring is a key factor to stable installation, and
the anchoring process should be completed in strict accor-
dance with the manufacturer’s specifications.

When selecting wood products and finishes for public play-
grounds, CPSC staff recommends:

• Avoid “film-forming” or non-penetrating stains (latex
semi-transparent, latex opaque and oil-based opaque
stains) on outdoor surfaces because peeling and flaking
may occur later, which will ultimately have an impact on
durability as well as exposure to the preservatives in the
wood.

• Creosote, pentachlorophenol, and tributyl tin oxide are
too toxic or irritating and should not be used as preserva-
tives for playground equipment wood.

• Pesticide-containing finishes should not be used.

• CCA-treated wood should not be used as playground
mulch.



3. PLAYGROUND HAZARDS

This section provides a broad overview of general hazards
that should be avoided on playgrounds. It is intended to
raise awareness of the risks posed by each of these hazards.
Many of these hazards have technical specifications and tests
for compliance with ASTM F1487 and F2373. Some of these
tests are also detailed in Appendix B.

3.1 Crush and Shearing Points

Anything that could crush or shear limbs should not be
accessible to children on a playground. Crush and shear
points can be caused by parts moving relative to each other
or to a fixed part during a normal use cycle, such as a seesaw.

To determine if there is a possible crush or shear point,
consider:

• The likelihood a child could get a body part inside the
point, and

• The closing force around the point.

Potential crush/shear hazards specific to certain pieces of
equipment are identified in §5.3 Major Types of Playground
Equipment.

3.2 Entanglement and Impalement

Projections on playground equipment should not be able to
entangle children’s clothing nor should they be large enough
to impale. To avoid this risk:

• The diameter of a projection should not increase in the
direction away from the surrounding surface toward the
exposed end (see Figure 2).

• Bolts should not expose more than two threads beyond
the end of the nut (see Figure 3).

• All hooks, such as S-hooks and C-hooks, should be closed
(see also §5.3.8.1). A hook is considered closed if there is
no gap or space greater than 0.04 inches, about the thick-
ness of a dime.

– Any connecting device containing an in-fill that com-
pletely fills the interior space preventing entry of cloth-
ing items into the interior of the device is exempt from
this requirement.

• Swings and slides have additional recommendations for
projections detailed in §5.3.

• See Appendix B for testing recommendations.

3.2.1 Strings and ropes

Drawstrings on the hoods of jackets, sweatshirts, and other
upper body clothing can become entangled in playground
equipment, and can cause death by strangulation. To avoid
this risk:

• Children should not wear jewelry, jackets or sweatshirts
with drawstring hoods, mittens connected by strings
through the arms, or other upper body clothing with
drawstrings.

• Remove any ropes, dog leashes, or similar objects that
have been attached to playground equipment. Children
can become entangled in them and strangle to death.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

1�

Diameter has
increased

Figure 2. Example of a hazardous projection that
increases in diameter from plane of initial surface
and forms an entanglement hazard and may also

be an impalement hazard.

Figure 3. Example of a hazardous projection that
extends more than 2 threads beyond the nut and
forms an impalement/laceration hazard and may

also be an entanglement hazard.



• Avoid equipment with ropes that are not secured at both
ends.

• The following label, or a similar sign or label, can be
placed on or near slides or other equipment where poten-
tial entanglements may occur.

3.3 Entrapment

3.3.1 Head entrapment

Head entrapment is a serious concern on playgrounds, since
it could lead to strangulation and death. A child’s head may
become entrapped if the child enters an opening either feet
first or head first. Head entrapment by head-first entry gen-
erally occurs when children place their heads through an

opening in one orientation, turn their heads to a different
orientation, then are unable to get themselves out. Head
entrapment by feet first entry involves children who general-
ly sit or lie down and slide their feet into an opening that is
large enough to permit their bodies to go through but is not
large enough to permit their heads to go through. A part or
a group of parts should not form openings that could trap a
child’s head. Also, children should not wear their bicycle
helmets while on playground equipment. There have been
recent head entrapment incidents in which children wearing
their bicycle helmets became entrapped in spaces that would
not normally be considered a head entrapment.

Certain openings could present an entrapment hazard if the
distance between any interior opposing surfaces is greater
than 3.5 inches and less than 9 inches. These spaces should
be tested as recommended in Appendix B. When one
dimension of an opening is within this range, all dimensions
of the opening should be considered together to evaluate the
possibility of entrapment. Even openings that are low
enough for children’s feet to touch the ground can present a
risk of strangulation for an entrapped child. (See Figure 4).
Younger children may not have the necessary intellectual
ability or motor skills to reverse the process that caused their
heads to become trapped, especially if they become scared or
panicked.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

15

WARNING

Figure 4. Examples of entrapment below a barrier and between the vertical bars of a barrier.

Children have died when drawstrings
on their clothing caught on slides or
other playground equipment.

Remove hood and neck drawstrings
from children’s clothing before
children play on a playground.

Remove scarves and mittens
connected through the sleeves.



Figure 5. Example of entrapment in an angle
less than 55 degrees on a fort.

1�

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

• There should be no sharp edges on slides. Pay special
attention to metal edges of slides along the sides and at
the exit (see also §5.3.6.4).

• If steel-belted radials are used as playground equipment,
they should be closely examined regularly to ensure that
there are no exposed steel belts/wires.

• Conduct frequent inspections to help prevent injuries
caused by splintered wood, sharp points, corners, or edges
that may develop as a result of wear and tear on the
equipment.

3.5 Suspended Hazards

Children using a playground may be injured if they run into
or trip over suspended components (such as cables, wires,
ropes, or other flexible parts) connected from one piece of
the playground equipment to another or hanging to the
ground. These suspended components can become hazards
when they are within 45 degrees of horizontal and are less
than 7 feet above the protective surfacing. To avoid a sus-
pended hazard, suspended components:

• Should be located away from high traffic areas.

• Should either be brightly colored or contrast with the sur-
rounding equipment and surfacing.

• Should not be able to be looped back on themselves or
other ropes, cables, or chains to create a circle with a 5
inch or greater perimeter.

• Should be fastened at both ends unless they are 7 inches
or less long or attached to a swing seat.

These recommendations do not apply to swings, climbing
nets, or if the suspended component is more than 7 feet
above the protective surfacing and is a minimum of one inch
at its widest cross-section dimension.

3.6 Tripping Hazards

Play areas should be free of tripping hazards (i.e., sudden
change in elevations) to children who are using a play-
ground. Two common causes of tripping are anchoring
devices for playground equipment and containment walls for
loose-fill surfacing materials.

• All anchoring devices for playground equipment, such as
concrete footings or horizontal bars at the bottom of
flexible climbers, should be installed below ground level

3.3.2 Partially bound openings and angles

Children can become entrapped by partially bound openings,
such as those formed by two or more playground parts.

• Angles formed by two accessible adjacent parts should be
greater than 55 degrees unless the lowest leg is horizontal
or below horizontal.

• Use the partially-bound opening test in Appendix B to
identify hazardous angles and other partially-bound
openings.

3.4 Sharp Points, Corners, and Edges

Sharp points, corners, or edges on any part of the playground
or playground equipment may cut or puncture a child’s skin.
Sharp edges can cause serious lacerations if protective
measures are not taken. To avoid the risk of injury from
sharp points, corners and edges:

• Exposed open ends of all tubing not resting on the ground
or otherwise covered should be covered by caps or plugs
that cannot be removed without the use of tools.

• Wood parts should be smooth and free from splinters.

• All corners, metal and wood, should be rounded.

• All metal edges should be rolled or have rounded capping.



1�

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

• Steel-belted radials should be closely examined regularly
to ensure that there are no exposed steel belts/wires.

• Care should be taken so that the tire does not collect
water and debris; for example, providing drainage
holes on the underside of the tire would reduce water
collection.

• Recycled tire rubber mulch products should be inspected
before installation to ensure that all metal has been
removed.

In some situations, plastic materials can be used as an alter-
native to simulate actual automobile tires.

and beneath the base of the protective surfacing material.
This will also prevent children from sustaining additional
injuries from impact if they fall on exposed footings.

• Contrasting the color of the surfacing with the equipment
color can contribute to better visibility.

• Surfacing containment walls should be highly visible.

• Any change of elevation should be obvious.

• Contrasting the color of the containment barrier with the
surfacing color can contribute to better visibility.

3.7 Used Tires

Used automobile and truck tires are often recycled as play-
ground equipment, such as tire swings or flexible climbers, or
as a safety product such as cushioning under a seesaw or
shredded as protective surfacing. When recycling tires for
playground use:



Table 3. Routine inspection and
maintenance issues

Broken equipment such as loose bolts, missing
end caps, cracks, etc.

Broken glass & other trash

Cracks in plastics

Loose anchoring

Hazardous or dangerous debris

Insect damage

Problems with surfacing

Displaced loose-fill surfacing (see Section �.3)

Holes, flakes, and/or buckling of unitary
surfacing

User modifications (such as ropes tied to parts
or equipment rearranged)

Vandalism

Worn, loose, damaged, or missing parts

Wood splitting

Rusted or corroded metals

Rot

1�

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

inspections will depend on the type and age of equipment,
the amount of use, and the local climate.

• Consult the manufacturer for maintenance schedules for
each piece of equipment. Based on these schedules, a
maintenance schedule for the entire playground can be
created. This routine maintenance schedule should not
replace regular inspections.

4.3 Maintaining Loose-Fill Surfacing

Loose-fill surfacing materials require special maintenance.
High-use public playgrounds, such as child care centers and
schools, should be checked frequently to ensure surfacing
has not displaced significantly, particularly in areas of the
playground most subject to displacement (e.g., under swings
and slide exits). This can be facilitated by marking ideal
surfacing depths on equipment posts. Displaced loose-fill

4. MAINTAINING A
PLAYGROUND

Inadequate maintenance of equipment has resulted in injuries
on playgrounds. Because the safety of playground equipment
and its suitability for use depend on good inspection and
maintenance, the manufacturer’s maintenance instructions
and recommended inspection schedules should be strictly fol-
lowed. If manufacturer’s recommendations are not available,
a maintenance schedule should be developed based on actual
or anticipated playground use. Frequently used playgrounds
will require more frequent inspections and maintenance.

4.1 Maintenance Inspections

A comprehensive maintenance program should be developed
for each playground. All playground areas and equipment
should be inspected for excessive wear, deterioration, and
any potential hazards, such as those shown in Table 3. One
possible procedure is the use of checklists. Some manufactur-
ers supply checklists for general or detailed inspections with
their maintenance instructions. These can be used to ensure
that inspections are in compliance with the manufacturer’s
specifications. If manufacturer-provided inspection guide-
lines are not available, a general checklist that may be used
as a guide for frequent routine inspections of public play-
grounds is included at Appendix A. This is intended to
address only general maintenance concerns. Detailed inspec-
tions should give special attention to moving parts and other
parts that can be expected to wear. Maintenance inspections
should be carried out in a systematic manner by personnel
familiar with the playground, such as maintenance workers,
playground supervisors, etc.

4.2 Repairs

Inspections alone do not constitute a comprehensive mainte-
nance program. Any problems found during the inspection
should be noted and fixed as soon as possible.

• All repairs and replacements of equipment parts should be
completed following the manufacturer’s instructions.

• User modifications, such as loose-ended ropes tied to
elevated parts, should be removed immediately.

• For each piece of equipment, the frequency of thorough



19

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

solid no longer functions as protective surfacing. Even if
the first few inches may be loose, the base layer may be
frozen and the impact attenuation of the surfacing may be
significantly reduced. It is recommended that children not
play on the equipment under these conditions.

4.4 Recordkeeping

Records of all maintenance inspections and repairs should be
retained, including the manufacturer’s maintenance instruc-
tions and any checklists used. When any inspection is per-
formed, the person performing it should sign and date the
form used. A record of any accident and injury reported to
have occurred on the playground should also be retained.
This will help identify potential hazards or dangerous design
features that should be corrected.

surfacing should be raked back into proper place so that a
constant depth is maintained throughout the playground.
Impact attenuating mats placed in high traffic areas, such as
under swings and at slide exits, can significantly reduce
displacement. They should be installed below or level with
surfacing so as not to be a tripping hazard.

The following are key points to look for during regular
checks of surfacing:

• Areas under swings and at slide exits. Activity in these
areas tends to displace surfacing quickly. Rake loose-fill
back into place.

• Pooling water on mulch surfacing. For example, wet
mulch compacts faster than dry, fluffy mulch. If puddles
are noticed regularly, consider addressing larger drainage
issues.

• Frozen surfacing. Most loose-fill surfacing that freezes



5. PARTS OF THE
PLAYGROUND

5.1 Platforms, Guardrails and Protective
Barriers

5.1.1 Platforms

• Platforms should be generally flat (i.e., within ± 2° of
horizontal).

• Openings in platforms should be provided to allow for
drainage.

• Platforms should minimize the collection of debris.

• Platforms intended for toddlers should be no more than
32 inches from the ground.

5.1.2 Stepped platforms

On some composite structures, platforms are layered or
tiered so that a child may access the higher platform without
steps or ladders. Unless there is an alternate means of
access/egress, the maximum difference in height between
stepped platforms should be:

• Toddlers: 7 inches.

• Preschool-age: 12 inches.

• School-age: 18 inches.

An access component (such as a rung) is needed if the
difference in height is more than 12 inches for preschool-age
and 18 inches for school-age children.

The space between the stepped platforms should follow the
recommendations to minimize entrapment hazards in
enclosed openings:

• Toddlers: if the space is less than 7 inches, infill should
be used to reduce the space to less than 3.0 inches.

• Preschool-age: if the space exceeds 9 inches and the
height of the lower platform above the protective
surfacing exceeds 30 inches, infill should be used to
reduce the space to less than 3.5 inches.

• School-age: if the space exceeds 9 inches and the height
of the lower platform above the protective surfacing
exceeds 48 inches, infill should be used to reduce the
space to less than 3.5 inches.

5.1.2.1 Fall height

• The fall height of a platform is the distance between the
top of the platform and the protective surfacing beneath
it.

5.1.3 Guardrails and protective barriers

Guardrails and protective barriers are used to minimize the
likelihood of accidental falls from elevated platforms.
Protective barriers provide greater protection than guardrails
and should be designed to discourage children from climbing
over or through the barrier. Guardrails and barriers should:

• Completely surround any elevated platform.

• Except for entrance and exit openings, the maximum
clearance opening without a top horizontal guardrail
should be 15 inches.

• Prevent unintentional falls from the platform.

• Prevent the possibility of entrapment.

• Facilitate supervision.

For example:

• Guardrails may have a horizontal top rail with infill
consisting of vertical bars having openings that are greater
than 9 inches. These openings do not present an entrap-
ment hazard but do not prevent a child from climbing
through the openings.

• A barrier should minimize the likelihood of passage of a
child during deliberate attempts to defeat the barrier. Any
openings between uprights or between the platform sur-
face and lower edge of a protective barrier should prevent
passage of the small torso template (see test in B.2.5).

Guardrails or protective barriers should be provided on
elevated platforms, walkways, landings, stairways, and transi-
tional surfaces. In general, the younger the child, the less
coordination and balance they have, therefore the more vul-
nerable they are to unintentional falls. Toddlers are the most
vulnerable, and equipment intended for this age should use
barriers on all elevated walking surfaces above 18 inches.
Physical skills develop further in preschool-age children and
then more with school-age children; therefore, minimum
elevation recommendations for guardrails and barriers
increase with each age group.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

20



Guardrails and barriers should be high enough to prevent
the tallest children from falling over the top. For guardrails,
the lower edge should be low enough so that the smallest
children cannot walk under it. Barriers should be low
enough to prevent the smallest child from getting under the
barrier in any way. This is generally done by designing the
barrier so that the small torso probe (see test methods in
Appendix B) cannot pass under or through the barrier.
Vertical infill for protective barriers may be preferable for
younger children because the vertical components can be
grasped at whatever height a child chooses as a handhold.

Guardrail and barrier recommendations are shown in Table
4. However, the recommendations do not apply if the
guardrail or barrier would interfere with the intended use of
the equipment, such as:

• Climbing equipment

• Platforms layered so that the fall height is:
– Toddlers: 7 inches or less.

– Preschool-age: 20 inches or less.

– School-age: 30 inches or less.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

21

Table 4. Guardrails and Barriers

Guardrail Barrier

Protects against accidental falls from platform Yes Yes
Discourages climbing over No Yes
Protects against climbing through No Yes

Toddlers

A Top edge distance from platform Not recommended A = 2�” or higher
B Bottom edge distance from platform Not recommended B < 3”
H Recommended when platform fall height is: Not recommended H = 1�” or higher

Preschool-age

A Top edge distance from platform A = 29” or higher A = 29” or higher
B Bottom edge distance from platform 9” < B ≤ 23” B < 3.5”
H Recommended when platform fall height is: 20” < H ≤ 30” H > 30”

School-age

A Top edge distance from platform A = 3�” or higher A = 3�” or higher
B Bottom edge distance from platform 9” < B ≤ 2�” B < 3.5”
H Recommended when platform fall height is: 30” < H ≤ ��” H > ��”

A
B

H

B

H

A



5.2 Access Methods to Play Equipment

Access to playground equipment can take many forms, such
as conventional ramps, stairways with steps, and ladders with
steps or rungs. Access may also be by means of climbing
components, such as arch climbers, climbing nets, and tire
climbers (see Figure 6).

As children develop, they gain better balance and coordina-
tion, so it is important to pick appropriate access methods
based on the age group. Table 5 shows the most common
methods of access and the youngest appropriate age group.

Access to platforms over 6 feet high (except for free-stand-
ing slides) should provide an intermediate standing surface
so that the child can pause and make a decision to keep
going up or find another way down. Children generally mas-
ter access before egress, that is, they can go up before they
can get back down a difficult component. Therefore, if there
are more difficult access methods, it is important to have
easier components for egress.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

22

Arch Climber
Chain Net Climber

Tire Climber

Figure 6. Examples of More Challenging Modes of Access

Table 5. Methods of access
and egress

Method of Challenge Appropriate
Access Level for

Ramps Easiest Toddlers +

Straight stairways Easy Toddlers +

Spiral stairways Moderate Toddlers* +

Step ladders Moderate 15 months* +

Rung ladders Moderate Preschool* +

Arch climbers Difficult Preschool* +

Flexible climbers Difficult Preschool* +
(nets, tires)

* only if an easy egress method is also provided



5.2.1 Ramps, stairways, rung ladders, and step
ladders

Ramps, stairways, rung ladders, and step ladders each have
different recommendations for slope and tread dimension,
but the steps or rungs always should be evenly spaced - even
the spacing between the top step or rung and the surface of
the platform. Table 6 contains recommended dimensions for:
access slope; tread or rung width; tread depth; rung diame-
ter; and vertical rise for rung ladders, step ladders, and stair-
ways. Table 6 also contains slope and width recommenda-
tions for ramps. However, these recommendations are not
intended to address ramps designed for access by wheel-
chairs.

• Openings between steps or rungs and between the top
step or rung and underside of a platform should prevent
entrapment.

• When risers are closed, treads on stairways and ladders
should prevent the accumulation of sand, water, or other
materials on or between steps.

• Climbing equipment should allow children to descend as
easily as they ascend. One way of implementing this rec-
ommendation is to provide an easier, alternate means of
descent, such as another mode of egress, a platform, or
another piece of equipment. For example, a stairway can
be added to provide a less challenging mode of descent
than a vertical rung ladder or flexible climbing device (see
Table 5).

• For toddlers and preschool-age children, offering an easy
way out is particularly important since their ability to
descend climbing components develops later than their
ability to climb up the same components.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

23

Table 6. Recommended dimensions for access ladders, stairs, and ramps*

AGE OF INTENDED USER

Type of Access Toddler Preschool-age School-age

Ramps (not intended to meet ADA/ABA specifications)
Slope (vertical:horizontal) < 1:� ≤ 1:� ≤ 1:�

Width (single) ≥ 19” ≥ 12” ≥ 1�”
Width (double) ≥ 30” ≥ 30” ≥ 3�”

Stairways
Slope ≤ 35º < 50º < 50º

Tread width (single) 12-21” ≥ 12” ≥ 1�”
Tread width (double) ≥ 30” ≥ 30” ≥ 3�”

Tread depth (open riser) Not appropriate ≥ �” ≥ �”
Tread depth (closed riser) ≥ �” ≥ �” ≥ �”

Vertical rise ≤ �” ≤ 9” ≤ 12”

Step ladders
Slope 35≤�5º 50-�5º 50-�5º

Tread width (single) 12-21” 12-21” ≥ 1�”
Tread width (double) Not appropriate Not appropriate ≥ 3�”

Tread depth (open riser) Not appropriate ≥ �” ≥ 3”
Tread depth (closed riser) �” ≥ �” ≥ �”

Vertical rise > 5 ”and ≤ �” ≤ 9” ≤ 12”

Rung ladders
Slope Not appropriate �5-90º �5-90º

Rung width Not appropriate ≥ 12” ≥ 1�”
Vertical rise Not appropriate ≤ 12” ≤ 12”

Rung diameter Not appropriate 0.95-1.55” 0.95-1.55”

* entrapment recommendations apply to all openings in access components



5.2.4 Transition from access to platform

Handrails or handholds are recommended at all transition
points (the point where the child must move from the access
component to the play structure platform).

• The handhold should provide support from the access
component until the child has fully achieved the desired
posture on the platform.

• Any opening between a handrail and an adjacent vertical
structure (e.g., vertical support post for a platform or ver-
tical slat of a protective barrier) should not pose an
entrapment hazard.

• Access methods that do not have handrails, such as rung
ladders, flexible climbers, arch climbers, and tire climbers,
should provide hand supports for the transition between
the top of the access and the platform.

5.3 Major Types of Playground
Equipment

5.3.1 Balance beams

• Balance beams should be no higher than:

• Toddlers: not recommended.

• Preschool-age: 12 inches.

• School-age: 16 inches.

5.3.1.1 Fall height

The fall height of a balance beam is the distance between
the top of the walking surface and the protective surfacing
beneath it.

5.3.2 Climbing and upper body equipment

Climbing equipment is generally designed to present a
greater degree of physical challenge than other equipment
on public playgrounds. This type of equipment requires the
use of the hands to navigate up or across the equipment.
“Climbers” refers to a wide variety of equipment, such as but
not limited to:

• Arch climbers

• Dome climbers

• Flexible climbers (usually chain or net)

• Parallel bars

• Sliding poles

5.2.2 Rungs and other hand gripping components

Unlike steps of stairways and step ladders that are primarily
for foot support, rungs can be used for both foot and hand
support.

• Rungs with round shapes are easiest for children to grip.

• All hand grips should be secured in a manner that pre-
vents them from turning.

• Toddlers:

– Handrails or other means of hand support should have
a diameter or maximum cross-section between 0.60 and
1.20 inches.

– A diameter or maximum cross-section of 0.90 inches is
preferred to achieve maximal grip strength and benefit
the weakest children.

• Preschool- and school-age:

– Rungs, handrails, climbing bars, or other means of hand
support intended for holding should have a diameter or
maximum cross-section between 0.95 and 1.55 inches.

– A diameter or maximum cross-section of 1.25 inches is
preferred to achieve maximal grip strength and benefit
the weakest children.

5.2.3 Handrails

Handrails on stairways and step ladders are intended to pro-
vide hand support and to steady the user. Continuous
handrails extending over the full length of the access should
be provided on both sides of all stairways and step ladders,
regardless of the height of the access. Rung ladders do not
require handrails since rungs or side supports provide hand
support on these more steeply inclined accesses.

5.2.3.1 Handrail height

Handrails should be available for use at the appropriate
height, beginning with the first step. The vertical distance
between the top front edge of a step or ramp surface and the
top surface of the handrail above it should be as follows:

• Toddlers: between 15 and 20 inches.

• Preschool-age: between 22 and 26 inches.

• School-age: between 22 and 38 inches.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

2�



Handbook for Public Playground Safety

25

Figure 7. Examples of climbers

Simple Arch Climber

Geodesic Dome Climber

Overhead Horizontal Ladder

Overhead Loop Ladder

• Spiral climbers

• Upper body equipment (horizontal overhead ladders,
overhead rings, track ride).

School-age children tend to use climbing and upper body
equipment more frequently and more proficiently than
preschool children. Young preschool children may have diffi-
culty using some climbers because they have not yet devel-
oped some of the physical skills necessary for certain climb-
ing activities (balance, coordination, and upper body
strength). Older preschool children (i.e., 4- and 5-year-olds)
are beginning to use flexible climbers, arch climbers, and
upper body devices.

5.3.2.1 Design considerations

5.3.2.1.1 Layout of climbing components

When climbing components are part of a composite struc-
ture, their level of challenge and method of use should be
compatible with the traffic flow from nearby components.
Upper body devices should be placed so that the swinging
movement generated by children on this equipment cannot
interfere with the movement of children on adjacent struc-
tures, particularly children descending on slides. The design
of adjacent play structures should not facilitate climbing to
the top support bars of upper body equipment.

5.3.2.1.2 Fall Height

Climbers:

• Unless otherwise specified in this section, the fall height
for climbers is the distance between the highest part of
the climbing component and the protective surfacing
beneath it.

• If the climber is part of a composite structure, the fall
height is the distance between the highest part of the
climber intended for foot support and the protective
surfacing beneath it.

– Toddlers: The maximum fall height for free standing
and composite climbing structures should be 32 inches.

Upper Body Equipment:

• The fall height of upper body equipment is the distance
between the highest part of the equipment and the pro-
tective surface below.

5.3.2.1.3 Climbing rungs

Some of the access methods discussed in §5.2 are also con-
sidered climbing devices; therefore, the recommendations for
the size of climbing rungs are similar.



6 ’

6 ’

6 ’

6 ’

Figure 8. Use zone surrounding a freestanding arch climber

Figure 9: Climber with rigid structural components
that DOES NOT meet 5.3.2.1.5

2�

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

which a child may fall from a height of greater than 18
inches. See Figure 9 for an example of a climber that
DOES NOT follow this consideration.

• Rungs should be generally round.

• All rungs should be secured in a manner that prevents
them from turning.

• Climbing rungs should follow the same diameter recom-
mendations as in §5.2.2.

5.3.2.1.4 Use zone

• The use zone should extend a minimum of 6 feet in all
directions from the perimeter of the stand alone climber.
See Figure 8.

• The use zone of a climber may overlap with neighboring
equipment if the other piece of equipment allows
overlapping use zones and

– There is at least 6 feet between equipment when
adjacent designated play surfaces are no more than
30 inches high; or

– There is at least 9 feet between equipment when
adjacent designated play surfaces are more than
30 inches high.

5.3.2.1.5 Other considerations

• Climbers should not have climbing bars or other rigid
structural components in the interior of the climber onto



Figure 10. Freestanding arch climber

Figure 11. Arch climber access

Figure 12. Examples of two- and three-dimensional
flexible climbers

2�

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

5.3.2.3 Flexible climbers

Flexible climbers use a grid of ropes, chains, cables, or tires
for climbing. Since the flexible parts do not provide a steady
means of support, flexible climbers require more advanced
balance abilities than rigid climbers.

Rope, chain, and cable generally form a net-like structure
that may be either two or three dimensional. See Figure 12.
Tire climbers may have the tires secured tread-to-tread to
form a sloping grid, or the tires may be suspended individual-
ly by chains or other means.

• Flexible climbers that provide access to platforms should
be securely anchored at both ends.

• When connected to the ground, the anchoring devices
should be installed below ground level and beneath the
base of the protective surfacing material.

• Connections between ropes, cables, chains, or between
tires should be securely fixed.

• Flexible climbers are not recommended as the sole means
of access to equipment intended for toddlers and
preschool-age children.

• Free-standing flexible climbers are not recommended on
playgrounds intended for toddlers and preschool children.

• Spacing between the horizontal and vertical components
of a climbing grid should not form entrapment hazards.

• The perimeter of any opening in a net structure should be
less than 17 inches or greater than 28 inches (see Figure
13).

5.3.2.2 Arch climbers

Arch climbers consist of rungs attached to convex side sup-
ports. They may be free standing (Figure 10) or be provided
as a more challenging means of access to other equipment
(Figure 11).

• Arch climbers should not be used as the sole means of
access to other equipment for preschoolers.

• Free standing arch climbers are not recommended for tod-
dlers or preschool-age children.

• The rung diameter and spacing of rungs on arch climbers
should follow the recommendations for rung ladders in
Table 6.



Entrapment hazard:
when the perimeter
of the net openings
is between 17 inches
and 28 inches

Should be less
than 17 inches
or greater than
28 inches

Figure 13. Entrapment hazards in flexible climbers

2�

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

• The space between adjacent rungs of overhead ladders
should be greater than 9 inches to prevent entrapment.

• Horizontal ladders intended for preschool-age children
should have rungs that are parallel to one another and
evenly spaced.

• The maximum height of a horizontal ladder (i.e., mea-
sured from the center of the grasping device to the top of
the protective surfacing below) should be:

– Preschool-age (4 and 5 years): no more than 60 inches.

– School-age: no more than 84 inches.

• The center-to-center spacing of horizontal ladder rungs
should be as follows:

– Preschool-age (4 and 5 years): no more than 12 inches.

– School-age: no more than 15 inches.

• The maximum height of the take-off/landing platform
above the protective surfacing should be:

– Preschool-age (4 and 5 years): no more than 18 inches.

– School-age: no more than 36 inches.

5.3.2.� Horizontal (overhead) ladders

Horizontal (overhead) ladders are a type of climber designed
to build upper body strength. They are designed to allow
children to move across the ladder from end to end using
only their hands.

Four-year-olds are generally the youngest children able to
use upper body devices like these; therefore, horizontal lad-
ders should not be used on playgrounds intended for toddlers
and 3-year-olds. The recommendations below are designed
to accommodate children ages 4 through 12 years.

• The first handhold on either end of upper body equip-
ment should not be placed directly above the platform
or climbing rung used for mount or dismount. This
minimizes the risk of children impacting rigid access
structures if they fall from the first handhold during
mount or dismount.

• The horizontal distance out to the first handhold should be:

– No greater than 10 inches but not directly above the
platform when access is from a platform.

– At least 8 inches but no greater than 10 inches when
access is from climbing rungs.



29

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

• Sliding poles should be continuous with no protruding
welds or seams along the sliding surface.

• The pole should not change direction along the sliding
portion.

• The horizontal distance between a sliding pole and any
structure used for access to the sliding pole should be
between 18 inches and 20 inches.

• The pole should extend at least 60 inches above the level
of the platform or structure used for access to the sliding
pole.

• The diameter of sliding poles should be no greater than
1.9 inches.

• Sliding poles and their access structures should be located
so that traffic from other events will not interfere with the
users during descent.

• Upper access should be on one level only.

• The upper access area through the guardrail or barrier
should be 15 inches wide at most.

5.3.2.6.1 Fall height

• For sliding poles accessed from platforms, the fall height is
the distance between the platform and the protective sur-
facing beneath it.

• For sliding poles not accessed from platforms, the fall
height is the distance between a point 60 inches below
the highest point of the pole and the protective surfacing
beneath it.

• The top of the sliding pole’s support structure should not
be a designated play surface.

5.3.2.� Track rides

Track rides are a form of upper body equipment where the
child holds on to a handle or other device that slides along a
track above his or her head. The child then lifts his or her
feet and is carried along the length of the track. Track rides
require significant upper body strength and the judgment to
know when it is safe to let go. These are skills not developed
until children are at least school-age; therefore, CPSC staff
recommends:

• Track rides should not be used on playgrounds for toddlers
and preschool-age children.

• Track rides should not have any obstacles along the path
of the ride, including anything that would interfere in the
take-off or landing areas.

5.3.2.5 Overhead rings

Overhead rings are similar to horizontal ladders in terms of
the complexity of use. Therefore, overhead rings should not
be used on playgrounds intended for toddlers and 3-year-
olds. The recommendations below are designed to accommo-
date children 4 through 12 years of age.

Overhead rings differ from horizontal ladders because, dur-
ing use, the gripped ring swings through an arc and reduces
the distance to the gripping surface of the next ring; there-
fore, the spacing distance recommendations for horizontal
ladders do not apply.

• The first handhold on either end of upper body equipment
should not be placed directly above the platform or climb-
ing rung used for mount or dismount. This minimizes the
risk of children hitting rigid access structures if they fall
from the first handhold during mount or dismount.

• The horizontal distance out to the first handhold should be:

– No greater than 10 inches but not directly above the
platform when access is from a platform.

– At least 8 inches but no greater than 10 inches when
access is from climbing rungs.

• The maximum height of overhead rings measured from
the center of the grasping device to the protective surfac-
ing should be:

– Preschool-age (4 and 5 years): 60 inches.

– School-age: 84 inches.

• If overhead swinging rings are suspended by chains, the
maximum length of the chains should be 7 inches.

• The maximum height of the take-off/landing platform
above the protective surfacing should be:

– Preschool-age (4 and 5 years): no more than 18 inches.

– School-age: no more than 36 inches.

5.3.2.� Sliding poles

Vertical sliding poles are more challenging than some other
types of climbing equipment. They require upper body
strength and coordination to successfully slide down the
pole. Unlike other egress methods, there is no reverse or
stop, so a child cannot change his or her mind. Children
who start a sliding pole must have the strength to slide the
whole way or they will fall.

• Sliding poles are not recommended for toddlers or
preschool-age children since they generally don't have the
upper body and/or hand strength to slide.



Figure 14. Log roll

30

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

5.3.4 Merry-go-rounds

Merry-go-rounds are the most common rotating equipment
found on public playgrounds. Children usually sit or stand on
the platform while other children or adults push the merry-
go-round to make it rotate. In addition, children often get on
and off the merry-go-round while it is in motion. Merry-go-
rounds may present a physical hazard to preschool-age chil-
dren who have little or no control over such products once
they are in motion. Therefore, children in this age group
should always be supervised when using merry-go-rounds.

The following recommendations apply when the merry-go-
round is at least 20 inches in diameter.

• Merry-go-rounds should not be used on playgrounds
intended for toddlers.

• The standing/sitting surface of the platform should have a
maximum height of:

– Preschool: 14 inches above the protective surface.

– School-age: 18 inches above the protective surface.

• The rotating platform should be continuous and
approximately circular.

• The surface of the platform should not have any openings
between the axis and the periphery that permit a rod hav-
ing a diameter of 5/16 inch to penetrate completely
through the surface.

• Two track rides next to each other should be at least 4
feet apart.

• The handle should be between 64 inches and 78 inches
from the surfacing and follow the gripping recommenda-
tions in §5.2.2.

• Nothing should ever be tied or attached to any moving
part of a track ride.

• Rolling parts should be enclosed to prevent crush hazards.

5.3.2.7.1 Fall height

• The fall height of track ride equipment is the distance
between the maximum height of the equipment and the
protective surface beneath it.

• Equipment support posts with no designated play surfaces
are exempt from this requirement.

5.3.3 Log rolls

Log rolls help older children master balance skills and
increase strength. Children must balance on top of the log as
they spin it with their feet. See Figure 14.

• Log rolls are not recommended for toddlers and
preschool-age children. These children generally do not
possess the balance, coordination, and strength to use a
log roll safely.

• Log rolls should have handholds to assist with balance.

• The handholds should follow the guidelines in §5.2.2.

• The highest point of the rolling log should be a maximum
of 18 inches above the protective surface below.

• When not part of a composite structure, the use zone may
overlap with neighboring equipment if the other piece of
equipment allows overlapping use zones (see §5.3.9) and

– There is at least 6 feet between equipment when
adjacent designated play surfaces are no more than
30 inches high; or

– There is at least 9 feet between equipment when
adjacent designated play surfaces are more than
30 inches high.

5.3.3.1.1 Fall height

The fall height of a log roll is the distance between the
highest portion of the rolling log and the protective
surfacing beneath it.



The difference between dimensions AC
and AB should not exceed 2.0 inches.

A = Axis of Rotation
AB = Minimum Radius
AC = Maximum Radius

A

B

Base
C

Figure 15. Minimum and maximum radii of a
merry-go-round platform

Automobile Tire

Figure 16. Typical Fulcrum Seesaw

31

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

5.3.�.2 Fall height

The fall height for a merry-go-round is the distance between
the perimeter of the platform where a child could sit or
stand and the protective surfacing beneath it.

5.3.5 Seesaws

5.3.5.1 Fulcrum seesaws

The typical seesaw (also known as a “teeter totter”) consists
of a board or pole with a seat at each end supported at the
center by a fulcrum. See Figure 16. Because of the complex
way children are required to cooperate and combine their
actions, fulcrum seesaws are not recommended for toddlers
or preschool-age children.

• The fulcrum should not present a crush hazard.

• Partial car tires, or some other shock-absorbing material,
should be embedded in the ground underneath the seats,
or secured on the underside of the seats. This will help
prevent limbs from being crushed between the seat and
the ground, as well as cushion the impact.

• The maximum attainable angle between a line connecting
the seats and the horizontal is 25°.

• There should not be any footrests.

5.3.5.2 Spring-centered seesaws

Preschool-age children are capable of using spring-centered
seesaws because the centering device prevents abrupt con-
tact with the ground if one child dismounts suddenly.
Spring-centered seesaws also have the advantage of not
requiring two children to coordinate their actions in order to
play safely. Spring-centered seesaws should follow the recom-
mendations for spring rockers including the use of footrests
(§5.3.7).

• The difference between the minimum and maximum radii
of a non-circular platform should not exceed 2.0 inches
(Figure 15).

• The underside of the perimeter of the platform should be
no less than 9 inches above the level of the protective
surfacing beneath it.

• There should not be any accessible shearing or crushing
mechanisms in the undercarriage of the equipment.

• Children should be provided with a secure means of hold-
ing on. Where handgrips are provided, they should con-
form to the general recommendations for hand gripping
components in §5.2.2.

• No components of the apparatus, including handgrips,
should extend beyond the perimeter of the platform.

• The rotating platform of a merry-go-round should not
have any sharp edges.

• A means should be provided to limit the peripheral speed
of rotation to a maximum of 13 ft/sec.

• Merry-go-round platforms should not have any up and
down (oscillatory) motion.

5.3.�.1 Use zone

• The use zone should extend a minimum of 6 feet beyond
the perimeter of the platform.

• The use zone may not overlap other use zones, unless the
rotating equipment is less than 20 inches in diameter and
the adjacent equipment allows overlap.



Exit close to horizontal

Slide chute

Platform

Hood or other means to channel 
user into sitting position

Access ladder
or stairway

Figure 17. Typical Free-Standing Straight Slide

32

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

5.3.6 Slides

Children can be expected to
descend slide chutes in many dif-
ferent positions, rather than
always sitting and facing forward
as they slide. These other posi-
tions should be discouraged at all
times to minimize injuries.

Slides may provide a straight, wavy, or spiral descent either
by means of a tube or an open slide chute. They may be
either free-standing (Figure 17), part of a composite struc-
ture, or built on the grade of a natural or man-made slope
(embankment slide). Regardless of the type of slide, avoid
using bare metals on the platforms, chutes, and steps. When
exposed to direct sunlight the bare metal may reach temper-
atures high enough to cause serious contact burn injuries in
a matter of seconds. Provide shade for bare metal slides or
use other materials that may reduce the surface temperature
such as, but not limited to, plastic or coated metal.

5.3.�.1 Slide access

Access to a stand-alone slide generally is by means of a
ladder with rungs, steps, or a stairway with steps. Slides may
also be part of a composite play structure, so children will
gain access from other parts of the structure. Embankment
slides use the ground for access.

5.3.5.3 Use zone for fulcrum and spring-centered
seesaws

• The use zone should extend a minimum of 6 feet from
each outside edge of the seesaw.

• The use zone may overlap with neighboring equipment if
the other piece of equipment allows overlapping use zones
and

– There is at least 6 feet between equipment when
adjacent designated play surfaces are no more than
30 inches high; or

– There is at least 9 feet between equipment when
adjacent designated play surfaces are more than
30 inches high.

5.3.5.� Handholds

• Handholds should be provided at each seating position
for gripping with both hands and should not turn when
grasped.

• Handholds should not protrude beyond the sides of the
seat.

5.3.5.5 Fall height

The fall height for a seesaw is the distance between the
highest point any part of the seesaw can reach and the
protective surfacing beneath it.



5.3.�.2 Slide platform

All slides should be provided with a platform with sufficient
length to facilitate the transition from standing to sitting at
the top of the inclined sliding surface. Embankment slides
are exempt from platform requirements because they are on
ground level; however, they should not have any spaces or
gaps as noted below.

The platform should:

• Be at least 19 inches deep for toddlers.

• Be at least 14 inches deep for preschool-age and
school-age children.

• Be horizontal.

• Be at least as wide as the slide chute.

• Be surrounded by guardrails or barriers.

• Conform to the same recommendations as general
platforms given in §5.1.1.

• Not have any spaces or gaps that could trap strings,
clothing, body parts, etc. between the platform and the
start of the slide chute.

• Provide handholds to facilitate the transition from
standing to sitting and decrease the risk of falls (except
tube slides where the tube perimeter provides hand
support). These should extend high enough to provide
hand support for the largest child in a standing position,
and low enough to provide hand support for the smallest
child in a sitting position.

• Provide a means to channel a user into a sitting position
at the entrance to the chute, such as a guardrail, hood, or
other device that discourages climbing.

5.3.�.3 Slide chutes

5.3.6.3.1 Embankment slides

• The slide chute of an embankment slide should have a
maximum height of 12 inches above the underlying
ground surface. This design basically eliminates the hazard
of falls from elevated heights.

• Embankment slides should follow all of the recommenda-
tions given for straight slides where applicable (e.g., side
height, slope, use zone at exit, etc.).

• There should be some means provided at the slide chute
entrance to minimize the use of embankment slides by
children on skates, skateboards, or bicycles.

5.3.6.3.2 Roller slides

• Roller slides should meet applicable recommendations for
other slides (e.g., side height, slope, use zone at exit, etc.).

• The space between adjacent rollers and between the ends
of the rollers and the stationary structure should be less
than 3/16 inch.

• Frequent inspections are recommended to insure that
there are no missing rollers or broken bearings and that
the rollers roll.

5.3.6.3.3 Spiral slides

• Spiral slides should follow the recommendations for
straight slides where applicable (e.g., side height, slope,
use zone at exit, etc.).

• Special attention should be given to design features which
may present problems unique to spiral slides, such as
lateral discharge of the user.

• Toddlers and preschool-age children have less ability to
maintain balance and postural control, so only short spiral
slides (one 360° turn or less) are recommended for these
age groups.

5.3.6.3.4 Straight slides

• Flat open chutes should have sides at least 4 inches high
extending along both sides of the chute for the entire
length of the inclined sliding surface.

• The sides should be an integral part of the chute, without
any gaps between the sides and the sliding surface. (This
does not apply to roller slides).

• Slides may have an open chute with a circular, semicircu-
lar or curved cross section provided that:

A. The vertical height of the sides is no less than 4 inches
when measured at right angles to a horizontal line
that is 8 inches long when the slide is intended for
toddlers, 12 inches long when the slide is intended for
preschool-age children, and 16 inches long when the
slide is intended for school-age children (Figure 18);
or

B. For any age group, the vertical height of the sides is no
less than 4 inches minus two times the width of the
slide chute divided by the radius of the slide chute
curvature (Figure 19).

33

Handbook for Public Playground Safety



Slide Chute Width

Chute Radius

H

2 x Slide Chute Width

Slide Chute Radius
H = 4 -

Figure 19. Formula for Minimum Vertical Side Height for Slide with Curved Chute

4 in. min.

Slide Chute

8 in. min. (toddler)
12 in. min. (preschool-age)

16 in. min. (school-age)

Bottom of slide. Subject only to general
requirements for protrusions in §3.2

90° 90°

Figure 18. Minimum Side Height for Slide with Circular Cross Section

3�

Handbook for Public Playground Safety



Height (H)
of platform
above exit

Horizontal distance (D) of exit
from beginning of slide chute

Platform

Figure 20. Slide Slope

35

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

5.3.�.� Chute exit region

All slides should have an exit region to help children main-
tain their balance and facilitate a smooth transition from sit-
ting to standing when exiting. The chute exit region should:

• Be between 0 and -4° as measured from a plane parallel to
the ground.

• Have edges that are rounded or curved to prevent lacera-
tions or other injuries that could result from impact with a
sharp or straight edge.

• For toddlers the chute exit region should:

– Be between 7 and 10 inches long if any portion of the
chute exceeds a 24° slope.

– Be no more than 6 inches above the protective
surfacing.

– Have a transition from the sliding portion to the exit
region with a radius of curvature of at least 18 inches.

• For preschool- and school-age the chute exit region
should:

– Be at least 11 inches long.

– Be no more than 11 inches above the protective
surfacing if the slide is no greater than 4 feet high.

– Be at least 7 inches but not more than 15 inches above
the protective surfacing if the slide is over 4 feet high.

• For toddlers:

– The average incline of a slide chute should be no more
than 24° (that is, the height to horizontal length ratio
shown in Figure 20 does not exceed 0.445).

– No section of the slide chute should have a slope
greater than 30°.

– The slide chute should be between 8 and 12 inches wide.

• For preschool- and school-age children:

– The average incline of a slide chute should be no more
than 30° (that is, the height to horizontal length ratio
shown in Figure 20 does not exceed 0.577).

– No section of the slide chute should have a slope
greater than 50°.

5.3.6.3.5 Tube slides

• Tube slides should meet all the applicable recommenda-
tions for other slides (e.g., side height, slope, use zone at
exit, etc.).

• Means, such as barriers or textured surfaces, should be
provided to prevent sliding or climbing on the top
(outside) of the tube.

• The minimum internal diameter of the tube should be no
less than 23 inches.

• Supervisors should be aware of children using tube slides
since the children are not always visible.



6 ft.
Slide
Exit

Zone
H

Denotes Use Zone with Protective Surfacing

6 ft.

6 ft.
min,

8 ft.
max

Figure 21. Use zone for stand-alone slides

3�

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

• Projections up to 3 inches in diameter should not stick up
more than 1/8 inch from the slide.

• There should be no gaps at the tops of slides where the
slide chute connects with the platform that can entangle
clothing or strings.

• See Appendix B for full recommendations and details of
the protrusion test procedure.

5.3.�.� Other sliding equipment

Equipment where it is foreseeable that a primary use of the
component is sliding should follow the same guidelines for
entanglement that are in 5.3.6.7.

5.3.7 Spring rockers

Toddlers and preschool-age children enjoy the bouncing and
rocking activities presented by spring rockers, and they are
the primary users of rocking equipment. See Figure 22. Older
children may not find it challenging enough.

• Seat design should not allow the rocker to be used by
more than the intended number of users.

5.3.�.5 Slide use zone

Toddlers:

• In a limited access environment

– The use zone should be at least 3 feet around the
perimeter of the slide.

– The area at the end of the slide should not overlap with
the use zone for any other equipment.

• In public areas with unlimited access

– For a stand-alone slide, the use zone should be at least
6 feet around the perimeter.

– For slides that are part of a composite structure, the
minimum use zone between the access components and
the side of the slide chute should be 3 feet.

– The use zone at the end of the slide should be at least 6
feet from the end of the slide and not overlap with the
use zone for any other equipment.

Preschool- and school-age (see Figure 21):

• The use zone in front of the access and to the sides of a
slide should extend a minimum of 6 feet from the perime-
ter of the equipment. This recommendation does not
apply to embankment slides or slides that are part of a
composite structure (see §5.3.9).

• The use zone in front of the exit of a slide should never
overlap the use zone of any other equipment; however,
two or more slide use zones may overlap if their sliding
paths are parallel.

• For slides less than or equal to 6 feet high, the use zone in
front of the exit should be at least 6 feet.

• For slides greater than 6 feet high, the use zone in front of
the exit should be at least as long as the slide is high up to
a maximum of 8 feet.

5.3.�.� Fall height

The fall height for slides is the distance between the transi-
tion platform and the protective surfacing beneath it.

5.3.�.� Entanglement hazard

Children have suffered serious injuries and died by getting
parts of their clothing tangled on protrusions or gaps on
slides.

To reduce the chance of clothing entanglement:



Figure 22. Example of spring rocker

3�

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

– There is at least 9 feet between equipment when
adjacent designated play surfaces are more than 30
inches high; and

– The spring rocker is designed to be used from a seated
position.

5.3.�.1 Fall height

The fall height of spring rockers is the distance between
either (1) the highest designated playing surface or (2) the
seat, whichever is higher, and the protective surfacing
beneath it.

5.3.8 Swings

Children of all ages generally enjoy the sensations created
while swinging. Mostly they sit on the swings; however, it
is common to see children jumping off swings. Younger
children also tend to swing on their stomachs, and older
children may stand on the seats. To prevent injuries, these
behaviors should be discouraged.

Swings may be divided into two distinct types:

• Single axis: Sometimes called a to-fro swing. A single-axis
swing is intended to swing back and forth in a single plane
and generally consists of a seat supported by at least two
suspending members, each of which is connected to a
separate pivot on an overhead structure.

• Multi-axis: A multi-axis swing consists of a seat (generally
a tire) suspended from a single pivot that permits it to
swing in any direction.

5.3.�.1 General swing recommendations

• Hardware used to secure the suspending elements to the
swing seat and to the supporting structure should not be
removable without the use of tools.

• S-hooks are often part of a swing’s suspension system,
either attaching the suspending elements to the overhead
support bar or to the swing seat. Open S-hooks can catch
a child’s clothing and present a strangulation hazard. S-
hooks should be pinched closed. An S-hook is considered
closed if there is no gap or space greater than 0.04 inches
(about the thickness of a dime).

• Swings should be suspended from support structures that
discourage climbing.

• A-frame support structures should not have horizontal
cross-bars.

• For toddlers:

– The seat should be between 12 and 16 inches high.

– Spring rockers with opposing seats intended for more
than one child should have at least 37 inches between
the seat centers.

• For preschoolers:

– The seat should be between 14 and 28 inches high.

• Each seating position should be equipped with handgrips
and footrests. The diameter of handgrips should follow
the recommendations for hand gripping components in
§5.2.2.

• The springs of rocking equipment should minimize the
possibility of children crushing their hands or their feet
between coils or between the spring and a part of the
rocker.

• The use zone should extend a minimum of 6 feet from the
“at rest” perimeter of the equipment.

• The use zone may overlap with neighboring equipment if
the other piece of equipment allows overlapping use zones
and

– There is at least 6 feet between equipment when
adjacent designated play surfaces are no more than
30 inches high; or



D1

D2

D1

D3

60"

D4 D4

Figure 23. Minimum Clearances for Single-Axis Swings

Table 7. Minimum clearance dimensions for swings

Reason Dimension Toddler Preschool-age School-age
Full bucket Belt Belt

Minimizes collisions between D1 20 inches 30 inches 30 inches
a swing and the supporting
structure

Minimizes collisions between D2 20 inches 2� inches 2� inches
swings

Allows access D3 2� inches 12 inches 12 inches

Reduces side-to-side motion D� 20 inches 20 inches 20 inches

3�

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

5.3.�.2 Fall height

The fall height for swings is the vertical distance between
the pivot point and the protective surfacing beneath it.

5.3.�.3 Single-axis swings

5.3.8.3.1 Belt seats used without adult assistance

• The use zone to the front and rear of single-axis swings
should never overlap the use zone of another piece of
equipment.

• To minimize the likelihood of children being struck by a
moving swing, it is recommended that no more than two
single-axis swings be hung in each bay of the supporting
structure.

• Fiber ropes are not recommended as a means of suspend-
ing swings since they may degrade over time.

• Swing structures should be located away from other
equipment or activities to help prevent young children
from inadvertently running into the path of moving
swings. Additional protection can be provided by means
of a low blockade such as a fence or hedge around the
perimeter of the swing area. The blockade should not be
an obstacle within the use zone of a swing structure or
hamper supervision by blocking visibility.



Figure 24. Example of full bucket seat swings

39

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

• The full bucket seat materials should not present a stran-
gulation hazard, such as might be presented with a rope or
chain used as part of the seat.

• Openings in swing seats should conform to the entrap-
ment criteria in §3.3.

• Full bucket seat swings should be suspended from
structures that are separate from those for other swings,
or at least suspended from a separate bay of the same
structure.

• Full bucket seat swings should not allow the child to enter
and exit alone.

• Pivot points should be more than 47 inches but no more
than 96 inches above the protective surfacing.

5.3.8.3.3 Use zone for single-axis swings – belt and full
bucket

The use zone in front of and behind the swing should be
greater than to the sides of such a swing since children may
deliberately attempt to exit from a single-axis swing while it
is in motion. See Figure 25.

• The use zone for a belt swing should extend to the front
and rear of a single-axis swing a minimum distance of
twice the vertical distance from the pivot point and the
top of the protective surface beneath it.

• The use zone for a full bucket swing should extend to the
front and rear a minimum of twice the vertical distance
from the top of the occupant’s sitting surface to the pivot
point.

• The use zone in front of and behind swings should never
overlap with any other use zone.

• The use zone to the sides of a single-axis swing should
extend a minimum of 6 feet from the perimeter of the
swing. This 6-foot zone may overlap that of an adjacent
swing structure or other playground equipment structure.

5.3.�.� Multi-axis (tire) swings

Tire swings are usually suspended in a horizontal orientation
using three suspension chains or cables connected to a single
swivel mechanism that permits both rotation and swinging
motion in any axis.

• A multi-axis tire swing should not be suspended from a
structure having other swings in the same bay.

• Attaching multi-axis swings to composite structures is not
recommended.

• Swings should not be attached to composite structures.

• Swing seats should be designed to accommodate no more
than one user at any time.

• Lightweight rubber or plastic swing seats are recommend-
ed to help reduce the severity of impact injuries. Wood or
metal swing seats should be avoided.

• Edges of seats should have smoothly finished or rounded
edges and should conform to the protrusion recommenda-
tions in 5.3.8.5.

• If loose-fill material is used as a protective surfacing, the
height recommendations should be determined after the
material has been compressed.

5.3.8.3.2 Full bucket seat swings

Full bucket seat swings are similar to single-axis swings since
they move in a to-fro direction. However, full bucket seat
swings are intended for children under 4 years of age to use
with adult assistance.

• The seats and suspension systems of these swings, includ-
ing the related hardware, should follow all of the criteria
for conventional single axis swings.

• Full bucket seats are recommended to provide support on
all sides of a child and between the legs of the occupant
(see Figure 24).



Denotes Use Zone with Protective Surfacing

2H

H

2H

6 ft.
6 ft.

6 ft.

6 ft.

Figure 25. Use Zone for Single-Axis Belt Swings

Denotes Use Zone with Protective Surfacing

L

6 ft.

L+6 ft.

6 ft.

Figure 27. Use Zone for Multi-Axis Swings

30" Min.

Figure 26. Multi-Axis Swing Clearance

�0

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

5.3.8.4.1 Multi-axis swing use zones

• The use zone should extend in any direction from a point
directly beneath the pivot point for a minimum distance
of 6 feet plus the length of the suspending members (see
Figure 27). This use zone should never overlap the use
zone of any other equipment.

• To minimize the hazard of impact, heavy truck tires
should be avoided. Further, if steel-belted radials are used,
they should be closely examined to ensure that there are
no exposed steel belts or wires that could be a potential
protrusion or laceration hazard. Plastic materials can be
used as an alternative to simulate actual automobile tires.
Drainage holes should be provided in the underside of the
tire.

• Pay special attention to maintenance of the hanger mech-
anism because the likelihood of failure is higher for tire
swings due to the added stress of rotational movement
and multiple occupants.

• The hanger mechanisms for multi-axis tire swings should
not have any accessible crush points.

• The minimum clearance between the seating surface of a
tire swing and the uprights of the supporting structure
should be 30 inches when the tire is in a position closest
to the support structure (Figure 26).

• The minimum clearance between the bottom of the seat
and the protective surface should not be less than 12
inches.



Denotes Use Zone with
Protective Surfacing

6 ft. 

6 ft.

6 ft.

6 ft.

6
ft.

6
ft.

6 ft. MIN
8 ft. MAX 

STEPPING
FORMS

SLIDE

Figure 28. Use Zones for Composite Structure

�1

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

5.3.10 Fall height and use zones not specified
elsewhere

Most playground equipment belongs in one of the categories
listed above. If it does not, the following general recommen-
dations should be applied:

• The fall height of a piece of playground equipment is the
distance between the highest designated playing surface
and the protective surface beneath it.

• The use zone should extend a minimum of 6 feet in all
directions from the perimeter of the equipment.

• The use zones of two stationary pieces of playground
equipment that are positioned adjacent to one another
may overlap if the adjacent designated play surfaces of
each structure are no more than 30 inches above the pro-
tective surface and the equipment is at least 6 feet apart.

• If adjacent designated play surfaces on either structure
exceed a height of 30 inches, the minimum distance
between the structures should be 9 feet.

• Use zones should be free of obstacles.

• The use zone should extend a minimum of 6 feet from the
perimeter of the supporting structure. This 6-foot zone
may overlap that of an adjacent swing structure or other
playground equipment structure.

5.3.�.5 Protrusions on suspended members of
swing assemblies

Protrusions on swings are extremely hazardous because of
the potential for impact incidents. Nothing, including bolts
or other parts, on the front, back, or underside of a swing
should stick out more than 1/8 of an inch. See test proce-
dures in Appendix B.

5.3.9 Fall height and use zones for composite
structure

When two or more complementary play components are
linked together in a composite structure (e.g., combination
climber, slide, and horizontal ladder), the use zone should
extend a minimum of 6 feet from the external perimeter of
the structure (see Figure 28). Where slides are attached to a
platform higher than 6 feet from the protective surfacing, the
use zone may need to extend further in front of the slide (see
§5.3.6.5).

Figure adapted from
ASTM F1���



Surfacing (§2.4)

Adequate protective surfacing under and around the
equipment.

Install/replace surfacing

Surfacing materials have not deteriorated.

Replace surfacing

Other maintenance: __________________________

Loose-fill surfacing materials have no foreign
objects or debris.

Remove trash and debris

Loose-fill surfacing materials are not compacted.

Rake and fluff surfacing

Loose-fill surfacing materials have not been dis-
placed under heavy use areas such as under swings
or at slide exits.

Rake and fluff surfacing

Drainage (§2.4)

The entire play area has satisfactory drainage, espe-
cially in heavy use areas such as under swings and
at slide exits.

Improve drainage

Other maintenance: __________________________

General Hazards

There are no sharp points, corners or edges on the
equipment (§3.�).

There are no missing or damaged protective caps or
plugs (§3.�).

There are no hazardous protrusions (§3.2 and
Appendix B).

There are no potential clothing entanglement haz-
ards, such as open S-hooks or protruding bolts
(§2.5.2, §3.2, §5.3.�.1 and Appendix B).

There are no crush and shearing points on exposed
moving parts (§3.1).

There are no trip hazards, such as exposed footings
or anchoring devices and rocks, roots, or any other
obstacles in a use zone (§3.�).

Security of Hardware (§2.5)

There are no loose fastening devices or worn con-
nections.

Replace fasteners

Other maintenance: _________________________

Moving parts, such as swing hangers, merry-go-
round bearings, and track rides, are not worn.

Replace part

Other maintenance: _________________________

Durability of Equipment (§2.5)

There are no rust, rot, cracks, or splinters on any
equipment (check carefully where it comes in con-
tact with the ground).

There are no broken or missing components on the
equipment (e.g., handrails, guardrails, protective
barriers, steps, or rungs).

There are no damaged fences, benches, or signs on
the playground.

All equipment is securely anchored.

Leaded Paint (§2.5.4)

Paint (especially lead paint) is not peeling, cracking,
chipping, or chalking.

There are no areas of visible leaded paint chips or
accumulation of lead dust.

Mitigate lead paint hazards

General Upkeep of Playgrounds (§4)

There are no user modifications to the equipment,
such as strings and ropes tied to equipment, swings
looped over top rails, etc.

Remove string or rope

Correct other modification

The entire playground is free from debris or litter
such as tree branches, soda cans, bottles, glass, etc.

Clean playground

There are no missing trash receptacles.

Replace trash receptacle

Trash receptacles are not full.

Empty trash

APPENDIX A: SUGGESTED GENERAL MAINTENANCE CHECKLISTS

NOTES:

DATE OF INSPECTION: INSPECTION BY:

43

Handbook for Public Playground Safety



Handbook for Public Playground Safety

44

Routine Inspection and Maintenance Issues

Broken equipment such as loose bolts, missing end caps,
cracks, etc.

Broken glass & other trash

Cracks in plastics

Loose anchoring

Hazardous or dangerous debris

Insect damage

Problems with surfacing

Displaced loose-fill surfacing (see Section �.3)

Holes, flakes, and/or buckling of unitary surfacing

User modifications (such as ropes tied to parts or
equipment rearranged)

Vandalism

Worn, loose, damaged, or missing parts

Wood splitting

Rusted or corroded metals

Rot



Handbook for Public Playground Safety

45

APPENDIX B: PLAYGROUND TESTING

3.0 inch interior
diameter

1.5 inch interior
diameter

0.50 inch interior
diameter

0.25 inch
thick

1.0
inch exterior

diameter

0.75 inch
thick

2.0
inch exterior

diameter

1.5 inch thick

3.5
inch exterior

diameter

Figure B1. Projection test gauges

1.25 inch max

1/8 inch max.

2 inch max.

Note: gauge made of any rigid material

Figure B2. Projection test gauge for suspended swing assemblies and slides

B.1 Templates, Gauges, and Testing Tools



Handbook for Public Playground Safety

46

9.0 in. dia.

Figure B5. Large head template

6.2 in.

3.5 in.

1.2 in. rad

Figure B4. Preschool- and school-age small torso template

3.0 in. (76 mm)

5.0 in. (130 mm)

R1.5 in. (R38 mm)
R1.0 in. (R25 mm)

Figure B3. Toddler small torso template



Handbook for Public Playground Safety

47

1.0 in.

6.2 in.

5.2 in.

4.0 in.

3.5 in.

1.2 in. Rad. 0.7 in. Rad.

0.5 in.

Figure B7. Preschool- and school-age small torso probe

1.0 in.

3.0 in.

5.0 in.

Radius = 1.5 in.

Radius = 1.0 in.
3.0 in.

Figure B6. Toddler small torso probe

1.0 in.

4.0 in.

8.0 in.

9.0 in. dia.

Figure B8. Large head probe



Handbook for Public Playground Safety

48

1.4

75°

Section A

8.2

6.7

5.0

1.0

0.8

11.2

75°

Section B

Figure B10. Toddler partially bound probe (dimensions in inches, template is 0.60 inches thick)

Section A

Section B

6.1

8.5

0.75

3.0

55°

55°

4.75

1.875

1.875

Figure B9. Preschool/School-age partially bound probe (dimensions in inches, template is 0.75 inches thick)



Handbook for Public Playground Safety

49

B.2 Test Methods

B.2.1 Determining whether a projection is a
protrusion

B.2.1.1 Test procedure

Step 1: Successively place each projection test gauge (see
Figure B1) over any projection

Step 2: Visually determine if the projection penetrates
through the hole and beyond the face of the gauge
(see Figure B11 below).

Pass: A projection that does not extend beyond the
face of the gauge passes.

Fail: A projection that extends beyond the face of
any one of the gauges is considered a haz-
ardous protrusion and should be eliminated.

B.2.2 Projections on suspended members of swing
assemblies

Given the potential for impact incidents, projections on
swings can be extremely hazardous. A special test gauge (see
Figure B2) and procedure are recommended. When tested,
no bolts or components in the potential impact region on
suspended members should extend through the hole beyond
the face of the gauge.

B.2.2.1 Test procedure

Step 1: Hold the gauge (Figure B2) vertically with the axis
through the hole parallel to the swing’s path of
travel.

Step 2: Place the gauge over any projections that are
exposed during the swing’s path of travel.

Step 3: Visually determine if the projection penetrates
through the hole and beyond the face of the gauge.

Pass: A projection that does not extend beyond the
face of the gauge passes.

Fail: A projection that extends beyond the face of
the gauge is considered a hazardous protrusion
and should be eliminated.

B.2.3 Projections on slides

To minimize the likelihood of clothing entanglement on
slides, projections that (1) fit within any one of the three
gauges shown in Figure B1 and (2) have a major axis that
projects away from the slide bed should not have projections
greater than 1/8 inch perpendicular to the plane of the sur-
rounding surface (Figure B12).

B.2.3.1 Test procedure

Step 1: Identify all projections within the shaded area
shown in Figure B13.

Step 2: Determine which, if any, fit inside the projection
test gauges (Figure B1).

Step 3: Place the swing and slide projection gauge (Figure
B2) next to the projection to check the height of
the projection.

APPENDIX B: PLAYGROUND TESTING

Figure B11. Determining whether a
projection is a protrusion



Step 4: Visually determine if the projection extends beyond
the face of the slide projection gauge.

Pass: A projection that does not extend beyond the
face of the gauge passes.

Fail: A projection that extends beyond the face of
the gauge is considered a hazardous protrusion
and should be eliminated.

NOTE: This test procedure is not applicable to the underside of
a slide chute. For a slide chute with a circular cross section, the
portion of the underside not subject to this projection recommen-
dation is shown in Figure 18. The general recommendations for
projections in §B.2.1 are applicable to the underside of the slide.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

50

SLIDING SURFACE

21" R

21" R

42"

19" Toddlers/
14" Preschool/School

SHADED AREA REPRESENTS
NON-ENTANGLEMENT/PROTRUSION

ZONES

EXIT
SECTION

SIDEWALL

60"

STANDING
HEIGHT

21" R

PERPENDICULAR
SURFACE

1/8 Inch maximum

Figure B13. Recommended areas to test for slide entanglement protrusions

HORIZONTAL PLANE

1/8 inch maximum

Figure B12. Upward facing projection



B.2.4 Entrapment

B.2.�.1 General

Any completely-bounded opening (Figure B14) that is not
bounded by the ground may be a potential head entrapment
hazard. Even those openings which are low enough to permit
a child’s feet to touch the ground present a risk of strangula-
tion to an entrapped child, because younger children may
not have the necessary intellectual ability and motor skills to
withdraw their heads, especially if scared or panicked. An
opening may present an entrapment hazard if the distance
between any interior opposing surfaces is greater than 3.5
inches and less than 9 inches. If one dimension of an open-
ing is within this potentially hazardous range, all dimensions
of the opening should be considered together to fully evalu-
ate the possibility of entrapment. The most appropriate
method to determine whether an opening is hazardous is to
test it using the following fixtures, methods, and perfor-
mance criteria.

These recommendations apply to all playground equipment,
i.e., toddler, preschool-age, and school-age children. Fixed
equipment as well as moving equipment (in its stationary
position) should be tested for entrapment hazards. There are
two special cases for which separate procedures are given:
(1) completely-bounded openings where depth of penetra-
tion is a critical issue (see Figure B15) and (2) openings
formed by flexible climbing components.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

51

Ground-bounded: Not subject to entrapment recommendations.

Low entrapment

High entrapment

Figure B14. Examples of completely
bounded openings

Limiting Depth

Figure B15. Completely bounded opening with
limited depth



B.2.5 Test fixtures

Two templates are required to determine if completely
bounded openings in rigid structures present an entrapment
hazard. These templates can easily be fabricated from card-
board, plywood, or sheet metal.

B.2.5.1 Small torso template

The dimensions (see Figure B3 and Figure B4) of this tem-
plate are based on the size of the torso of the smallest user at
risk (5th percentile 6-month-old child for Figure B3 and 2-
year-old child for Figure B4). If an opening is too small to
admit the template, it is also too small to permit feet first
entry by a child. Because children’s heads are larger than
their torsos, an opening that does not admit the small torso
template will also prevent head first entry into an opening by
a child.

B.2.5.2 Large head template

The dimensions (see Figure B5) of this template are based
on the largest dimension on the head of the largest child at
risk (95th percentile 5-year-old child). If an opening is large
enough to permit free passage of the template, it is large
enough to permit free passage of the head of the largest child
at risk in any orientation. Openings large enough to permit
free passage of the large head template will not entrap the
chest of the largest child at risk.

B.2.5.3 Completely bounded openings with
unlimited depth

B.2.5.3.1 Test procedure

Step 1: Select the appropriate small torso template based
on the intended users of the playground (Figure B3
for toddler playgrounds, Figure B4 for preschool-
and school-age playgrounds).

Step 2: Identify all completely bounded openings.

Step 3: Attempt to place the small torso template in the
opening with the plane of the template parallel to
the plane of the opening. While keeping it parallel
to the plane of the opening, the template should be
rotated to its most adverse orientation (i.e., major
axis of template oriented parallel to the major axis
of the opening.)

Step 4: Determine if the small torso template can freely
pass through the opening.

No: Pass. Stop Yes: Continue

Step 5: Place the large head template in the opening, again
with the plane of the template parallel to the plane
of the opening, and try to insert it through the
opening.

Pass: The large head template can be freely insert-
ed through the opening

Fail: The opening admits the small torso template
but does not admit the large head template.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

52



B.2.5.� Completely bounded openings with
limited depth of penetration

The configuration of some openings may be such that the
depth of penetration is a critical issue for determining the
entrapment potential. For example, consider a vertical wall
or some other barrier behind a step ladder. The entrapment
potential depends not only on the dimensions of the opening
between adjacent steps but also on the horizontal space
between the lower boundary of the opening and the barrier.
A child may enter the opening between adjacent steps feet
first and may proceed to pass through the space between the
rear of the lower step and the barrier and become entrapped
when the child’s head is unable to pass through either of
these two openings. In effect, there are openings in two dif-
ferent planes, and each has the potential for head entrap-
ment and should be tested.

Figure B16 illustrates these two planes for a step ladder as
well as for a generic opening. Plane A is the plane of the
completely bounded opening in question, and Plane B is the
plane of the opening encompassing the horizontal space
between the lower boundary of the opening in Plane A and
the barrier that should also be tested for entrapment hazards.

B.2.5.4.1 Test procedure

Step 1: Select the appropriate small torso template based
on the intended users of the playground (Figure B3
for toddler playgrounds, Figure B4 for preschool-age
and school-age playgrounds).

Step 2: Identify all completely bounded openings with lim-
ited depth of penetration.

Step 3: Place the small torso template in the opening in
Plane A with its plane parallel to Plane A; rotate
the template to its most adverse orientation with
respect to the opening while keeping it parallel to
Plane A.

Step 4: Determine if the opening in Plane A admits the
small torso template in any orientation when rotat-
ed about its own axis.

No: Pass. The opening is small enough to prevent
either head first or feet first entry by the
smallest user at risk and is not an entrapment
hazard.

Yes: Continue.

Step 5: Place the small torso template in the opening in
Plane B with its plane parallel to Plane B; rotate the
template to its most adverse orientation with
respect to the opening while keeping it parallel to
Plane B.

Step 6: Determine if the opening in Plane B admits the
small torso template.

No: Pass. The depth of penetration into the open-
ing in Plane A is insufficient to result in
entrapment of the smallest user at risk.

Yes: Continue.

Step 7: Place the large head template (Figure B5) in the
opening in Plane A with its plane parallel to Plane
A. Determine if the opening in Plane A admits the
large head template.

No: Fail. A child, whose torso can enter the open-
ing in Plane A as well as the opening in Plane
B, may become entrapped by the head in the
opening in Plane A.

Yes: Continue.

Step 8: With the plane of the large head template parallel
to the opening in Plane B, determine if the opening
in Plane B admits the large head template.

No: Fail. The largest user at risk cannot exit the
opening in Plane B.

Yes: Pass. The openings in Plane A and Plane B do
not pose an entrapment risk.

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

53

Plane
B

Plane A

Plane A

Plane B

Figure B16. Example of a completely bounded
opening with limited depth of penetration



Handbook for Public Playground Safety

54

Step 6: Place the large head probe (Figure B8) in the open-
ing with the plane of its base parallel to the plane of
the opening.

Step 7: Determine if the large head probe can be pushed or
pulled completely through the opening by a force
no greater than 30 pounds on toddler playgrounds
or 50 pounds on preschool-age and school-age play-
grounds.

Yes: Pass. Stop.

No: Fail.

B.2.5.5 Flexible openings

Climbing components such as flexible nets are also a special
case for the entrapment tests because the size and shape of
openings on this equipment can be altered when force is
applied, either intentionally or simply when a child climbs on
or falls through the openings. Children are then potentially
at risk of entrapment in these distorted openings.

The procedure for determining conformance to the entrap-
ment recommendations for flexible openings requires two
three-dimensional test probes which are illustrated in Figure
B6, Figure B7, and Figure B8 are applied to an opening in a
flexible component with a force of up to 50 pounds.

B.2.5.5.1 Test procedure

Step 1: Select the appropriate small torso template based
on the intended users of the playground (Figure B3
for toddler playgrounds, Figure B4 for preschool-age
and school-age playgrounds).

Step 2: Identify all completely bounded openings with flexi-
ble sides.

Step 3: Place the small torso probes (Figures B6 and B7) in
the opening, tapered end first, with the plane of its
base parallel to the plane of the opening.

Step 4: Rotate the probe to its most adverse orientation
(major axis of probe parallel to major axis of open-
ing) while keeping the base parallel to the plane of
the opening.

Step 5: Determine if the probe can be pushed or pulled
completely through the opening by a force no
greater than 30 pounds on toddler playgrounds or
50 pounds on preschool-age and school-age play-
grounds.

No: Pass. Stop Yes: Continue.

PASS

FAIL

PASS



Handbook for Public Playground Safety

55

Examples of partially bound openings. Note, these examples are intended to illustrate the principle
of partially bound openings and may or may not require testing.

Identifying partially bound openings varies depending on the
age range of the playground. Openings that should be tested
include any opening where:

For toddlers:

• The perimeter of the opening is not closed

• The lowest leg of the opening is tilted upward (i.e. above
horizontal) or 45 degrees below horizontal.

For preschool- and school-age:

• The perimeter of the opening is not closed

• The lowest leg of the opening is tilted upward (i.e. above
horizontal)

B.2.5.� Partially bound openings

A partially bound opening is any opening which has at least
one side or portion open, such as a U- or V-shaped opening.
These openings can still pose an entrapment hazard by
allowing the neck to enter but not allowing the head to slip
out. A partially bound opening can be any part of the play-
ground equipment where a child could get his or her neck
caught, so it includes not only two- or three-sided openings,
but also areas of large openings (large enough for the head
template to enter) that have the characteristics that can
entrap a child’s neck. Several examples outlines of this situa-
tion are shown in the figures below. Openings that have an
outline similar to these figures are often found when two
parts of a playground meet, for example, the top of a slide
and the side of a guardrail.



Handbook for Public Playground Safety

56

Step 6: While still inserted as far as possible, determine if
there is simultaneous contact between both of the
angled sides of section A and the sides of the
opening.

Yes: Note the points No: Pass. The narrow
on the sides of tip should be
opening where resting on the
contact was made lower boundary of
and continue the opening with

no contact with
the sides of the
opening. Stop

Step 7: Remove the template and turn the template so that
the face of the template is perpendicular to the
opening.

Step 8: Following the plane of the opening, insert the B
portion of the template into the opening so that the
narrow part of the B portion is between the sides of
the opening.

B.2.5.6.1 Test procedure

Step 1: Select the appropriate Partially Bound Template
based on the intended users of the playground
(Figure B10 for toddler playgrounds, Figure B9 for
preschool and school-age playground).

Step 2: Identify partially bound openings.

Step 3: Align the template so that the face of the template
is parallel to the plane of the opening and the nar-
row tip of the A section is pointing toward the
opening.

Step 4: Insert the A portion of the template into the open-
ing following the centerline of the opening.

Step 5: Once inserted as far as possible, determine if there
is simultaneous contact between the sides of the
opening and both of the top corners at the narrow
tip of section A.

Yes: Pass. Stop No: continue

5�

Openings shown are
for example purposes
only. Yours may be
shaped or oriented

differently.

Side View

A

B

Side View

A

B

Side View Top View

A B

PASS

PASS



Step 9: Once inserted as far as possible, determine if the B
portion is completely past the points where contact
was made on the sides of the opening with the A
portion.

No: Pass. Stop Yes: Toddlers:
Fail. Stop

Preschool and
School-age:
Continue

Step 10: Determine if the B portion can reach a point where
the opening increases in size.

No: Fail. Stop Yes: continue

Step 11: Determine if the Large Head Template passes freely
through the larger opening.

Yes: Pass No: Fail

Handbook for Public Playground Safety

57

PASS

PASS

FAIL

FAIL



U
.S
.C
O
N
S
U
M
E
R
P
R
O
D
U
C
T

S
A
FE
T
Y
C
O
M
M
IS
S
IO
N

43
30
E
A
S
T
W
E
S
T
H
IG
H
W
A
Y

B
E
T
H
E
S
D
A
,M
D
20
81
4

O
FF

IC
IA

L
B

U
S

IN
E

S
S

P
E

N
A

LT
Y

FO
R

P
R

IV
A

T
E

U
S

E
,$

30
0

A
N
E
Q
U
A
L
O
P
P
O
R
T
U
N
IT
Y
E
M
P
LO
Y
E
R



Manawa High School - RTU-23 Exhaust 
Proposal ID: 7072618 

© 2022 Trane Technologies     All rights reserved   Page 1 of 6  Service Quote  

 
 

 Trane U.S. Inc. 
234 W Florida St., 6th Floor 

Milwaukee, WI 53204 
 Phone: (414) 266-5200 

 
August 24, 2022 

 
 
Matt McGregor   
Senior Project Manager  
Hoffman Planning, Design & Construction, Inc.  
122 E. College Avenue, Suite 1G  
Appleton, WI 54911 

 
 

 
 
Site Address: 
Manawa High School 
515 East Fouth Street 
Manawa, WI 54949 

 
ATTENTION:  Matt McGregor 
 
PROJECT NAME:  Manawa High School - RTU-23 Exhaust 
 
We are pleased to propose the following Trane services for the equipment listed.  Services will be performed 
using Trane’s exclusive service procedures provided by factory trained and experienced technicians.  You 
receive the full benefit of our expertise derived from being Trane equipment’s original manufacturer.  Our 
procedures are environmentally and safety conscious while providing for the efficient delivery of these services. 
 
SCOPE OF SERVICE 

o Trane BAS Tech to create point available to be mapped on graphic initiate the exhaust sequence: 
o Lower EF fan start setpoint (from 40% to 15%) and increased minimum outdoor air to a level 

that just keeps the space slightly negative (20% or slightly higher)  
o Trane will iprovide and install a differential pressure sensor 
o Integration to User interface by others, point mapping on graphic by others   

 
 
  



Manawa High School - RTU-23 Exhaust 
Proposal ID: 7072618 

© 2022 Trane Technologies     All rights reserved   Page 2 of 6  Service Quote  

PRICING AND ACCEPTANCE 
 
TOTAL PRICE:………………………………………………….……………………………….. $6,815.00 USD 
 
CLARIFICATIONS 

1. Applicable taxes are not included and will be added to the invoice. 
2. Any service not listed is not included. 
3. Work will be performed during normal Trane business hours. 
4. This proposal is valid for 30 days from August 24, 2022. 

 
I appreciate the opportunity to earn your business and look forward to helping you with all of your service needs.  
Please contact me if you have any questions or concerns. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
Ashley Henderson 

Trane Inc. US 

 
COVID-19 NATIONAL EMERGENCY CLAUSE 
The parties agree that they are entering into this Agreement while the nation is in the midst of a national 
emergency due to the Covid-19 pandemic (“Covid-19 Pandemic”).  With the continued existence of Covid-19 
Pandemic and the evolving guidelines and executive orders, it is difficult to determine the impact of the Covid-19 
Pandemic on Trane’s performance under this Agreement.  Consequently, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Each party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to perform its obligations under the Agreement 
and to meet the schedule and completion dates, subject to provisions below; 

2. Each party will abide by any federal, state (US), provincial (Canada) or local orders, directives, or 
advisories regarding the Covid-19 Pandemic with respect to its performance of its obligations under this 
Agreement and each shall have the sole discretion in determining the appropriate and responsible 
actions such party shall undertake to so abide or to safeguard its employees, subcontractors, agents 
and suppliers; 

3. Each party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to keep the other party informed of pertinent 
updates or developments regarding its obligations as the Covid-19 Pandemic situation evolves; and   

4. If Trane’s performance is delayed or suspended as a result of the Covid-19 Pandemic, Trane shall be 
entitled to an equitable adjustment to the project schedule and/or the contract price. 

 
This agreement is subject to Customer’s acceptance of the attached Trane Terms and Conditions – 
Quoted Service. 
 

   CUSTOMER ACCEPTANCE 

  

Authorized Representative 

  

Printed Name 

  

Title 

  

Purchase Order 

  

Acceptance Date 

 



Manawa High School - RTU-23 Exhaust 
Proposal ID: 7072618 

© 2022 Trane Technologies     All rights reserved   Page 3 of 6  Service Quote  

TERMS AND CONDITIONS – QUOTED SERVICE 
“Company” shall mean Trane U.S. Inc.. 
To obtain repair service within the scope of Services as defined, contact your local Trane District office identified on the first page of the 
Agreement by calling the telephone number stated on that page. That Trane District office is responsible for Company’s performance of this 
Agreement. Only Trane authorized personnel may perform service under this Agreement. For Service covered under this Agreement, 
Company will be responsible for the cost of transporting a part requiring service. 
1.  Agreement.  These terms and conditions are an integral part of Company’s offer and form the basis of any agreement (the “Agreement”) 
resulting from Company’s proposal (the “Proposal”) for the services (the “Services”) on equipment listed in the Proposal (the “Covered 
Equipment”).  COMPANY’S TERMS AND CONDITIONS ARE SUBJECT TO PERIODIC CHANGE OR AMENDMENT.   
2. Connected Services.  In addition to these terms and conditions, the Connected Services Terms of Service (“Connected Services 
Terms”), available at https://www.trane.com/TraneConnectedServicesTerms, as updated from time to time, are incorporated herein by 
reference and shall apply to the extent that Company provides Customer with Connected Services, as defined in the Connected Services 
Terms. 
3.  Acceptance. The Proposal is subject to acceptance in writing by the party to whom this offer is made or an authorized agent (“Customer”) 
delivered to Company within 30 days from the date of the Proposal. If Customer accepts the Proposal by placing an order, without the addition 
of any other terms and conditions of sale or any other modification, Customer’s order shall be deemed acceptance of the Proposal subject to 
Company’s terms and conditions.  If Customer’s order is expressly conditioned upon the Company’s acceptance or assent to terms and/or 
conditions other than those expressed herein, return of such order by Company with Company’s terms and conditions attached or referenced 
serves as Company’s notice of objection to Customer’s terms and as Company’s counteroffer to provide Services in accordance with the 
Proposal. If Customer does not reject or object in writing to Company within 10 days, the Company’s counteroffer will be deemed accepted.  
Customer’s acceptance of the Services by Company will in any event constitute an acceptance by Customer of Company’s terms and 
conditions. In the case of a dispute, the applicable terms and conditions will be those in effect at the time of delivery or acceptance of the 
Services.  This Agreement is subject to credit approval by Company.  Upon disapproval of credit, Company may delay or suspend performance 
or, at its option, renegotiate prices and/or terms and conditions with Customer.  If Company and Customer are unable to agree on such 
revisions, this Agreement shall be cancelled without any liability, other than Customer’s obligation to pay for Services rendered by Company 
to the date of cancellation.   
4. Cancellation by Customer Prior to Services; Refund. If Customer cancels this Agreement within (a) thirty (30) days of the date this 

Agreement was mailed to Customer or (b) twenty (20) days of the date this Agreement was delivered to Customer, if it was delivered at the 

time of sale, and no Services have been provided by Company under this Agreement, the Agreement will be void and Company will refund 

to Customer, or credit Customer’s account, the full Service Fee of this Agreement that Customer paid to Company, if any.  A ten percent 

(10%) penalty per month will be added to a refund that is due but is not paid or credited within forty-five (45) days after return of this Agreement 

to Company.  Customer’s right to cancel this Agreement only applies to the original owner of this Agreement and only if no Services have 

been provided by Company under this Agreement prior to its return to Company.   

5. Cancellation by Company. This Agreement may be cancelled by Company for any reason or no reason, upon written notice from Company 
to Customer no later than 30 days prior to performance of any Services hereunder and Company will refund to Customer, or credit Customer’s 
account, that part of the Service Fee attributable to Services not performed by Company. Customer shall remain liable for and shall pay to 
Company all amounts due for Services provided by Company and not yet paid. 
6.  Services Fees and Taxes.  Fees for the Services (the “Service Fee(s)”) shall be as set forth in the Proposal and are based on performance 
during regular business hours.  Fees for outside Company’s regular business hours and any after-hours services shall be billed separately 
according to the then prevailing overtime or emergency labor/labour rates.  In addition to the stated Service Fee, Customer shall pay all taxes 
not legally required to be paid by Company or, alternatively, shall provide Company with acceptable tax exemption certificates.  Customer 
shall pay all costs (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by Company in attempting to collect amounts due.   
7.  Payment.  Payment is due upon receipt of Company’s invoice.  Company reserves the right to add to any account outstanding for more 
than 30 days a service charge equal to the lesser of the maximum allowable legal interest rate or 1.5% of the principal amount due at the end 
of each month.   Customer shall pay all costs (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by Company in attempting to collect amounts due or otherwise 
enforcing these terms and conditions.   
8.  Customer Breach.  Each of the following events or conditions shall constitute a breach by Customer and shall give Company the right, 
without an election of remedies, to terminate this Agreement or suspend performance by delivery of written notice: (1) Any failure by Customer 
to pay amounts when due; or (2) any general assignment by Customer for the benefit of its creditors, or if Customer becomes bankrupt or 
insolvent or takes the benefit of any statute for bankrupt or insolvent debtors, or makes or proposes to make any proposal or arrangement 
with creditors, or if any steps are taken for the winding up or other termination of Customer or the liquidation of its assets, or if a trustee, 
receiver, or similar person is appointed over any of the assets or interests of Customer; (3) Any representation or warranty furnished by 
Customer in connection with this Agreement is false or misleading in any material respect when made; or (4) Any failure by Customer to 
perform or comply with any material provision of this Agreement.  Customer shall be liable to the Company for all Services furnished to date 
and all damages sustained by Company (including lost profit and overhead)    
9. Performance. Company shall perform the Services in accordance with industry standards generally applicable in the state or province 
where the Services are performed under similar circumstances as of the time Company performs the Services.  Company is not liable for any 
claims, damages, losses, or expenses, arising from or related to work done by or services provided by individuals or entities that are not 
employed by or hired by Company.  Company may refuse to perform any Services or work where working conditions could endanger property 
or put at risk the safety of people. Parts used for any repairs made will be those selected by Company as suitable for the repair and may be 
parts not manufactured by Company. Customer must reimburse Company for services, repairs, and/or replacements performed by Company 
at Customer’s request beyond the scope of Services or otherwise excluded under this Agreement. The reimbursement shall be at the then 
prevailing applicable regular, overtime, or holiday rates for labor/labour and prices for materials. Prior to Company performing the additional 
services, repairs, and/or replacements, Customer may request a separate written quote stating the work to be performed and the price to be 
paid by Customer for the work. 
10.  Customer Obligations.  Customer shall: (a) provide Company reasonable and safe access to the Covered Equipment and areas where 
Company is to work; and (b) unless otherwise agreed by Customer and Company, at Customer’s expense and before the Services begin, 
Customer will provide any necessary access platforms, catwalks to safely perform the Services in compliance with OSHA, state, or provincial 
industrial safety regulations or any other applicable industrial safety standards or guidelines. 
11. Exclusions.  Unless expressly included in the Proposal, the Services do not include, and Company shall not be responsible for or liable 
to the Customer for, any claims, losses, damages or expenses suffered by the Customer in any way connected with, relating to or arising from 
any of the following: 
(a) Any guarantee of room conditions or system performance; 
(b) Inspection, operation, maintenance, repair, replacement or performance of work or services outside the Services; 
(c) Damage, repairs or replacement of parts made necessary as a result of the acts or omission of Customer or any Event of Force Majeure; 

https://www.trane.com/TraneConnectedServicesTerms


Manawa High School - RTU-23 Exhaust 
Proposal ID: 7072618 

© 2022 Trane Technologies     All rights reserved   Page 4 of 6  Service Quote  

(d) Any claims, damages, losses, or expenses, arising from or related to conditions that existed in, on, or upon the premises before the effective 
date of this Agreement (“Pre-Existing Conditions”) including, without limitation, damages, losses, or expenses involving a Pre-Existing 
Condition of building envelope issues, mechanical issues, plumbing issues, and/or indoor air quality issues involving mold/mould, bacteria, 
microbial growth, fungi or other contaminates or airborne biological agents; and 
(e) Replacement of refrigerant is excluded,unless replacement of refrigerant is expressly stated as included with the Proposal. 
12.  Limited Warranty. Company warrants that: (a) the material manufactured by Company and provided to the Customer in performance of 
the Services is free from defects in material and manufacture for a period of 12 months from the earlier of the date of equipment start-up or 
replacement and (b) the labor/labour portion of the Services is warranted to have been properly performed for a period of 90 days from date 
of completion (the "Limited Warranty").  Company obligations of equipment start-up, if any are stated in the Proposal, are coterminous with 
the Limited Warranty period. Defects must be reported to Company within the Limited Warranty period. Company’s obligation under the Limited 
Warranty is limited to repairing or replacing the defective part at its option and to correcting any improperly performed labor/labour. No liability 
whatsoever shall attach to Company until the Services have been paid for in full.  Exclusions from this Limited Warranty include claims, losses, 
damages, and expenses in any way connected with, related to, or arising from failure or malfunction of equipment due to the following: wear 
and tear; end of life failure; corrosion; erosion; deterioration; Customer's failure to follow the Company-provided maintenance plan; 
unauthorized or improper maintenance; unauthorized or improper parts or material; refrigerant not supplied by Company; and modifications 
made by others to Company's equipment.  Company shall not be obligated to pay for the cost of lost refrigerant or lost product. Some 
components of Company equipment may be warranted directly from the component supplier, in which case this Limited Warranty shall not 
apply to those components and any warranty of such components shall be the warranty given by the component supplier. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, all warranties provided herein terminate upon termination or cancellation of this Agreement.  Equipment, material and/or parts that 
are not manufactured by Company (“Third-Party Product(s)”) are not warranted by Company and have such warranties as may be extended 
by the respective manufacturer. CUSTOMER UNDERSTANDS THAT COMPANY IS NOT THE MANUFACTURER OF ANY THIRD-PARTY 
PRODUCT(S) AND ANY WARRANTIES, CLAIMS, STATEMENTS, REPRESENTATIONS, OR SPECIFICATIONS ARE THOSE OF THE 
THIRD-PARTY MANUFACTURER, NOT COMPANY AND CUSTOMER IS NOT RELYING ON ANY WARRANTIES, CLAIMS, 
STATEMENTS, REPRESENTATIONS, OR SPECIFICATIONS REGARDING THE THIRD-PARTY PRODUCT THAT MAY BE PROVIDED 
BY COMPANY OR ITS AFFILIATES, WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN. 
THE REMEDIES SET FORTH IN THIS LIMITED WARRANTY ARE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDIES FOR WARRANTY CLAIMS 
PROVIDED BY COMPANY TO CUSTOMER UNDER THIS AGREEMENT AND ARE IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER WARRANTIES AND 
LIABILITIES, LIABILITIES, CONDITIONS AND REMIDIES, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, WARRANTY, STATUTE, OR TORT (INCLUDING 
NEGLIGENCE), EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, IN LAW OR IN FACT, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND 
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND/OR OTHERS ARISING FROM COURSE OF 
DEALING OR TRADE.  COMPANY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, ENDORSEMENTS OR 
CONDITIONS OF ANY KIND. EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF QUALITY, FITNESS, 
MERCHANTABILITY, DURABILITY AND/OR OTHERS ARISING FROM COURSE OF DEALING OR TRADE OR REGARDING 
PREVENTION BY THE SCOPE OF SERVICES, OR ANY COMPONENT THEREOF. COMPANY MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR 
WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, INCLUDING WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR PARTICULAR PURPOSE. 
ADDITIONALLY, COMPANY MAKES NO REPRESENATION OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND REGARDING PREVENTING, ELIMINATING, 
REDUCING OR INHIBITING ANY MOLD, FUNGUS, BACTERIA, VIRUS, MICROBIAL GROWTH, OR ANY OTHER CONTAMINANTS 
(INCLUDING COVID-19 OR ANY SIMILAR VIRUS) (COLLECTIVELY, “CONTAMINANTS”), WHETHER INVOLVING OR IN CONNECTION 
WITH EQUIPMENT, ANY COMPONENT THEREOF, SERVICES OR OTHERWISE. IN NO EVENT SHALL COMPANY HAVE ANY 
LIABILITY FOR THE PREVENTION, ELIMINATION, REDUCTION OR INHIBITION OF THE GROWTH OR SPREAD OF SUCH 
CONTAMINANTS INVOLVING OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY EQUIPMENT, THIRD-PARTY PRODUCT, OR ANY COMPONENT 
THEREOF, SERVICES OR OTHERWISE AND CUSTOMER HEREBY SPECIFICALLY ACKNOWLDGES AND AGREES THERETO   
13.  Indemnity. To the maximum extent permitted by law, Company and Customer shall indemnify and hold harmless each other from any 
and all claims, actions, costs, expenses, damages and liabilities, including reasonable attorneys' fees, resulting from death or bodily injury or 
damage to real or personal property, to the extent caused by the negligence or misconduct of the indemnifying party, and/or its respective 
employees or authorized agents in connection with their activities within the scope of this Agreement.  Neither party shall indemnify the other 
against claims, damages, expenses, or liabilities to the extent attributable to the acts or omissions of the other party or third parties.  If the 
parties are both at fault, the obligation to indemnify shall be proportional to their relative fault.  The duty to indemnify and hold harmless will 
continue in full force and effect, notwithstanding the expiration or early termination of this Agreement, with respect to any claims based on 
facts or conditions that occurred prior to expiration or termination of this Agreement.   
14. Limitation of Liability.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY, NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE FOR SPECIAL, 
INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, OR CONSEQUENTIAL LOSSES OR DAMAGES OF ANY KIND (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION 
REFRIGERANT LOSS, PRODUCT LOSS, LOST REVENUE OR PROFITS, OR LIABILITY TO THIRD PARTIES), INCLUDING 
CONTAMINANTS LIABILITIES, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES WHETHER BASED IN CONTRACT, WARRANTY, STATUTE, TORT 
(INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), STRICT LIABILITY, INDEMNITY OR ANY OTHER LEGAL THEORY OR FACTS.  NOTWITHSTANDING 
ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE TOTAL AND AGGREGATE LIABILITY OF THE COMPANY TO THE CUSTOMER 
WITH RESPECT TO ANY AND ALL CLAIMS CONNECTED WITH, RELATED TO OR ARISING FROM THE PERFORMANCE OR NON-
PERFORMANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER BASED IN CONTRACT, WARRANTY, STATUTE, TORT (INCLUDING 
NEGLIGENCE), STRICT LIABILITY, INDEMNITY OR ANY OTHER LEGAL THEORY OR FACTS, SHALL NOT EXCEED THE 
COMPENSATION RECEIVED BY COMPANY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT.  IN NO EVENT SHALL SELLER BE LIABLE FOR ANY 
DAMAGES (WHETHER DIRECT OR INDIRECT) RESULTING FROM MOLD, FUNGUS, BACTERIA, MICROBIAL GROWTH, OR OTHER 
CONTAMINATES OR AIRBORNE BIOLOGICAL AGENTS. TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT ALLOWED BY LAW, COMPANY SHALL NOT 
BE LIABLE FOR ANY OF THE FOLLOWING IN CONNECTION WITH PROVIDING THE ENERGY AND BUILDING PERFORMANCE 
SERVICES: INTERRUPTION, DELETION, DEFECT, DELAY IN OPERATION OR TRANSMISSION; CUSTOMER’S NETWORK 
SECURITY; COMPUTER VIRUS; COMMUNICATION FAILURE; THEFT OR DESTRUCTION OF DATA; GAPS IN DATA COLLECTED; 
AND UNAUTHORIZED ACCESS TO CUSTOMER’S DATA OR COMMUNICATIONS NETWORK. 
15. CONTAMINANTS LIABILITY 
The transmission of COVID-19 may occur in a variety of ways and circumstances, many of the aspects of which are currently not known.  
HVAC systems, products, services and other offerings have not been tested for their effectiveness in reducing the spread of COVID-19, 
including through the air in closed environments.   IN NO EVENT WILL COMPANY BE LIABLE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR 
OTHERWISE FOR ANY INDEMNIFICATION, ACTION OR CLAIM, WHETHER BASED ON WARRANTY, CONTRACT, TORT OR 
OTHERWISE, FOR ANY BODILY INJURY (INCLUDING DEATH), DAMAGED TO PROPERTY,OR ANY OTHER LIABILITIES, DAMAGES 
OR COSTS RELATED TO CONTAMINANTS (INCLUCING THE SPREAD, TRANSMISSION MITIGATION, ELIMINATION, OR 
CONTAMINATION THEREOF) (COLLECTIVELY, “CONTAMINANTS LIABILITIES”) AND CUSTOMER HEREBY EXPRESSLY 
RELEASES COMPANY FROM ANY SUCH CONTAMINANT LIABILITIES. 



Manawa High School - RTU-23 Exhaust 
Proposal ID: 7072618 

© 2022 Trane Technologies     All rights reserved   Page 5 of 6  Service Quote  

16.  Asbestos and Hazardous Materials.  The Services expressly exclude any identification, abatement, cleanup, control, disposal, removal 
or other work connected with asbestos or other hazardous materials (collectively, “Hazardous Materials”).  Should Company become aware 
of or suspect the presence of Hazardous Materials, Company may immediately stop work in the affected area and shall notify Customer.  
Customer will be responsible for taking any and all action necessary to correct the condition in accordance with all applicable laws and 
regulations.  Customer shall be exclusively responsible for any claims, liability, fees and penalties, and the payment thereof, arising out of or 
relating to any Hazardous Materials on or about the premises, not brought onto the premises by Company.  Company shall be required to 
resume performance of the Services only when the affected area has been rendered harmless. 
17.  Insurance.  Company agrees to maintain the following insurance during the term of the contract with limits not less than shown below 
and will, upon request from Customer, provide a Certificate of evidencing the following coverage: 
   Commercial General Liability       $2,000,000 per occurrence 
   Automobile Liability                      $2,000,000 CSL 
   Workers Compensation               Statutory Limits 
If Customer has requested to be named as an additional insured under Company’s insurance policy, Company will do so but only subject to 
Company’s manuscript additional insured endorsement under its primary Commercial General Liability policies.  In no event does Company 
or its insurer waive its right of subrogation 
18.  Force Majeure.  Company’s duty to perform under this Agreement is contingent upon the non-occurrence of an Event of Force Majeure.   
If Company shall be unable to carry out any material obligation under this Agreement due to an Event of Force Majeure, this Agreement shall 
at Company’s election (i) remain in effect but Company’s obligations shall be suspended until the uncontrollable event terminates or (ii) be 
terminated upon ten (10) days’ notice to Customer, in which event Customer shall pay Company for all parts of the Services furnished to the 
date of termination.  An "Event of Force Majeure" shall mean any cause or event beyond the control of Company.  Without limiting the 
foregoing, “Event of Force Majeure” includes: acts of God; acts of terrorism, war or the public enemy; flood; earthquake; lightning; tornado; 
storm; fire; civil disobedience; pandemic insurrections; riots; labor disputes; labor or material shortages; sabotage; restraint by court order or 
public authority (whether valid or invalid), and action or non-action by or inability to obtain or keep in force the necessary governmental 
authorizations, permits, licenses, certificates or approvals if not caused by Company and the requirements of any applicable government in 
any manner that diverts either the material or the finished product to the direct or indirect benefit of the government.   
19.  General.  Except as provided below, to the maximum extent provided by law, this Agreement is made and shall be interpreted and 
enforced in accordance with the laws of the state or province in which the Services are performed without regard to choice of law principles 
which might otherwise call for the application of a different state’s or province’s law.  Any dispute arising under or relating to this Agreement 
that is not disposed of by agreement shall be decided by litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction located in the state or province in which 
the Services are performed.  Any action or suit arising out of or related to this Agreement must be commenced within one year after the cause 
of action has accrued. To the extent the premises are owned and/or operated by any agency of the United States Federal Government, 
determination of any substantive issue of law shall be according to the United States Federal common law of Government contracts as 
enunciated and applied by Federal judicial bodies and boards of contract appeals of the Federal Government. This Agreement contains all of 
the agreements, representations and understandings of the parties and supersedes all previous understandings, commitments or agreements, 
oral or written, related to the Services. No documents shall be incorporated herein by reference except to the extent Company is a signatory 
thereon.  If any term or condition of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of law, all other terms and 
conditions of this Agreement will nevertheless remain in full force and effect as long as the economic or legal substance of the transaction 
contemplated hereby is not affected in a manner adverse to any party hereto.  Customer may not assign, transfer, or convey this Agreement, 
or any part hereof, without the written consent of Company.  Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the 
parties hereto and their permitted successors and assigns.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which when 
executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all together shall constitute but one and the same Agreement.  A fully executed facsimile copy 
hereof or the several counterparts shall suffice as an original. No modifications, additions or changes may be made to this Agreement except 
in a writing signed by Company. No failure or delay by the Company in enforcing any right or exercising any remedy under this Agreement 
shall be deemed to be a waiver by the Company of any right or remedy. 
20.  Equal Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action Clause.  Company is a United States federal contractor that complies fully with 
Executive Order 11246, as amended, and the applicable regulations contained in 41 C.F.R. Parts 60-1 through 60-60, 29 U.S.C. Section 793 
and the applicable regulations contained in 41 C.F.R. Part 60-741; and 38 U.S.C. Section 4212 and the applicable regulations contained in 
41 C.F.R. Part 60-250; and Executive Order 13496 and Section 29 CFR 471, appendix A to subpart A, regarding the notice of employee rights 
in the United States and with Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (U.K.) 1982, c. 11 and applicable 
Provincial Human Rights Codes and employment law in Canada. 
21.  U.S. Government Contracts.   
The following provision applies only to direct sales by Company to the US Government.  The Parties acknowledge that all items or 
services ordered and delivered under this Agreement / Purchase Order are Commercial Items as defined under Part 12 of the Federal 
Acquisition Regulation (FAR). In particular, Company agrees to be bound only by those Federal contracting clauses that apply to “commercial” 
suppliers and that are contained in FAR 52.212-5(e)(1).  Company complies with 52.219-8 or 52.219-9 in its service and installation contracting 
business. The following provision applies only to indirect sales by Company to the US Government.  As a Commercial Item 
Subcontractor, Company accepts only the following mandatory flow down provisions:  52.219-8; 52.222-26; 52.222-35; 52.222-36; 52.222-39; 
52.247-64. If the Services are in connection with a U.S. government contract, Customer agrees and hereby certifies that it has provided and 
will provide current, accurate, and complete information, representations and certifications to all government officials, including but not limited 
to the contracting officer and officials of the Small Business Administration, on all matters related to the prime contract, including but not limited 
to all aspects of its ownership, eligibility, and performance. Anything herein notwithstanding, Company will have no obligations to Customer 
unless and until Customer provides Company with a true, correct and complete executed copy of the prime contract.  Upon request, Customer 
will provide copies to Company of all requested written communications with any government official related to the prime contract prior to or 
concurrent with the execution thereof, including but not limited to any communications related to contractor's Customer's ownership, eligibility 
or performance of the prime contract.  Customer will obtain written authorization and approval from Company prior to providing any government 
official any information about Company's performance of the Services that are the subject of this offer or agreement, other than the Proposal 
or this Agreement. 
22. Limited Waiver of Sovereign Immunity.  If Customer is an Indian tribe (in the U.S.) or a First Nation or Band Council (in Canada), 
Customer, whether acting in its capacity as a government, governmental entity, a duly organized corporate entity or otherwise, for itself and 
for its agents, successors, and assigns: (1) hereby provides this limited waiver of its sovereign immunity as to any damages, claims, lawsuit, 
or cause of action (herein “Action”) brought against Customer by Company and arising or alleged to arise out of the furnishing by Company of 
any product or service under this Agreement, whether such Action is based in contract, tort, strict liability, civil liability or any other legal theory; 
(2) agrees that jurisdiction and venue for any such Action shall be proper and valid (a) if Customer is in the U.S., in any state or United States 
court located in the state in which Company is performing this Agreement or (b) if Customer is in Canada, in the superior court of the province 
or territory in which the work was performed; (3) expressly consents to such Action, and waives any objection to jurisdiction or venue; (4) 
waives any requirement of exhaustion of tribal court or administrative remedies for any Action arising out of or related to this Agreement; and 



Manawa High School - RTU-23 Exhaust 
Proposal ID: 7072618 

© 2022 Trane Technologies     All rights reserved   Page 6 of 6  Service Quote  

(5) expressly acknowledges and agrees that Company is not subject to the jurisdiction of Customer’s tribal court or any similar tribal forum, 
that Customer will not bring any action against Company in tribal court, and that Customer will not avail itself of any ruling or direction of the 
tribal court permitting or directing it to suspend its payment or other obligations under this Agreement.  The individual signing on behalf of 
Customer warrants and represents that such individual is duly authorized to provide this waiver and enter into this Agreement and that this 
Agreement constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of Customer, enforceable in accordance with its terms. 

1-10.48 (0821) 
Supersedes 1-10.48 (0720) 

 

 



Students choosing to excel; realizing their strengths.

To: Board of Education; Dr. Melanie J. Oppor
From:  Dr. Abe El Manssouri, Michele Koshollek, Tracy Konkol
Date:   September 8, 2022
Re: English Course Proposal for SY2023-24

Background:

Several years ago when the English Department decided to add AP Literature and AP Language
to our course offerings, we stopped teaching Advanced Standing/Dual Credit courses through
Fox Valley Technical College (FVTC). The English Department is interested in adding those
back for the 2023-24 school year to offer our students more options for earning technical college
and university credit for courses taken in high school.

At this time, we are looking at using either FVTC or Mid-State Technical College (MSTC).
Amherst High School uses Mid-State, and students have the opportunity to not only earn dual
credit at technical colleges, but at universities around the country and state.  This is a little
different from the Advanced Standing process that we used to use, where students would only be
granted credit for the same course at FVTC.  This is a great opportunity for our students.

The Proposal:

Mrs. Konkol and Mrs. Koshollek are interested in offering English Composition through
MSTC as the second semester of American Literature and Oral/Interpersonal
Communication through MSTC as the second semester of College Prep Writing. (In the
future, we are also interested in perhaps offering some further electives including Speech through
MSTC and an additional CAPP course, such as Creative Writing through the University of
Wisconsin- Oshkosh.)

While English 11 and English 12 would remain the same and be geared toward our students
planning to head directly into the workforce, we would be able to structure our courses in such a
way that a student could either switch at semester, or take the dual credit course as an additional
elective course.

1



The Benefits:

Offering our students more opportunities to take higher level courses and earn college credit can
only be a positive addition to our department.  While we realize this will increase our course
load, adding these courses will also allow students to earn more laude points for graduation and
experience a wider variety of English coursework.

2



 Students choosing to excel; realizing their strengths. 

 To:  Board of Education 
 From:  Danni Brauer and MES Special Education 
 Date:   9/15/22 
 Re:  Special Olympics Young Athletes 

 Young Athletes is a sport and play program for children ages 2 - 10 years old with and without 
 intellectual disabili�es (ID). Young Athletes introduces basic sport skills, like running, throwing 
 and catching. This fun and inclusive program offers families, teachers, caregivers, and people 
 from the community the chance to share the joy of sports with all children and abili�es. Young 
 Athletes welcomes children and their families into the world of Special Olympics. Here are some 
 of the goals and benefits of this program: 

 ●  Let children with and without intellectual disabili�es play together to learn about and 
 understand one another 

 ●  Support social inclusion and inclusive play in schools, communi�es and homes 
 ●  Provide children with ac�vi�es and games that meet their skill and ability levels 
 ●  Show that all children should be valued for their talents and abili�es 
 ●  Promote fitness and teach children about having a healthy lifestyle 

 Program Benefits 

 ●  Motor skills  . Children with ID who took part in an eight-week Young Athletes curriculum 
 saw seven month’s development in motor skill. This is compared to a three month gain 
 in motor skills for children who did not par�cipate. 

 ●  Social, emo�onal and learning skills  . Parents and teachers of children who took part in 
 the Young Athletes curriculum said the children learned skills that they will use in 
 pre-primary school. The children were more enthusias�c and confident. They also played 
 be�er with other children. 

 ●  Expecta�ons  . Family members say that Young Athletes raised their hopes for their child’s 
 future. 

 ●  Sport readiness  . Young Athletes helps children develop important movement and sport 
 skills. These skills get them ready to take part in sports and recrea�on ac�vi�es when 
 they are older. 

 ●  Acceptance  . Inclusive play has a benefit for children without ID as well. It helps them to 
 be�er understand and accept others. 



 Students choosing to excel; realizing their strengths. 

 Megan Anderson (K-5 Special Educa�on Teacher), Jill Seka (Early Childhood Special Educa�on 
 Teacher),  Corrie Ziemer (PE Teacher(, and Julie Cartwright (Physical Therapy Assistant) would 
 like to start this program at MES.  They plan to run 2 8-week sessions with the first session 
 star�ng the week of October 24.  The groups will meet 1 day a week for 30 minutes.  Students 
 from  Mrs. Anderson and Ms. Seka’s classes will par�cipate along with regular educa�on peers. 
 Teachers will recommend students who are in good academic standing, who have good 
 a�endance, are school leaders, and/or students who would benefit from social-emo�onal 
 enrichment. 



Our Mission

Special Olympics provides year-round sports 
training and athletic competition in a variety 
of Olympic-type sports for children and adults 
with intellectual disabilities, giving them 
continuing opportunities to develop physical 
fitness, demonstrate courage, experience joy and 
participate in a sharing of gifts, skills and friendship 
with their families, other Special Olympics athletes 
and the community.

A sport and play 
program for children 

with and without 
intellectual disabilities 
ages 2 to 7 years old.

Everyone benefits from 
Young Athletes.
Motor skills. Children with intellecual 
disabilities (ID) who took part in an eight-week 
Young Athletes curriculum saw seven month’s 
development in motor skills. This is compared 
to a three month gain in motor skills for 
children who did not participate.

Social, emotional and learning skills. Parents 
and teachers of children who took part in the 
Young Athletes curriculum said the children 
learned skills that they will use in pre-primary 
school. The children were more enthusiastic, 
confident  and played better with others.

Expectations. Family members say that Young 
Athletes raised their hopes for their child’s 
future.

Sport readiness. Young Athletes helps all 
children to develop important movement and 
sport skills. These skills get them ready to take 
part in sports and recreational activities when 
they are older. 

Acceptance. Inclusive play has a benefit for 
children without ID as well. It helps them to 
better understand and accept others. 

Special Olympics
Young Athletes 

www.specialolympics.org/YoungAthletes



Special Olympics Young Athletes is a sport and 
play program for children with and without 
intellectual disabilities (ID), ages 2 to 7 years 
old. Young Athletes introduces basic sport 
skills, like running, kicking and throwing. Young 
Athletes offers families, teachers, caregivers 
and people from the community the chance 
to share the joy of sports with all children. 
Children of all abilities take part, and they all 
benefit.

Children learn how to play with others 
and develop important skills for learning. 
Children also learn to share, take turns and 
follow directions. These skills help children in 
family, community and school activities. 

Young Athletes is a fun way for children 
to get fit. It is important to teach children 
healthy habits while they are young. This can 
set the stage for a life of physical activity, 
friendships and learning. 
 
Young Athletes is easy to do and fun for 
all. It can be done at home, in schools or in the 
community using the Young Athletes Activity 
Guide and basic equipment. 

Through Young Athletes, all children, their 
families and people in the community can be 
part of an inclusive team.

“When my baby was born and I found out 
that he had an intellectual disability, 

my world fell apart.      

At Young Athletes, I see him move about, 
smiling, mixing freely with others and 
not holding on to the tail end of my 
skirt. It makes me cry tears of happiness 
and restores my hope that he can be 
independent one day.

NOw I dare tO dreaM 
and plan to play baseball with my son when 
he grows up.”

-- Misae Katsumata, Japan

Young Athletes welcomes children 
and their families into the world of 
Special Olympics. Activities are designed 
to support children of all ability levels and can 
be run inclusive of children with and without 
intellectual disabilities. 

Young Athletes is run one of three different 
settings - schools, communities and homes. 

Young Athletes in Schools…
Teachers and therapists can use Young 
Athletes in the classroom to support children in 
developing important motor, communication 
and learning skills. 

Young Athletes in the Community…
Young Athletes provides an opportunity 
for children with and without intellectual 
disabilities to come together with a coach for 
organized play. In community programs, family 
members can share in the fun with their child. 

Young Athletes at Home…
Parents, grandparents, siblings and friends 
play together at home with children using 
Young Athletes for activities and ideas. 

Special Olympics 
Young Athletes



2022-23 SDM Salary and Stipend Guide Revision Recommendations 

Page Change 

 Addition of Wage Equalization info 

4 (V) Clarification of where to find the TPE Guide 

throughout Gender neutral pronoun 

5-6 (X) Added language and reorganized the steps for clarity (procedure did not change) 

7 Replaced “mentee” with “initial educator” 

7 Replaced “mentee” with “newly hired, experienced teacher” 

8 Added “*” to activities that require preapproval 

10 Professional Educator Stipends, Internal Subbing, added “or $20 per hour” 

10 Substitute Teacher hourly rate no longer applies, added half day rate 

10 Eliminated Clerical/Health Support because this job no longer exists 

11 Athletic Director stipend reflects current agreement with a stipend for Home 

Event Supervisors (reflects practice begun in 2021-22 due to AD being a head 

coach of multiple sports) 

11 Assistant Football coach, changed position number wording to match other 

positions.  7-8th Gr. Football changed wording to indicate combined team with 2 

coaches. 

11 Eliminated Middle School Cross Country and combined the program to 6-12 

Cross Country (reflective of practice) 

11 Changed “MS” to “5th-8th Gr.” Wrestling 

12 Changed “Jr. High” to “Middle School” Track – listed the Middle School Track 

coaches together and clarified the number based on participation. 

12 Added “Boys and Girls” to Golf for clarity 

12 Separated Art Club and Art Team because they are separate groups 

12 Event Chaperones – moved the payment to correct column 

12 Changed FBLA/DECCA advisor payment to $315 to match others 

13 Separated LWHS and MMS Yearbook stipends into 2 separate groups and added 

wording to eliminate payment if the development of a yearbook is part of a class 

taught within the school day 

13 Changed “mentee” to “initial educator” 

13 Added “*Positions may not be needed or filled due to participation” 

13 Changed the CWC Officials Rates table to match the CWC publication 

14 Eliminated Trainer pay because this is a contract through the physical therapy 

provider 

14 Changed the rates of pay for the Track Flash Timer and the Track Hand Timer to 

$35 each and the Volleyball Freshman Book and Volleyball Freshman Clock to 

$15 each. 

The Support Staff Handbook will be posted to the School District of Manawa website following 

Board of Education approval of substantive language changes as presented. The Manawa Board 

of Education will be notified of the date that this handbook is converted to a version considered 

compatible for use by individuals with visual impairments or limited vision as per the Office of 

Civil Rights requirements and posted to the School District of Manawa website. This OCR 

compatible conversion may impact the appearance of the document (i.e. change in fonts, font 

sizes, paging in the table of contents, etc.) resulting in technical changes but no substantive 

changes will be made. Should a substantive change be required, the handbook will be brought 

back to the Board of Education for approval. 



 1 

 

 

Students choosing to excel; realizing their strengths. 

 

  
2021-222022-23 

 

Salary & Stipend Guide 

 

 

School District of Manawa 

800 Beech Street 

Manawa, WI 54949 

920-596-2525 

www.manawaschools.org 

 

 

 

   Approved by the Manawa Board of Education on 

July 19, 2021 and November 15, 2021(revised), September 19, 2022 

 

  

 

 



 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
(This page left blank intentionally.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 3 

 

 

School District of Manawa 

Salary Advancement Model 

 

Original Planning Team 

 

District Administrator, Melanie J. Oppor 

Business Manager, Carmen O’Brien 

MES, Sarah Highlander 

MES, LuAnne Ujazdowski 

MES, Meria Wright 

LWJSHS, Jeff Bortle 

LWJSHS, Andrea Hraban 

LWJSHS, Michele Koshollek 

 

 

I.  Background  

The SDM Salary Advancement Model was designed in the 2017-18 school year by a 

joint committee of SDM teachers and administrators. This Salary Advancement Model 
replaced the previous teacher/administrator designed plan called the Professional 

Advancement Compensation Eligibility (PACE) that was in place from the 2015-16 
school year through the 2017-18 school year with final payments made in the 2018-19 

school year.   

 

The Salary Advancement Model is a combination of features gathered from other 

Wisconsin school districts along with the creative, personalized ideas suggested by 
School District of Manawa stakeholders.  The driving vision for this plan is to 

acknowledge and foster a culture of professionalism that is characterized by a 

commitment to continuous improvement throughout a career. The vision reinforces 
characteristics to include quality instruction by fostering a culture of professionalism 

through accountability, a job-embedded salary structure, and continuous improvement 
through lifelong learning.  This compensation system recognizes the many, varied ways 

in which 4K- to grade 12 teachers work with students to enrich their lives and thus, the 
wide variety of professional growth opportunities needed by teachers to continue to 

grow and feel fulfilled over the life of their career as a professional educator.  A goal of 
the SDM Salary Advancement Model is to promote a positive and collaborative learning 

environment in which teachers are compensated for their professionalism.  

  
II.  Overview  

A single-lane, eight-tiered career ladder is used as the basis for salary advancement (See 

Appendix A). There are several levels through which a typical teacher will pass during a 
career spanning 2-3 decades of employment with the SDM.  Teachers typically move 

from one level to the next level about every six years through a promotion process based 
on the accumulation of points for a wide variety of professional development activities.  

Advancement requires collaboration, professionalism, and evidence of continuous 
improvement. There is also annual incremental growth within each level.  

   



 4 

III.  Career Levels  

The single-lane salary structure is intended to provide opportunities for all educators --- 
from initial educator through experienced veteran educators.  Promotions from one level 

to another are based on evidence of professional improvement that will be showcased in 

a culminating reflection experience with the teacher’s supervising principal with the 
option of including a secondary administrator.  This is a professional advancement 

career ladder.   

  
IV.  Salary Structure  

The single-lane salary structure is based on the opportunity to be promoted annually in 
small incremental steps. Teachers can move one step each contract year. Larger salary 

advancements will be provided at critical junctures in the model as teachers move from 
initial educator licenses to regular teacher licenses and again as teachers move from one 

level to the next level about every six years or two summary evaluation cycles.   The 
teacher may submit documentation of the accumulated points no later than February 1 of 

the teacher’s eligible year. Those points may include anticipated activities anticipated to 
be completed on or before June 30 of the year points are being submitted for salary 

advancement. A teacher may defer movement from one level to the next level for one 

year either at the teacher’s discretion or the principal’s recommendation. 

  
V.  Job Performance Evaluation  

The specifics of the District’s teacher evaluation plan are contained in the SDM 
Teacher Performance Evaluation (TPE) Guide, as found in the Frontline software 

solution.  The SDM utilizes the CESA 6 Teacher Effectiveness Model, based on the 
work of Dr. James Stronge, for its evaluation system.  The SDM Salary Advancement 

Model is fully integrated with the TPE to maximize the connectedness between job 
performance reviews, evidentiary artifacts, and the advancement process.  This 

integration allows teachers to maintain their focus and not be pulled in different 
directions by varied systemic requirements.  The SDM annually conducts a full 

summary evaluation on each initial educator (defined as any teacher employed in 

his/her their first three years as a teacher within the District).  Subsequently, teachers 
on continuing contracts have a full summative evaluation by their direct supervisor no 

less than every three years, subject to compliance with state statute.  Every teacher has 
specific goals upon which they are measured every year, and every teacher receives a 

brief administrative review every non-summative year based on goal progress and 
other factors.    

  
VI.  Performance Improvement Plan Freeze  

Each teacher’s direct administrative supervisor is responsible for providing a written 

summary evaluation of the teacher’s performance since theirhis/her previous summary 
evaluation in accordance with the format adopted by the District.  If a teacher has a 

negative summary (more than one “needs to improve” standard on the Teacher 

Effectiveness Model), then that teacher is placed on a Performance Improvement Plan 
and is frozen at his/hertheir current location on the Salary Advancement Model for the 

next school year.  No advancement may occur. The same process would be used with a 
teacher between summary years whose performance was deemed unsatisfactory by the 

administrator who is responsible for documenting administrative review during non-
summary years. In order to resume advancement in the Salary Advancement Model, the 

professional educator must satisfactorily complete the Plan of Improvement process as 
defined in the TPE and approved by the supervising principal.   

 



 5 

VII.   Advancement on the Wage Model  

Points are accumulated over a six-year span for Salary Advancement. Each teacher must 
accumulate 240 points that roughly equates to 240 hours of non-contractual time. Points 

are divided into two categories: Professional & Leadership Growth and Community & 

Connections.  

 

At least 70% or 168 points must be devoted to Professional & Leadership Growth 
related activities. A teacher can choose to complete all points in the Professional & 

Leadership Growth activities.  These activities focus on a professional growth mindset 
that culminates in the teacher taking on leadership roles that enhance the profession.  

 

No more 30% or 72 points will be accepted for Community & Connections.  This 

category recognizes the importance of forging lasting relationships with students, 
families, business partners, and the SDM community for the betterment of the district. 

 

The teacher will create a reflection on how the new learning from participation in the 
activities named for points enhanced instruction in the classroom (or service to clients in 

the case of counselors, therapists, etc.).  The reflection may be presented in a variety of 
different ways such as, but not limited to, written, verbal, technology presentation, or 

video.  The method of sharing the reflection should support the teacher’s purpose in 
demonstrating how the teacher has grown in his/hertheir craft. 

 

The Board of Education makes all advancement decisions in the spring based on the 

recommendation of the District Administrator, who is presented with an approved 

compilation of the Salary Advancement points. There are no automatic advancements 
from one level to the next level meaning that if a teacher chooses not to submit the 

documentation of points and reflection, an advancement will not be processed. There is 
no quota or restriction for the number of advancements granted annually from the pool 

of eligible candidates.  All criteria for documentation must be submitted for 
advancement by February 1. Teachers who are not promoted remain frozen at their 

current salary schedule level until such time as they are advanced.  Candidates who do 
not feel ready for the advancement process may defer for a year at a time, remaining 

frozen at their level, until such time as they feel ready to proceed with the advancement 

process. Smaller annual salary increases are available within levels. 

  
X.  Procedures for Advancement  

  

A.  It is the teacher’s responsibility to keep track of points on the Professional Advancement 

Points Form – Addendum D Form (electronic or paper options) for qualifying activities.  

B. It is the responsibility of the teacher to obtain verification (electronic or signature) on the 
Professional Advancement Points Form – Addendum D for each activity within 15 days 

following the completion of the activity. Teachers will retain their completed form(s) 
until they reach level 6 and have accumulated 240 points/equivalent to about 240 hours.  

C. No later than February 1, the teacher must submit all documentation of accumulated 

Salary Advancement and have a meeting with their principal to endorse the Reflection 
Cover Sheet (Addendum C).Teachers will retain their completed form(s) until such time 

as the teacher accumulates 240 points/equivalent to about 240 hours and submits the 
completed form(s) found in Addenda C and D for those points to the District 

Administrator.  The deadline for submission is February 1 of the year in which the 



 6 

teacher is eligible for salary advancement from one level to another. The salary 
advancement will be applied the following school year.  

D. No later than February 1 and with the principal endorsement of the Reflection Cover 

Sheet (Addendum C), the teacher must submit all documentation of accumulated Salary 
Advancement and a principal endorsed Reflection Cover Sheet (Addendum C) to the 

District Administrator.  

E. At the February meeting of the School Board, the District Administrator will present the 
advancement recommendations to the Board in open session.  The Board will discuss 

and make decisions regarding the advancements.  

F. Following the Board’s decision at the February meeting, the District Administrator will 

notify each teacher of the Board’s decision. 

F.G. The salary advancement will be documented on the following school year’s 
contract.  

G.H. Points not submitted for Salary Advancement may be held over for not more than 

seven fiscal years (July 1 to June 30) beyond the date of completion noted on the Salary 
Advancement Activity Form for that activity. 

   

XI.  Rules for Salary Advancement Compensation Eligibility Points  

A.  The number of points needed for movement from one level to the next is 
240 points/about the equivalent of 240 hours. 

B. There will be no “double dipping.” If a monetary stipend is available for an activity 
(e.g., an advisory post or coaching), the teacher will receive either the monetary 

stipend or the Salary Advancement points for that activity as declared in advance 

when accepting the annual contract for that position.   

C. It is the responsibility of the teacher to obtain a verification (electronic or signature) 

on the Activity Form for each activity within 15 days following the completion of the 

activity.   

D. Teachers will retain their completed compilation form until such time as the teacher 

accumulates 240 points and submits the completed form for those points with the signed 
reflection cover sheet to the District Administrator.  The deadline for submission is 

February 1 of the year in which the teacher is eligible for salary advancement from one 

level to another. The salary advancement will be applied to the teacher’s contract base 
wage for the following school year.  

E. A special Professional & Leadership Growth activity option provides an opportunity 
for professional educators to apply to their school principal for salary advancement 

points for an activity that is not outlined below.  The school principal has 
discretionary authority to grant points for such requests and will use a rigorous 

professional standard for making a decision. Points are given for tasks that go beyond 
the professional educator’s contractual/handbook responsibilities.   

 

The following guidelines will be used for assigning point values to activities not 
specifically listed in the tables below: 

 Activity occurs outside of work hours (evenings, weekends, summer, etc.). 

 No compensation is being received for the task. 

 Tasks must lead to demonstrable professional growth as evidenced through 

reflections shared with the principal. 
 

 
 

 

 



 7 

 
 

 
 

 

F. The following activities qualify for salary advancement points as delineated below:  

 

Professional & Leadership Growth 

Points needed at the 6-year mark = 240 at least 70% 

Minimum number of points needed 168 

Points Opportunities  

Complete graduate credit(s) 15 per credit 

Additional certification/license related to position or 

school district (preapproval required) or National Board 

Certification 

100-240 points*  

Mentor (up to 20 hours per year) 2 points/hour/initial educatormentee 

Professional Buddy (up to 20 hours per year) 
1 point/hour/newly hired, 

experienced teachermentee 

Supervisor of student teachers 9 points/quarter 

Internship supervisor 18 point/quarter 

Teach a graduate course 50 points/course 

Articulated/dual credit or AP course instructor 20 points/year 

Officer of a professional education organization  1 point/hour 

Member of a professional education organization 10 points/organization 

Lead a professional development session (in-house) 
 5 points per hour of presentation 

(includes preparation in the figure) 

Present at a workshop/conference (out-of-district) 10 points 

Attend conference/workshop (preapproval required) 1 point/hour * 

Member of non-contractual committees (preapproval 

required) 
1 point/hour * 

Initiate innovative classroom practice(s) (preapproval 

required) 

2 points/hour/week(s) implemented 

up to 100 points * 

Participate in a book study group outside of contractual 

hours (preapproval required) 
1 point/hour up to 10 points/book * 

Published in a scholarly journal 50 points 



 8 

Grant writing 2 point/hour 

Awarded a grant 10 points/grant 

        *denotes preapproval requirement 

Community & Connections  

 up to 30% 

Maximum number of points accepted 72 

Points Opportunities  

Athletic or co-curricular Coach/Advisor of pre-approved 

activity (points vs. stipend) 
1 point/hour* 

Create and serve as an advisor for an after-school activity 

(non-stipend) 
1 point/hour* 

Community outreach  1 point/hour up to 20 points 

Attend a school related event (non-contractual hours) 1 point/hour up to 20 points 

Member of a community organization 1 point/hour 

Author article in Wolf Pack Express 1 point/article 

Human Service-based children/family support team 1 point/hour* 

Chaperone a one-day non-school day field trip/non-parent 

role 
1 point/hour up to 8 hours a day* 

Chaperone a multi-day field trip (in a non-parent role) 1 point/hour up to 8 hours a day* 

Lunch Supervision – in lieu of 30 minute duty-free lunch 
6 points or 1 additional PTO day 

per semester* 

            *denotes preapproval requirement 

 

Summary Timeline for SDM Salary Advancement 
  

By October 1  Teachers who are eligible for Advancement will be confirmed.   

By January31 Teachers who are eligible for Advancement will hold a reflection 

conference with their building principal and up to one secondary 

administrator (optional) as mutually agreed upon by the teacher and 

principal based on the secondary evaluator’s expertise.   

 

By February 1  All signed Salary Advancement point forms are submitted to the District 

Administrator in a single complete packet.  



 9 

At February BOE 

meeting  

District Administrator presents advancement recommendations to the 

Board of Education in open session for Board action.  

By Early-March  Teachers will be notified of their advancement as per the Board’s 

decision.  

Salary Advancement Model 

 Increase from past year Level Wage 

LEVEL A 

$0 A1 $40,000 

$800 A2 $40,800 

$800 A3 $41,600 

$1,000 A4 $42,600 

$1,000 A5 $43,600 

$1,500 A6 $45,100 

LEVEL B 

$1,500 B1 $46,600 

$1,000 B2 $47,600 

$1,000 B3 $48,600 

$1,000 B4 $49,600 

$1,000 B5 $50,600 

$1,000 B6 $51,600 

LEVEL C 

$3,000 C1 $54,600 

$500 C2 $55,100 

$500 C3 $55,600 

$500 C4 $56,100 

$500 C5 $56,600 

$500 C6 $57,100 

LEVEL D 

$3,000 D1 $60,100 

$500 D2 $60,600 

$500 D3 $61,100 

$500 D4 $61,600 

$500 D5 $62,100 

$500 D6 $62,600 

LEVEL E 

$3,000 E1 $65,600 

$500 E2 $66,100 

$500 E3 $66,600 

$500 E4 $67,100 

$500 E5 $67,600 

$500 E6 $68,100 

LEVEL F 

$1,000 F1 $69,100 

$500 F2 $69,600 

$500 F3 $70,100 

$500 F4 $70,600 

$500 F5 $71,100 

$500 F6 $71,600 

LEVEL G 

$1,000 G1 $72,600 

$500 G2 $73,100 

$500 G3 $73,600 

$500 G4 $74,100 

$500 G5 $74,600 

$500 G6 $75,100 



 10 

LEVEL H 

$1,000 H1 $76,100 

$500 H2 $76,600 

$500 H3 $77,100 

$500 H4 $77,600 

$500 H5 $78,100 

$500 H6 $78,600 

Professional Educator Stipends 

 

 Rate 

Curriculum Development $25 per hour 

Professional Development $20 per hour 

Professional Development with required product $25 per hour 

Internal Subbing $18 per class period or $20 per hour 

 

 

Substitute Teacher  

 

 Rate 

Former SDM Teacher $120 per day 

Substitute Teacher $120110 per day or $60 per half day 

 $14.29 per hour* 

Hourly sub. rate was calculated as $100 per day divided by 7 teaching periods in a regular 
teaching day (includes RTI time) 

 

 

Support Staff - Each year, the Business Manager will submit a support staff wage proposal 

as part of the Staff and Program change procedure to the Board of Education.  Increases in 

wages will be determined by the Board of Education pending a positive evaluation.  

 

Support Staff 

Job Category Starting Wage 

Clerical  

Payroll/Accounts Payable $16.00 

Administrative Assistant $15.00 

District Administrative Clerical Support $14.50 

Clerical/Health Support $14.25 

  

Food Service  

Food Service Manager $15.00 

Food Service Team Member $13.25 

  

Paraprofessionals  

Special Education Paraprofessional $14.75 

Instructional Paraprofessional $13.25 

  

Custodial  

Building Custodian $13.75 

Part-time Maintenance $14.00 

Part-time Grounds Keeping $11.75 

  



 11 

Substitutes  

Custodian $11.50 

Paraprofessionals $11.00 

Food Service $11.00 

Building Clerical $10.75 

 

 

Appendix B 

 

Co-Curricular Stipends 

Position 

 

Stipend 

Athletic Director $8,75010,000 

Home Event Supervisor (in place of AD) $50 per event 

Fall Coaches  

Head Football $3,240 

Asst. Football (up to 3)3 @ $1,935 each) $5,8051,935 

7-8th Gr. Football (up to 2) $1,465 

7-8th Gr. Football $1,465 

Head Volleyball $3,240 

Junior Varsity Volleyball $1,935 

Junior Varsity 2 Volleyball $1,935 

8th Gr. Volleyball $1,465 

7th Gr. Volleyball $1,465 

6-12 Cross Country Head $3,240 

6-12 Asst. Cross Country $1,935 

MS Cross Country $1,465 

Winter Coaches  

Boys Basketball Head   $3,240 

Junior Varsity Boys Basketball $1,935 

Junior Varsity 2 Boys Basketball  $1,935 

8th Gr. Boys Basketball $1,465 

7th Gr. Boys Basketball $1,465 

Girls Basketball Head  $3,240 

Junior Varsity Girls Basketball  $1,935 

Junior Varsity 2 Girls Basketball $1,935 

8th Gr. Girls Basketball $1,465 

7th Gr. Girls Basketball $1,465 

Head Wrestling $3,240 

Asst. Wrestling $1,935 

5th-8th GrMS Wrestling  $1,465 

Spring Coaches  

Head Softball $3,240 

Junior Varsity Softball $1,935 

Head Baseball $3,240 

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted: Superscript



 12 

Junior Varsity Baseball $1,935 

Track Head Coach $3,240 

Asst. Track (up to 2 if over 25 participants) $1,935 

Asst. Track (if 25+ students) $1,935 

Middle School Jr. High Track 

1-25 participants = 1 coach 

26-50 participants = 2 coaches 

>50 participants = 3 coaches 

$1,465 

Jr. High Track $1,465 

Jr. High Track (if numbers exceed 50) $1,465 

Head Golf -– Combined Boys and Girls $3,240 

Cheerleading / Pep Club $3125 

Fine Arts / Club / Advisors  

Art Club / Team $3215 

Art Team $1,935 

Marching Band (up to 7 total performances 

per year - must include Homecoming, 

Miracle on Bridge Street, Memorial Day, 

the Manawa Rodeo parade, and other 

community events) 

$75 per event 

Pep Band (up to 10 total performances per 

year) 
$30 per event 

Class Advisor LWHS/Sr. $300 

Class Advisor LWHS/Jr.  $300 

Class Advisor LWHS/S   $300 

Class Advisor LWHS/F  $300 

Class Advisor MMS $300 

 

Prom Advisors - 3 @ $150 each 

 

$450 

Event Chaperones - $25 per event 

(per principal advanced approval) 

$1,00025 per 

event 

FBLA/DECCA $3125 

Forensics Director /HS Head Coach $1,935 

Forensic MS Coach/Asst. Coach to HS as 

needed 
$1,255 

Debate Coach/High School $315 

NHS Director $315 

One-Act Play $315 

Play Director $1,000 

Musical Theater Production/Artistic 

Director 
$3,000 

Student Council HS - includes oversight of 

homecoming related events 
$625 

Student Council – MES ( would include 

any after school event) 
$250 

LWHS and MMS Yearbook (unless it is 

included as part of a Publications Class) 
$630 



 13 

MMS Yearbook $315 

 MES Yearbook $315 

Quiz Bowl $315 

Initial Educator Mentor 

$250 per 

assigned initial 

educatormentee 

 

*Positions may not be needed or filled due to participation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Officials Rates (CWC sets all Varsity rates) 

 

Sport 

Number 

of 

Officials 

Current Rate 

Baseball 2 $80 

Baseball - JV 
 $60 

(or additional $20 to retain Varsity officials for an extra-innings game) 

Basketball 3 $980 

Cross Country 2 $75 

Football – 11 person 5 $12070 

Football – 8 person 5 $130 

Soccer 3 $70 

Softball 2 $70 

Softball - JV 
 $60 

(or additional $20 to retain Varsity officials for an extra-innings game) 

Track 3 $100 

Volleyball - Dual 2 $10594 

Volleyball - Pool Play 2 $40 per match 

Wrestling 1 $80 

Wrestling – Double 

Dual 

1 $160 

Wrestling - Multi Dual 3 $175 

Wrestling - Conference 3 $200 

 

 

Game Worker Rates (as set by the SDM)* 

 

JOB LEVEL RATE 

ALL SPORTS - Security Varsity/JV $45 

 MS $35 

ALL SPORTS - Tickets All Levels $25 or Volunteer hours 

Formatted Table



 14 

Basketball - Book C Team/Freshman $20 

 Varsity $39 

Basketball - Book/Clock MS $30 

Basketball - Clock C Team/Freshman $20 

 Varsity $34 

Football - Chain Gang All $20 

Football - Clock JV $25 

 MS $40 

 Varsity $30 

Track- Computer All CONTRACTED at $250 

Track- event worker All $20 

Track- Flash Timer All CONTRACTED at $250$35 

Track- Hand Timer All $35$20 

Trainer All CONTRACTED at $300 

Volleyball - Book Freshman $12$15 

 Varsity, JV $36 

 MS $25 

Volleyball - Clock Freshman $15$12 

 Varsity, JV $35 

 MS $25 

Wrestling - Dual Book Varsity $27 

Wrestling - Dual Clock Varsity $27 

 

*Tournaments lasting more than four (4) hours will be paid at two (2) times the above rate 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix C 

 

Salary Advancement Reflection Cover Sheet  

  

  

  

Salary Advancement Candidate: 

Reflection Meeting Date: 

Points Confirmation:    

Recommendation (“Yes” or “Not Yet”):  

 If “not yet” is chosen, please explain with evidence why the candidate is not ready for a 

salary advancement. 

  
 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



 16 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Teacher Signature & Date:  

Principal Signature & Date:  

District Administrator Signature & Date of Receipt:   

Board of Education Decision:  

Appendix D 

 

School District of Manawa 

Professional Advancement Points Form 

 

Activity Date/ 

Time 

Point Value: 

Professional 

& Leadership 

Growth (at 

least 70%) 

Point Value: 

Connections & 

Community (up 

to 30%) 

Principal 

Endorsement 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     



 17 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

 

 


	00 2022-09-19 Regular Board Meeting Agenda 
	06 2022 Summer School Report 9_13_22
	08a i Minutes 2022-08-15 Regular Board Meeting
	08a ii 2022-08-18 Special Board Meeting Minutes
	08a iii 2022-08-24 Special Board Meeting Minutes
	08a iv 09-06-2022 Special Board of Education Meeting Minutes
	08b i BMO Credit Card Record of Purchases - July
	08b ii BMO Credit Card Record of Purchases - August
	08b iii Cash Receipts - August 2022
	08b iv Monthly Invoice listing August 12, 2022 - Sept. 15, 2022
	08d Special Education Paraprofessional Resignation 9-13-2022
	13a MES Highlights for Sept
	13b MS-HS Highlights 9_9_2022
	14a Business Office Highlights - September
	14b Kobussen August Report 2022
	15a District Reading Specialist Highlights for Sept
	15b Technology Director Highlights
	17b 08-31-2022 Finance Committee Meeting Minutes
	17c 2022-09-14 Buildings and Grounds Committee Minutes 
	17d 09-06-2022 P and HR Committee Meeting Notes
	19a i Means of Egress Code -Pages from 2018
	19a ii MES Room Schedule
	19a iii MES - CODE PLANS
	Sheets
	1-GI-101 - CODE PLAN


	19a iv MS-HS Room Schedule
	19a v MS-HS - CODE PLANS
	Sheets
	2-GI-101 - CODE PLANS


	19b National FFA Convention Overnight Trip Approval Request
	19c i Risk Management MES Playground Report September 2022
	19c ii CPSC Public Playground Safety Handbook
	19f Trane RTU-23 Exhaust Controls quote 08-24-2022
	19h Articulated English Classes
	19i i Special Olympics Young Athletes Program 
	19i ii Young-Athletes-Brochure
	19j i 2022-23 Revision Cover Sheet S&S Guide
	19j ii 2022-23 Salary and Stipend Guide working



